# University of Reading

**Agriculture Policy and Development** 



# Identification of Drought Tolerant Amenity Trees

Jonathan Michael Banks

Submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy September 2018

# Table of Contents

Fi	Figuresv			
Та	<sup>-</sup> ables viii			
D	Jeclarationix			
С	co-authors Declaration of authorshipix			
A	bstract		x	
Ρ	reface		xii	
A	cknow	ledgements	xiii	
1 General Introduction			1	
	1.1	Drought Stress and Urban Trees	1	
	1.2 Tree Selection			
	1.3	What is Drought Tolerance?	6	
	1.4	Plant Responses to Drought	7	
	1.4	.1 Mechanisms of plant death	10	
	1.4	.2 Drought Mitigation	11	
	1.4	.3 Drought vs desiccation	11	
	1.4	.4 Rehydration and recovery	12	
	1.5	Tolerance categorisation	13	
	1.6	Conclusion	15	
	1.7	Reference List	16	
2	Cor	ntinuous Excitation Chlorophyll Fluorescence Parameters: a review for practitioners	26	
	2.1	Introduction	26	
	2.2	Intermediate steps: OJIPSMT	28	
	2.3	Foundational parameters	31	
	2.3	1 Fluorescence Origin	33	
	2.4	Performance index	34	
	2.5	Future methods	37	
	2.6	Conclusion	38	
	2.7	Acknowledgements	39	
	2.8	Reference List	40	
3	Chl	orophyll Fluorescence as a Tool to Identify Drought Stress in Acer genotypes	44	
	3.1	Introduction	44	
	3.2	Materials and Methods	48	
	3.2	1 Plant material	48	
	3.2	.2 In vitro Desiccation	49	
3.2.3		.3 Relative water content	49	

	3.2.4	4 Vi	isual Index	50
3.2.5		5 So	pil moisture	50
3.2.6		5 Cł	hlorophyll fluorescence	50
	3.2.7	7 St	atistical Analysis	51
	3.3	Results	S	51
	3.4	Discuss	sion	58
	3.5	Conclu	sion	60
	3.6	Acknow	wledgements	60
	3.7	Refere	nce List	61
4 ps	Eval eudopl	uating atanus.	the Drought Tolerance of Cultivars Within Acer platanoides, campestre	and 66
	4.1	Introdu	uction	66
	4.2	Materi	als and Methods	68
	4.2.2	1 E×	perimental design and sampling	68
	4.2.2	2 Sc	pil moisture	71
	4.2.3	3 Cł	hlorophyll fluorescence	71
	4.2.4	4 Vi	isual Index (VI)	72
	4.2.5	5 St	atistical analysis	72
	4.3	Results	5	73
	4.3.1	1 Sc	pil Moisture	73
	4.3.2	2 Vi	isual index (VI)	74
	4.3.3	3 Cł	hlorophyll Fluorescence	74
	4.3.4	4 Su	ummary of Rankings	75
	4.4	Discuss	sion	76
	4.5	Conclu	sion	78
	4.6	Acknow	wledgements	78
	4.7	Refere	nce List	79
5	Alte	rnative	Methods of Estimating the Water Potential at the Turgor Loss Point:	82
	5.1	Introdu	uction	82
	5.2	Materi	als and Method	85
	5.2.1	1 Pl	ant material	85
	5.2.2	2 Sa	ample preparation	85
	5.2.3	3 Pr	ressure-Volume Curves	85
	5.2.4		irect Measurements	86
	5.2.5	5 St	atistical analysis	87
	5.3	Results	5	87
	5.4	Discuss	sion	88
	5.5	Conclu	ision	89

	5.6	Acknowledgements			
	5.7 Reference List				
6	Vari	Variations in Seasonal Drought Tolerance Rankings			
	6.1	1 Introduction			
	6.2	Materials and Methods	97		
	6.2.3	1 Plant Material	97		
	6.2.2	2 Whole Tree Drought Treatment			
	6.2.3	3 In Vitro Dehydration Treatment			
	6.2.4	4 Pressure-Volume Curves			
	6.2.5	5 Chlorophyll Fluorescence			
	6.2.0	.6 Relative water content			
	6.2.	7 Statistical Analysis			
	6.3	Results			
	6.4	Discussion			
	6.5	Conclusion			
	6.6	Acknowledgements			
	6.7	References			
7 Extraction and Quantification of Compounds with Potential to Characterise Drought To 109			rought Tolerance		
	7.1	Method			
	7.1.3	1 Plant Material			
	7.1.2	2 Chlorophyll Fluorescence			
	7.1.3	3 Extraction			
	7.1.4	.4 HPLC method			
	7.1.	5 Quantification			
	7.1.6	6 Statistical Analysis			
7.2 N		Method Development			
	7.3	Results			
	7.4	Discussion			
	7.5	Reference List			
8	Tech	hnical Challenges			
	8.1	Foliar Water Potential			
9	Con	nclusion			
9.1 Further works		Further works			
9.2		Reference List			

# Figures

- Figure 3.1 Relative water content (RWC) (%) plotted against time (days) for four selected species. n =
  15. Error bars show standard error. Linear regression expressed for all four species was y = 8.0701x + 86.733 R<sup>2</sup> = 0.808.
- Figure 3.2 Percent volumetric water content for droughted and control cultivars, 192 hours and 310 hours following irrigation removal. Error bars shows standard error, letters denote significant differences within cultivars (n = 5). -216 hours prior to drought initiation includes both droughted and watered groups it is included for comparison but omitted from statistical analysis (n = 2).

- Figure 4.4 Drought Factor Index (DFI) calculated using PI<sub>ABS</sub> per tree. Error bars show standard error (n = 5). Letters denote significant difference between cultivars at the 95% confidence interval..75

Figure 5.1 Representative Pressure-Volume curve. The square indicates the turgor loss point. ........86

Figure 7.5 Sample precipitation observed in samp	es during analysis. Found to be caused by the sample
concentration process	

- Figure 8.1 Example time series graphs, Fv/Fm and Pl<sup>ABS</sup>, from 2014 whole tree drought showing stochastic response to the imposed drought (day zero) in droughted (D) vs control (W) trees.

# Tables

Table	1.1 Data adapted from Roman and Scatena (2011) estimating percentage losses across a ten year life expectancy for trees within a study from Cleveland OH, USA by Sydnor et al. (2010). Data derived from linear regression analysis estimating annual survival rates
Table	1.2 Inconsistencies in reported drought tolerance for a range of Acer species. Data adapted from Sjöman et al. (2015 p860)
Table	2.1 showing basic extracted and technical parameters from which all JIP-test parameters are devised (Srivastava et al. 1997, Strasser et al. 2000, 2004, Hansatech Instruments 2006)32
Table	2.2 Clarification of parameters with many synonyms
Table	2.3 Performance index forms and calculation. $F_x$ may equal either $F_0$ or $F_M.$ (Strasser et al. 2004, Stirbet and Govindjee 2011)
Table	2.4 Fluorescence parameters available from continuous excitation fluorimeters
Table	3.1 utilisation of fluorescence parameters within drought stress studies. Arranged according to studies conclusion of suitability
Table	3.2 Rank correlation (Rs) between time for visual index to decline to 2 and CF parameters following 310 and 71 hours of drought and desiccation respectively. Light grey cells indicate values $\geq$ 0.5 and $\leq$ -0.6. Dark grey cells indicate values $\geq$ 0.8 and $\leq$ -0.8
Table	4.1 Available information on the species used within this study70
Table	4.2 Spearman's rank correlation coefficient matrix comparing results per tree for visual measurements against fluorescence data. Cells marked with <sup>*</sup> identify values >0.8, bold cells identify values >0.6, VI = visual index, T= time, DFI = drought factor index75
Table	6.1 Spearman's rank correlation coefficient interpretations (Weir 2018)
Table	6.2 Sumary of means including, time (hours) for 50% reduction in Fv/Fm and mean $\pi_{tlp}$ (MPa) for the Acer cultivars tested. Letters denote significant differences between cultivars at the 95% confidence interval
Table	6.3 Spearman's rank correlation coefficient matrix comparing the time for 50% Reduction in Fv/Fm between dehydration seasons, $\pi_{tlp}$ and a controlled drought event. All trials conducted

during the 2016 season with the exception of the autumn dehydration conducted in 2015. 102

# Declaration

I confirm that this is my own work and the use of all material from other sources has been fully acknowledged.

Jonathan Michael Banks

# Co-authors Declaration of authorship

The authors listed below confirm that Jonathan Banks was primarily responsible for the design, analysis and writing of each paper with which they are listed as co-authors. Co-authors provided supervisory and editorial assistance to the relevant papers.

Author:	Paper(s):	Signature:	
Glynn Percival	а, с	^	
		<	
Martin Lukac	а		
		1	
Gillian Rose	a, c		
		4	
Andrew Hirons	b		

a: Evaluating the Drought Tolerance of Cultivars Within Acer platanoides, campestre and pseudoplatanus.

b: Alternative Methods of Estimating the Water Potential at the Turgor Loss Point

c: Variations in Seasonal Drought Tolerance Rankings

### Abstract

According to climatic models, future drought conditions are expected to increase in severity and frequency. Drought is often cited as the most severe stressor of urban trees. It decreases planting survival rates and increases tree stress, resulting in increased susceptibility to biotic pathogens and reduced lifespan. Selecting trees for increased drought tolerance is thus critical for improving their performance within the urban environment. Drought tolerance is a highly desirable trait, particularly in urban areas where limited rooting space, interception of precipitation and urban heat islands accentuate drought stress. Current information on drought tolerance is imprecise, highly variable and, in some cases conflicting, with some studies reporting a tree species to be drought tolerant whilst other studies contradict this. In addition, cultivar-level tolerance is frequently not reported.

The purpose of this thesis is to assess the current state of amenity tree selection and suggest how the process could be improved by utilising quantitative in vitro and in vivo trials to evaluate genotypic drought tolerance. The drought tolerance of species and cultivars within the same genus is frequently inferred to be very similar, however, this is known to be untrue. Detailed evaluations of drought tolerance are therefore required in order to cover a wide range of species and cultivars.

Eight cultivars from *Acer platanoides, A. campestre* and *A. pseudoplatanus* were used in this study. The photosynthetic response to drought and desiccation was evaluated using chlorophyll fluorescence. Continuous excitation chlorophyll fluorescence parameters F0, PIABS and FV/FM, together with additional less often measured parameters, 1-Vi, Vj, T fm, Sm, V0(Bo) and M0, were used to compare whole-tree response to drought, with foliar dehydration. Double-normalised differential kinetics (Vt,  $\Delta$ Vt,  $\Delta$ Wo<sub>I</sub> and  $\Delta$ Wo<sub>K</sub>) were also utilised to evaluate the underlying reasons for parameter response. Whole-tree chlorophyll fluorescence response to drought was found to be similar to the response to foliage desiccation; however, some differences were observed in differential induction kinetics which require further study to elucidate. The parameters PIABS, Fo/Fm and V0(Bo) are recommended for identifying and monitoring drought stress.

In vitro methods (with potential to rapidly evaluate drought tolerance) were compared to whole tree methods. The methods tested include measurement of chlorophyll fluorescence during foliar dehydration and measurements of water potential at turgor loss point. The latter were undertaken using the classical, but time-consuming, pressure-volume curve method as well as more rapid, direct methods, calculating the turgor loss point from measurements of the water potential at full turgor via a previously devised regression equation. All methods were able to identify drought tolerance differences, with the exception of the pressure-volume curve method which was unable to identify

significant differences within species. Another advantage of rapid in vitro methods is that they facilitated the evaluation of drought tolerance variation by season. Relative tolerance ranking was shown to be consistent between summer and autumn but not spring.

This research demonstrates screening methods for tree drought tolerance which are especially relevant to tree selection in urban environments, where droughts occur during both spring and summer. There is considerable potential for tree selectors to save time and money if they have an increased ability to select trees that are fit for purpose. This research demonstrates that the estimation of water potential at turgor loss point, measured by consistent use of an osmometer or psychrometer, is sufficiently sensitive to correspond with findings from a controlled drought trial. Furthermore, this research also defines and identifies a number of reliable chlorophyll fluorescence parameters suitable for monitoring drought stress in vitro and in vivo.

# Preface

This PhD is presented as a thesis by publication; some papers have been published, some submitted for publication, while others are not intended for publication. The format for the central chapters therefore is as journal articles prepared for submission. The status of each chapter (published/accepted/submitted/not intended for publication) at the time of thesis submission, is indicated at the start of each one. Each chapter carries an introduction which expands on its specific purpose. The following general introduction is focused on introducing the motives for undertaking this research as a whole, as well as describing the context and literature of drought tolerance and tree selection.

## Acknowledgements

This PhD would not have been possible if it were not for the support and encouragement of my primary supervisor Dr. Glynn Percival, as well as the funding and employment provided by Bartlett Tree Experts during this project. I would also like to thank my supervisors Dr. Martin Lukac and Dr. Gillian Rose for their helpful comments on this manuscript. I would also like to thank Dr. John McKendrik, Nicholas Michael and Martin Reeves for time, effort and advice at the start of this project when I was learning how to use, problem-solve and fix HPLC machines and work out how to efficiently grind up leaves in their very clean analytical chemistry laboratory. Thanks, are also due to the editors and the anonymous reviewers involved in the published papers presented in this thesis and to Dr. Abdallah Oukarroum for advice and encouragement on the interpretation of V<sub>ip</sub>, L and K band fluorescence.

I would also like to thank sincerely:

Barcham Trees and especially Keith Sacre for agreeing to sacrifice the eighty semi-mature *Acer* trees used in the majority of experiments for this research.

Paul Davis and Hollie Matthews from Hansatech instruments for discussions and advice around the subject of chlorophyll fluorescence, fluorescing Sellotape, helping to correct our fluorimeters readings and attempting to correct my music knowledge.

Luke Hailey and Emma Schaffert for useful discussions, advice, humour, and countless hours spent fluorescing leaves together. In addition to Bartlett Research Lab summer students: Heidi Canning, Sean Graham, Sean Larkin, Chris Percival and Dan Percival.

David Lofthouse and Simon Holms who have provided their perspectives on the industry from their years of broad and varied experience.

My family for their patience, tireless efforts and support especially for their hard work while I was struggling through the school system. My family-in-law for inspiring me with your faith, love and energy.

Kerry Renshaw for time, support, encouragement and advice from my first year as an undergraduate till now; I am enormously grateful for the huge impact on my academic career and confidence in my writing.

Above all I would like to thank my wife Heather Banks for your continual support, love and encouragement.

## 1 General Introduction

### 1.1 Drought Stress and Urban Trees

Drought stress is one of the most common and significant disorders affecting not only crop production (Boyer 1982, Cattivelli et al. 2008, Farooq et al. 2012, Reis et al. 2014), but also tree establishment and growth, particularly in urban and amenity environments (Kaushal and Aussenac 1989, Aranda et al. 2012, Lopez et al. 2012). Drought stress occurs as a result of a low soil water content or availability in relation to the evapo-transpirative demands of the plant (Maccaferri et al. 2009). Drought stress has been shown to "affect almost every aspect of tree growth and development" (Hirons and Percival 2012 p58). Survival of newly planted urban trees is dependent on the availability of water and the ability of a genotype to survive with limited water supplies (Foster and Blaine 1978, Gilbertson and Bradshaw 1990, Ow et al. 2011). Drought resistance can display cross-resistance, where resistance to one stress can induce resistance to another (Taiz and Zeiger 1991). Because of this, the identification and categorisation of drought tolerant trees has potential to prove highly beneficial to those involved in urban tree selection, not only for drought management but also for wider putative abiotic stress tolerance.

Urban trees are particularly predisposed to significant stress factors (Gibbs and Palmer 1994, Fluckiger and Braun 1999), e.g. insufficient soil volume, density and texture, inappropriate pH, and low nutrient content (Jim 1998, Scharenbroch et al. 2017) (Figure 1.1). In addition, there is increased potential for pollutants such as hydrocarbons and de-icing salts to be introduced on the foliage or into the rooting zone (Zhiyanski et al. 2017, Ordóñez-Barona et al. 2018). Furthermore, trees in urban areas are more prone to drought, heat, shade and waterlogging stresses than their parkland, field or forest counterparts (Cregg 1995, Jim 1998, Sjöman and Nielsen 2010). These stresses can result in depressed growth rates, reduced vigour, induce premature decline and inflict additional burdens on tree management (Jim 1998, Vogt et al. 2015). While the focus of this research is drought stress, a single stress factor is rare in the urban environment. Therefore, awareness of the above-mentioned stresses, including synergistic effects, and their interactions with whole-tree stress tolerance is key to the effective management of healthy urban trees.

Wildly differing tree survival figures are reported in the literature (Roman and Scatena 2011). Roman and Scatena (2011) show an average of 63% survival after planting in urban landscapes (data adapted from 16 sources, time scale averages 16.4 years). Additionally, Hirons and Percival (2012), Foster and Blaine (1978) and McPherson and Kendall (2014) discuss survival rates of *ca*.30%. Complexities arise when using survival percentages, as the length of time statistics are collected for or inconsistency in

reporting can drastically change the resulting survival percentage. The commonly quoted life expectancy for street trees is ten years (Foster and Blaine 1978). Roman and Scatena (2011) however, suggest a revised life expectancy from nineteen to twenty-eight years. Genotypic variation however plays a crucial role (Boyer 1982, Sæbo et al. 2005); Table 1.1 demonstrates significant variation in genotypic survival rates.





Figure 1.1 Left: Acer campestre tree planted in the urban landscape growing in limited soil volume, displaying nutrient deficiency symptoms and epicormic growth, these symptoms are evidence of the stressful growing environment. Right: Acer rubrum displaying peripheral foliar necrosis indicative of drought stress (photo courtesy of Bruce Fraedrich, Bartlett Tree Experts).

Table 1.1 Data adapted from Roman and Scatena (2011) estimating percentage losses across a ten year life expectancy for trees within a study from Cleveland OH, USA by Sydnor et al. (2010). Data derived from linear regression analysis estimating annual survival rates.

Tree Species.	Estimated % loss of trees after 10	
	years	
Acer pseudoplatanus L.	29	
Acer rubrum L.	3	
Gleditsia triacanthos	3	
Liquidambar styraciflua L.	10	
Crataegus phaenopyrum Borkh.	98	

Many factors are involved in ensuring street tree survival, both prior to and after planting such as soil quality, texture, volume, plant quality, pre and post planting maintenance. Genus and species selection, as will later be discussed, is a highly influential factor. Despite this, in a quantitative analysis of 115 urban tree studies Roy et al. (2012) identified that only 12% of the studies assessed issues pertaining to tree selection. The purpose of this thesis is to contribute to broadening the knowledge

base available to those who select and plant trees in urban environments. This data is particularly important when selecting within a genus or species because these groups are currently often wrongly considered to be consistent in their drought tolerance (Sjöman et al. 2015).

### 1.2 Tree Selection

Amenity tree selection is performed by a wide spectrum of professionals, enthusiasts and amateurs with widely varying knowledge and experience. Urban tree selection, particularly street trees, is based upon existing local vegetation, size requirements, local context and personal preferences. Additionally, aesthetic traits such as crown architecture, leaf colour, shape, bark colour and texture, flowers, fruits and many others (Harris et al. 2004, Percival et al. 2006) have a significant influence on species choice (Percival and Hitchmough 1995, Pauleit et al. 2005, Vaz Monteiro et al. 2017). The complexity of tree selection criteria can be observed in Figure 1.2 (data property of Keith Sacre, Barcham Trees 2012). The conspicuous absence of drought tolerance within this graph is concerning; despite the wealth of information emphasising the benefits of selecting for abiotic stress tolerance (Pauleit et al. 2005, Sjöman and Nielsen 2010, Vaz Monteiro et al. 2017). Rahman et al. (2015) proposed that a lack of species specific physiological knowledge is inhibiting tree planting. A better understanding of drought tolerance is therefore expected to allow for more informed decisions leading to lower rates of tree death due to poor species selection.



Selection Criteria Reported by Local Authority Tree Officers

Figure 1.2 Responses of 158 Local Authority tree officers to the question "Which of the following factors are considered when selecting the tree species to be planted?" Data presented as percentage of responses. (Data adapted from Keith Sacre, Barcham Trees 2012).

Local borough councils in the UK are facing increasing budgetary cuts (Butler 2017), causing a reduction in the experience and skill levels of tree officers, a factor that is currently highly influential to appropriate tree selection (Hirons et al. 2017). Indeed, it is understood that in some cases the tree officer position is being merged with other positions within the council, leading to a loss of specialist skills and knowledge (David Lofthouse (London Borough of Merton) 2014, personal communication, 28<sup>th</sup> May). This is not only likely to lead to a reduction in the priority given to trees in the urban environment but a further reduction in appropriate selection of trees within this harsh urban environment.

Future climate models predict greater frequency and intensity of drought events (Allen et al. 2010, Schlaepfer et al. 2017). Additionally, the intensity and speed of drought initiation is predicted to intensify as a result of climate change (Trenberth et al. 2014). Significant predilection for drought tolerance during the tree selection process should therefore occur in all plantings, but particularly in urban areas where intensified climatic extremes occur (Levermore et al. 2018). Reduced mortality among street trees will putatively reduce required replanting and maintenance inputs (Percival et al. 2006), resulting in both monetary and environmental benefits. Increased preference for drought tolerance can be achieved in a number of ways: practical experience, selection for adaptive features and selection based on published tolerance lists. These three approaches will now be discussed.

Most tree officers use practical experience to facilitate appropriate tree selection (D. Lofthouse 2014, personal communication, 28<sup>th</sup> May); at present this is the most commonly used selection method and the most unreliable, because of inaccurate diagnosis and because of limited experience of genotypes. Occasionally, practical experience is evaluated using scientific methodology, such as work by Solfjeld and Hansen (2004) and Ow et al. (2011) however, these field-based studies generally focus on geographically localised areas and are resource and time consuming (Percival and Sheriffs 2002). Likewise, there is a danger that the information gained may become irrelevant by the time it reaches those involved in its practical application, because of factors such as climate change.

The adaptive features, such as leaf area, thickness, presence or absence of hairs and waxy surfaces are often thought to enable selection for drought tolerance (Blum 1996). However, this is not always the case (Teklehaimanot et al. 1998) and in most cases, little accurate information can be gleaned regarding comparisons between species from the same genera or cultivars. Additionally, information suggests that leaf thickness, leaf anatomical type and leaf area are less correlated with ecological conditions (irradiance and moisture supply) than structural parameters of the photosynthetic tissue (Ivanova 2014). This is also the case for tolerance to biotic organisms (Koch et al. 2016). Therefore, reliance on leaf anatomical type alone is not a viable option to facilitate appropriate tree selection for drought tolerance.

Tolerance lists such as those of Niinemets and Valladares (2006) and organisations such as the Royal Horticultural Society (RHS) have been compiled in the past (Brickell 1989). These categorise a range of genotypes which are known to tolerate and/or thrive in a particular environment; examples include windbreak plants, coastal plants and plants for pH specific soils (Brickell 1989). However, little information is given as to the sources of this data. Data is often categorised too broadly (e.g. very tolerant, tolerant, not tolerant), preventing detailed comparisons between other species or other genera with similar tolerance types. Sjöman et al. (2015) review a range of tree selection resources and demonstrate significant differences between the reported drought tolerance, for a range of *Acer* species (Table 1.2). Inconsistencies identified within the literature highlight the current difficulty of species selection for the urban environment.

Genotype	Reported Tolerance	Reference
Acer nigrum	Sensitive to heat and drought	(Hightshoe 1988)
	Heat and drought tolerant	(Dirr 2009)
Acer platanoides	Has moderate drought tolerance	(Gilman 1997)
	Drought tolerant	(Stoecklein 2001)
	Resists drought	(Beaulieu 2003)
	High demands of moist and cool growing conditions	(Almgren et al. 2003)
Acer pseudoplatanus	Dislikes excessive moisture and dryness	(Krüssmann 1986)
	Tolerates occasional periods of dry soil	(Bassuk et al. 2009)
	Very adaptable to soil types	(Dirr 2009)

Table 1.2 Inconsistencies in reported drought tolerance for a range of Acer species. Data adapted from Sjöman et al. (2015 p860)

The *Acer* genus was selected as a model genus. The *Acer* genus consists of 129 species of evergreen and deciduous trees and shrubs from Europe, North Africa, Asia and North and Central America (Shu 2008). Harris et al. (2004), Bell et al. (2005) and García et al. (2006) refer to the need of urban trees that provide colour, form, texture and pattern in the landscape (Figure 1.3). Species found within the *Acer* genus provide all these benefits, possessing good autumn colour, interesting and frequentlycoloured bark and leaves, as well as provision of shade. The influence of the wide diversity within the *Acer* genus on drought tolerance remains little known. Although, recent work by Sjöman et al. (2015) has elucidated the relative drought tolerance of 27 *Acer* genotypes, encompassing a wide range of species from around the world. The present study focuses on species which are currently widely available within the UK; as such, data is immediately applicable to those involved in selection within the UK, and other countries using a similar range of *Acers*.



Figure 1.3 Photo collage to show the diversity within Acer foliage colour and texture. Left to right: Acer palmatum, A. platanoides 'Drummondii', A. platanoides 'Spaethii', A. campestre 'Louisa Red Shine'.

### 1.3 What is Drought Tolerance?

Drought "tolerance" is widely discussed with reference to avoidance and escape strategies as well as to tolerance itself. Escape strategies (ephemeral plants) involve the rapid completion of a plant's life cycle before reproduction-limiting dehydration or desiccation occurs (Bayoumi et al. 2008). This strategy however only occurs in annual herbaceous plants (Kooyers 2015). Drought avoiding plants utilise methods of conserving or capturing water such as: waxy cuticles, water-containing stems, hairy leaves and stems, foliage shedding or investment into extensive root systems (Tyree et al. 1993, Augé et al. 2003, Mauseth 2011, Hirons and Thomas 2018). Extensive root growth and adaptive root morphology is arguably one of the most effective methods of drought avoidance (Manschadi et al. 2008); however, suitable water supply must be present to facilitate survival long enough for a plant to grow an extensive root system (Sharp and Davies 1985, Palta et al. 2007). Not all studies agree however, that a larger root system will provide drought tolerance; a balance point is reached, at which, lowered water-use efficiency (ratio of carbon gain to water loss) and the greater root : shoot ratio reduce any benefits attained from a larger root system (Palta et al. 2011). Additionally in urban areas, soil depth limitations, root pruning practices and human intolerance to leaf detachment reduce the efficacy of drought avoidance and escape strategies in urban plantings and thus the suitability of certain species (Sjöman et al. 2015). The final strategy is true drought tolerance. Tolerant plants employ physiological strategies to tolerate drought periods while maintaining function (McKeown and Summers 2010). A truly drought tolerant plant is able to maintain near-optimal growth during a period of drought (Mart et al. 2016). In response to drought a tolerant plant will adjust gene expression, mobilise or synthesise metabolites such as abscisic acid (ABA) or adjust cellular osmotic potential in order to survive a drought period (Umezawa et al. 2006). These strategies however, simply allow plants to be categorised according to survival/response mechanism and are unlikely to describe all

genotypes in all situations. For example, rapidly induced stress may cause a plant to exhibit a drought avoidance response e.g. to drop leaves quickly, even if in normal circumstances its strategy would be to tolerate the stress; in this example, near zero xylem hydraulic conductivity is likely to have caused complete defoliation, rather than a stage-by-stage tolerance response (Brodribb and Cochard 2009).

#### 1.4 Plant Responses to Drought

Drought is a highly complex stress influenced by a range of differing factors. Alcohols, sugars, proline, glycine, betaine, catalase, dehydrins, transcription factors, protein kinases and phosphatases are all known to be synthesised during drought stress (Akinci and Lösel 2012, Boaretto et al. 2014, Yoshida et al. 2014). The typical understanding of plant drought response involves stomatal closure, in response to de novo synthesis of ABA. Many researchers discuss however that ABA is produced in the roots and transported in the xylem stream as a signalling molecule translating soil moisture status to the stomata (Wilkinson and Davies 2002, Cameron et al. 2008). ABA is in fact synthesized in almost all chloroplast containing cells (Taiz and Zeiger 2015). More recently, whole leaf and guard cell synthesised ABA has also been discovered to play an important role regulating stomatal conductance, especially in response to rapid drought stress (Brodribb and McAdam 2013) or high vapour pressure deficits (Wilkinson and Davies 2002, Bauer et al. 2013) independent of xylem ABA flux (Georgopoulou and Milborrow 2012). At the mechanistic level it is widely accepted that ABA-induced stomatal closure involves a decrease in potassium (K), via K out channels, within guard cells, which flank the stoma, in turn, increasing guard cell osmotic potential and as a result of subsequent water-loss through osmosis lowering guard cell turgor, leading to stomatal closure (Wilkinson and Davies 2002, Kim et al. 2007). Cellulose microfibrils also play an important structural role in the regulation of guard cell expansion/contraction characteristics. Horizontal cellulose microfibrils prevent significant widening of guard cells, in addition to microfibrils, attachments at either end prevent increases in length, resulting in the bowing observed when stoma are open (Rui and Anderson 2016). Stomatal sensitivity is highly dependent on both exogenous and endogenous factors. Substrate potassium availability can have a significant influence on stomatal closure (Arquero et al. 2006). Calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) can also alter guard cell conductance and ABA sensitivity, however, this is dependent on the prior conditions of guard cells (Allen et al. 2002, Zhu et al. 2012). Indeed complexities within stomatal physiology have led investigators to state that it is "one of the most complex issues in plant physiology" (Cochard et al. 1996 p198) which has not been fully resolved to-date (Papacek et al. 2017). Extensive hormonal crosstalk (ABA, cytokinin, ethylene and auxin) has only recently begun to be elucidated (Rowe et al. 2016).

Stomatal closure acts to slow the transport and uptake of water. Drought is known to induce stomatal closure to a greater extent than can be attributed to root-sourced ABA alone, additional factors and non-ABA processes are therefore involved during periods of drought (Wilkinson and Davies 2002).

Leaf level ABA redistribution acts through alterations in pH gradients moving ABA from mesophyll chloroplasts into the apoplast (Taiz and Zeiger 1991, Wilkinson and Davies 2002). ABA may also inhibit root K uptake, increasing guard cell ABA sensitivity (Roberts and Snowman 2000, Wilkinson and Davies 2002). Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, prompted by reactive oxygen species (ROS) and mediated by Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels, promotes stomatal closure and limits opening (Zhu et al. 2012). Evidence also exists suggesting that cytokinins and auxins inhibit ABA-induced stomatal closure through modulation of ethylene synthesis (Tanaka et al. 2006), also known to inhibit ABA-induced stomatal closure (Tanaka et al. 2005, 2006). ABA is also only partly responsible for induction of stress-responsive genes. The ABA-independent dehydration-responsive element-binding proteins (DREBs) are important transcription factors that regulate stress inducible genes (Yoshida et al. 2014). Their expression is also induced by high salinity and heat shock (Reis et al. 2014). Transgenic over production of DREBs has resulted in significantly improved drought tolerance in sugarcane, maize, rice, tobacco, wheat and barley (Reis et al. 2014). Group II late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) proteins such as dehydrins (DHN) also play an important role accumulating in response to stressors which induce dehydration (drought, salinity, cold, heat etc.) (Hanin et al. 2011). Dehydrins stabilize hydrophobic domains of other proteins susceptible to dehydration (Ntuli 2012), acting to stabilize cellular and intracellular membranes (Hincha and Thalhammer 2012). As the name suggests, LEA proteins were originally discovered in developing seeds; however, they have since been discovered to accumulate in vegetative plant tissues (Hincha and Thalhammer 2012). Some potential exists for DHN to also confer pathogen resistance, however further work is necessary to elucidate this (Hanin et al. 2011).

Stomatal response strategies are not consistent between species. Two strategies are widely discussed, isohydric and anisohydric. Isohydric species maintain stable control over leaf water potential by reducing stomatal conductance during drought periods (Attia et al. 2015). Anisohydric species maintain stomatal conductance while leaf water potential is allowed to fluctuate (Nolan et al. 2017). Several compromises are, however, inherent in each strategy. Isohydric species are at risk of increased rates of photorespiration and carbohydrate depletion (Nolan et al. 2017) followed by increased susceptibility to biotic agents caused by a cascade of downstream effects (McDowell et al. 2008). Whereas, anisohydric species are at risk of xylem cavitation and concomitant loss of hydraulic conductivity (Nolan et al. 2017). Anisohydric species tend to tolerate better embolisms in comparison to isohydric species; however, they also have reduced quantities of stored carbon within the sapwood (Saiki et al. 2017) and may recover from drought stress more slowly (Attia et al. 2015). The isohydric species *Quercus petraea* (Martínez-Sancho et al. 2017) however, has been found to regulate stomatal aperture and thus sap flow in order to balance embolism vulnerability (Cochard et al. 1996). The

2014). Species variability has also been reported for hybrid poplar (Attia et al. 2015). No single strategy is widely accepted as resulting in superior tolerance (Sherrard and Maherali 2006). Important external factors, such as the speed and longevity of drought stress and internal, genotypic factors such as tolerance to oxidative stress, embolisms and ability to store and metabolise carbon, play important roles in the relative success of isohydric and anisohydric strategies. Stomata are important early indicators of abiotic stress; however, because of intra-specific response intricacies, characterisation of stomatal response strategies alone is not a viable selection criterion for drought tolerance.

Stomatal closure reduces water loss but causes a concomitant decrease in CO<sub>2</sub> influx, limiting photosynthesis and carbon fixation (Farooq et al. 2012). In C3 plants, photorespiration occurs when ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate (RuBP) carboxylase adds oxygen rather than CO<sub>2</sub> in the Calvin–Benson cycle, which occurs as a result of stomatal closure (Mauseth 2011). Photorespiration can theoretically reduce photosynthesis by 48%; however, other factors such as the activity of ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (Rubisco), temperature and CO<sub>2</sub> levels can significantly influence rates of photorespiration (Walker et al. 2016). Photorespiration also depletes nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (Walker et al. 2016). Reactive oxygen species (ROS) or reactive oxygen intermediates such as hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ), singlet oxygen  $({}^{1}O_{2})$ , superoxide radical  $(O_{2})$  and hydroxyl radical (HO) are produced as a result of photorespiration (Cruz De Carvalho 2008). When ROS accumulation occurs at damaging levels they must be detoxified by antioxidants (Abdallah et al. 2017) to prevent lipid peroxidation (Choudhury et al. 2017). Catalase, superoxide dismutase (SOD) and ascorbate peroxidase (APX) are the major ROS scavenger enzymes (Mittler 2002, Cruz De Carvalho 2008). SOD is often the first ROS scavenger, detoxifying superoxide radical into water and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> which then also needs to be detoxified (Mittler 2002, Cruz De Carvalho 2008).  $H_2O_2$  is converted into water and oxygen by catalase exclusively in peroxisomes (Chelikani et al. 2004) to prevent damage. However, many other antioxidants also detoxify  $H_2O_2$  (Mittler 2002). Even in normal growing conditions  $O_2^-$  and  $H_2O_2$  are synthesised at high rates, suggesting they are not exclusively a negative by-product (Larkindale and Knight 2002, Cruz De Carvalho 2008). Many ROS including H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> are in fact used as a signalling molecule altering drought resistance genes, antioxidant and metabolic activity (Niu and Liao 2016). They also facilitate biotic stress defence mechanisms (Cruz De Carvalho 2008) and programmed cell death (Mittler 2017). Both  $O_2^-$  and  $H_2O_2$  are also thought to be synthesised to prevent formation of the hydroxyl radical (Mittler 2002), the most potent antioxidant which can affect protein synthesis and create lesions in DNA (Bohnert and Jensen 1996). The signalling hormone ABA also plays an interactive role with ROS, modulating acclimation to abiotic stress and oxidative damage (Wang et al. 2015, Choudhury et al. 2017). ROS can influence the speed and efficacy of drought response (Mittler et al. 2011), in turn

influencing a genotypes drought tolerance; they represent an interesting and exciting target for future study; however, ROS are beyond the scope of this study.

### 1.4.1 Mechanisms of plant death

Long-term water stress has been widely hypothesized as leading to carbon starvation (McDowell et al. 2008), resulting in exhausted carbon stored in sapwood (Saiki et al. 2017). However, many complexities surround the carbon starvation hypothesis (McDowell and Sevanto 2010), notably that not all carbohydrates can be used or metabolised equally during periods of drought (Hartmann 2015). Indeed, phloem transport is a related cause of carbon starvation (Sevanto 2014). Technical difficulties are also prevalent when determining carbohydrate concentrations (Quentin et al. 2015). An additional cause of mortality is the loss of hydraulic conductivity (xylem embolism) (Saiki et al. 2017). Loss of hydraulic conductivity has been found to occur without carbon starvation in tropical rainforest (Rowland et al. 2015). McDowell et al. (2008) suggest that the speed of drought imposition and duration of stress dictates whether a plant will succumb to either carbon starvation or loss of hydraulic conductivity, or indeed both mortality mechanisms, as observed by Sevanto et al. (2014). Biotic agents can also amplify, or be amplified by the mortality process (Figure 1.4) (McDowell et al. 2008).



*Figure 1.4 Schematic adapted from McDowell et al. (2008). Describing the theoretical relationship between duration of water stress, the relative intensity of imposition and the mechanisms underlying mortality.* 

Non-structural carbohydrates, including soluble sugars are also involved in stomatal closure and guard cell sensitivity to ABA (Wilkinson and Davies 2002, Kelly et al. 2013) and have been seen to be highly influential in the drought survival of tropical tree seedlings (O'Brien et al. 2014). Non-structural carbohydrates have also been linked to the repair processes of xylem embolisms through aquaporin regulation and creation of osmotic gradients within embolised conduits (Salleo et al. 2009, McDowell 2011). Exogenous sugar applications have been shown to provide protective properties to the photosynthetic apparatus (Sulmon et al. 2004, 2007), as well as acting to mitigate damage with respect

to hypoxic and anoxic root systems (Huang 1997, Vartapetian and Jackson 1997), replant stress (Percival and Fraser 2005), heat tolerance (Robertson et al. 1994), salt tolerance (Al-Habsi and Percival 2006) and also to increase nitrogen fixation (Jones 1974, Owen 1980). However, Koch (1996) discusses how gene responses to changing carbohydrate status can vary markedly. Therefore, a link between a plant's survival of adverse conditions and the ability of a plant to acquire carbohydrates may exist; however, specific circumstances (e.g. species, carbohydrate availability, temperatures and rate of desiccation) need to be taken into account. This potential variation can be seen when comparing the response to exogenous sugar applications; Capellades et al. (1991) found a decrease in photosynthetic rates occurs, whereas Martinez-Trinidad et al. (2009) show no photosynthetic inhibition and Furbank et al. (1997) show significant increases in photosynthetic rates.

This introduction aims to present the need for an empirical drought tolerance ranking system. It does not attempt to provide an exhaustive physiological account of the drought response processes; reviews such as McDowell et al. (2008), Akinci and Lösel (2012), Aranda et al. (2012), Farooq et al. (2012) provide further detailed information on this subject.

#### 1.4.2 Drought Mitigation

Many researchers point out that plants cannot simply relocate themselves (Klee 2008, Haswell and Verslues 2015), in order to ensure survival and are therefore required to tolerate or avoid drought. Mitigation of drought stress can be achieved by plant species selection or management of current plant stock. As discussed, drought mitigation by plant selection is a result of the plant's dynamic internal and external processes mediated by endogenous systems which prevent lethal damage (Ramanjulu and Bartels 2002). Management strategies designed to combat drought most frequently involve irrigation; however, an application of landscape mulch is also an effective drought mitigation strategy (Chalker-Scott 2007, Percival et al. 2009) although Gilman and Grabosky (2004) dispute this for mulches placed over tree root balls. Techniques of irrigation adaptation such as regulated deficit irrigation and partial root drying have also been shown to increase drought resistance (Cameron et al. 2008). The application of plant protection products such as anti-transparents have also shown promise in reducing plant water loss (Cochran et al. 2013), as reduced foliar water loss putatively increases drought tolerance.

#### 1.4.3 Drought vs desiccation

A number of authors have raised fundamental differences between drought and desiccation tolerance. Desiccation is the loss of free or bulk protoplasmic water, leaving only water bound within the cellular matric (Ramanjulu and Bartels 2002). As Ntuli (2012) and Alpert (2005) explain, desiccation tolerance exists when a plant can withstand drying to equilibration with the air, more severe damage

is therefore caused when the air is dry (<50% RH). Drought tolerance "is survival of low environmental water availability while maintaining high internal water content" (Ntuli 2012 p29). A drought-tolerant plant may therefore, not be tolerant of desiccation. Dehydration is a less severe form of drying than desiccation. Dehydration tolerance may be more similar to drought tolerance than desiccation tolerance. The process of foliar dehydration is also less likely to counteract many drought tolerance adaptations (e.g. presence of hairs, foliar ABA redistribution, and structural foliage adaptations) and it may therefore be possible to consider them viable indicators of drought tolerance. Results of studies investigating leaf level dehydration have shown promise (Smillie and Hetherington 1983, Percival and Sheriffs 2002, Augé et al. 2003), and suggest that leaf dehydration correlates with whole plant drought tolerance (Percival and Sheriffs 2002). Ögren (1990) suggests a mechanistic difference between drought and rapid dehydration in willow leaves, but were unable to identify the mechanism within the scope of their study. Augé et al. (2003) point out that research, such as their own and those mentioned previously, misrepresents species which rely on dehydration avoidance strategies, such as species which send roots further and deeper or those with sensitive stomata. These species may be more able to retain water (dehydration avoidance) but incapable of enduring dehydration (dehydration tolerance). In vitro dehydration experiments are therefore expected to elucidate dehydration-tolerant species but not species which employ some avoidance strategies, such as leaf shedding or deep rooting strategies. In vitro dehydration experiments may therefore be of benefit when selecting for urban plantings in root limited environments.

#### 1.4.4 Rehydration and recovery

For a plant to recover following drought, rehydration and in some cases xylem structural repair must take place. Xylem cavitation occurs when negative xylem pressure results in air being introduced through the pores of the pit membrane (Venturas et al. 2015) and causes a concomitant reduction in water transport and carbon assimilation (De Baerdemaeker et al. 2017). The extent of damage is dependent on the severity of stress and vulnerability to damage, which is species specific. Some species limit drought-induced cavitation damage by actively altering water-use efficiency (ratio of carbon gain to water loss) through leaf abscission (Tyree et al. 1993), while others mobilize non-structural carbohydrates in order to lower vulnerability (De Baerdemaeker et al. 2017). Even in drought tolerant species, reinstatement or repair of the water column is essential following severe drought and is usually achieved by two mechanisms; refilling of embolized conduits and/or building-up new conduits (Vilagrosa et al. 2013). Building new conduits by seasonal replacement occurs in almost all plant species (Vilagrosa et al. 2013). When xylem is near atmospheric pressure, refilling of embolisms is achieved by spontaneous bubble dissolution (Klein et al. 2018), enabled by positive root pressure and/or capillary action following the cessation of drought stress (Alpert 2005). Root pressure

or capillary action are not, however, considered to be influential beyond three meters high and so this method of embolism repair is not thought to occur at greater heights (Alpert 2005). Active refilling must therefore occur at negative xylem pressures (relative to atmospheric pressure) and at heights greater than three metres. Great controversy, however, exists in the current understanding surrounding active refilling of embolised conduits. Most sources are in agreement that osmotic gradients are used to decrease the osmotic potential of an embolized conduit, in combination with local phloem unloading to parenchyma cells and ABA-induced upregulation of aquaporins and metabolization of carbohydrate and starch (Vilagrosa et al. 2013, Sperry and Love 2015, Klein et al. 2018). Rapid rehydration may occur as a result of significant osmotic adjustment, possibly leading to cell damage or rupture if cell rigidity or rehydration is not appropriately controlled (Patakas et al. 2002, Hessini et al. 2009). Therefore, cell wall thickening and changes in cellular elastic modulus (Bartlett, Scoffoni, and Sack 2012) are implemented during drought exposure to prevent drought-induced and rehydration-induced structural damage (John et al. 2018). A genotype's capacity to recover is an important factor determining survival, and has been associated with the drought tolerance of 89 species (John et al. 2018). However, selection based on recovery characteristics alone is unlikely to be broadly beneficial for selection criteria in urban areas, as the leaf losses and aesthetic damage associated with some recovery strategies are likely to be problematic.

#### 1.5 Tolerance categorisation

Since the development of agricultural and horticultural breeding, selection for specific traits is pervasive. In the amenity sector however, tree selection is primarily based on aesthetic qualities (Percival and Hitchmough 1995, Percival et al. 2006, Vaz Monteiro et al. 2017); few studies have assessed the impact of this aesthetic bias against stress tolerance (Percival et al. 2006). As Percival and Sheriffs (2002 p219) discuss the "selection of robust trees and shrubs that will survive into maturity" will reduce "replacement costs and give permanence to the landscape".

A number of experiments have assessed abiotic stress tolerance in vitro, based on excised leaves (Smillie and Hetherington 1983, Percival and Sheriffs 2002, Percival et al. 2003). Percival and Sheriffs (2002) and Faraloni et al. (2011) compared the impact of dehydration in vitro with drought in vivo, and their results identified a connection with leaf dehydration tolerance and whole-plant drought tolerance, following chlorophyll fluorescence measurements. Rong- Hua et al. (2006) suggest that classical methods of photosynthetic evaluation based on CO<sub>2</sub> and water exchange are not sufficient to determine the effect of water stress on photosynthesis without ambiguity. Percival and Sheriffs (2002) and Faraloni et al. (2011) identified chlorophyll fluorescence as a viable tool to rapidly screen and categorise species for drought tolerance. The advantages of this in vitro chlorophyll fluorescence method are two-fold, speed of categorisation (24 hours vs 70 days), coupled with the costs associated

with purchasing plant stock in order to carry out drought experiments. However, the disadvantages may also be potentially significant, as whole plant mechanisms such as rooting depth and structure, aquaporin density (Chaumont and Tyerman 2014), carbohydrate metabolism, and the presence and capacity of water storage organs are not accounted for in experiments which only utilise leaf chlorophyll fluorescence data. Despite these significant potential issues relating to the use of chlorophyll fluorescence, Percival and Sheriffs (2002) discuss its suitability with reference to wider studies assessing freezing, chilling, and heat stress tolerance as indicated by chlorophyll fluorescence measurements on excised leaves (Smillie and Hetherington 1983, Brennan and Jefferies 1990, Yamada et al. 1996, Hakam et al. 2000). Additional work successfully assessing drought tolerance using chlorophyll fluorescence data has been conducted using the excised leaves of olive (Faraloni et al. 2011) and barley (Rong- Hua et al. 2006).

Alternative, foliar based, drought tolerance identification measurements have been utilised more recently, the most prevalent of which are measurements of leaf water potential at the turgor loss point ( $\pi_{tlp}$ ) (Sack et al. 2003, Bartlett, Scoffoni, and Sack 2012). This measurement was originally derived from pressure-volume (P-V) curves which take significant time and attention to adequately produce; it is now, however, possible to calculate  $\pi_{tlp}$  from the osmotic potential at full turgor ( $\pi_0$ ) (Bartlett, Scoffoni, Ardy, et al. 2012), a rapidly determinable parameter when measured using osmometry. Estimating  $\pi_{tlp}$  by osmometry avoids the necessity for practitioners to visually determine the point at which the exponential portion of a P-V curve becomes linear, discussed critically by Jane and Green (1983). From a practical perspective, both methods have elements of potential inaccuracy; however, the osmometry approach reduces inconsistency in the estimation by use of a regression calculation which remains consistent between measurements. Benchmarks have recently been published using this technique within a wide range of genotypes, including wheat (Mart et al. 2016), *Acer* (Sjöman et al. 2015), *Magnolia* (Sjöman et al. 2018a) and an additional 45 tree species (Sjöman et al. 2018b).

Some caveats are important with all measurements of drought tolerance. As with almost any biological measurement, drought tolerance will vary within a genotypic range. Provenance (Teklehaimanot et al. 1998, Bauerle et al. 2003) and drought priming (Wang et al. 2015) are known to cause significant drought tolerance variation. Provenance is even known to alter foliar anthocyanin content (Chalker-Scott 2002). Plasticity in  $\pi_{tlp}$  is thought to be reduced following successive drought events (Bartlett et al. 2014). The degree of potential tolerance variation has, however, not been fully elucidated. It is therefore difficult to ascertain from evaluations of one population if measurements are truly reflective of the potential variation and range of drought tolerance of the genotype. Ascertaining the relevance of any drought tolerance ranking between different geographic regions

could therefore be considered problematic. Drought exposure history should therefore be maintained as a consistent factor within experimental plant material, resulting in consistent tolerance rankings between genotypes, and restoring the validity of measurement. This is true as long as relative tolerance rather than numeric values are considered, i.e. one genotype compared against another and rankings cross-calibrated against species-in-common.

The aim of this research is to:

- 1. Identify and quantify the drought tolerance within a range of *Acer* (maple) species and cultivars.
- 2. Evaluate a range of empirical in vitro categorisation methods to allow comparison within and between *Acer* species.
- 3. Quantify the level of drought tolerance to facilitate future comparison with other taxa.
- 4. Identify drought variation within and between species.

### 1.6 Conclusion

Plant responses to drought and drought tolerance strategies are well described; however, the tolerance implications of strategies and interrelations between them are poorly understood. Therefore, knowledge of tolerance strategies or morphological adaptations will not necessarily help to identify drought tolerant genotypes (Teklehaimanot et al. 1998). In urban areas it is widely assumed that drought tolerant genotypes will have superior health to their drought sensitive counterparts (Pauleit et al. 2005, Percival et al. 2006). Trees in good health are better able to provide greater benefits, especially important in urban areas (Nowak et al. 2002). These benefits include mitigation of the urban heat island effect, reduced storm water runoff, particulate filtration and carbon sequestration (Rogers et al. 2015). Drought and the intensity of drought is predicted to increase as a result of climate change (Allen et al. 2010, Trenberth et al. 2014, Schlaepfer et al. 2017). Use of an empirical drought tolerance benchmark therefore facilitates tree selectors in choosing species with drought tolerance, in drought-prone environments. However, several of the current resources tree selectors utilise are in disagreement with one another (Sjöman et al. 2015), and therefore a repeatable, defendable, tolerance measurement, which enables comparison against species-incommon, is superior to arbitrary tolerance categories such as "very tolerant", "somewhat tolerant", "sensitive".

### 1.7 Reference List

- Abdallah MB, Methenni K, Nouairi I, Zarrouk M, Youssef N Ben (2017) Drought priming improves subsequent more severe drought in a drought-sensitive cultivar of olive cv. Chétoui. Sci Hortic (Amsterdam) 221:43–52.
- Akinci Ş, Lösel DM (2012) Plant water-stress response mechanisms. Water Stress:300.
- Al-Habsi S, Percival GC (2006) Sucrose-induced tolerance to and recovery from deicing salt damage in containerized Ilex aquifolium L. and Quercus robur L. Arboric Urban For 32:277–285.
- Allen CD, Macalady AK, Chenchouni H, Bachelet D, McDowell N, Vennetier M, Kitzberger T, Rigling A, Breshears DD, Hogg EH (Ted., Gonzalez P, Fensham R, Zhang Z, Castro J, Demidova N, Lim JH, Allard G, Running SW, Semerci A, Cobb N (2010) A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. For Ecol Manage 259:660–684.
- Allen GJ, Murata Y, Chu SP, Nafisi M, Schroeder JI (2002) Hypersensitivity of abscisic acid-induced cytosolic calcium increases in the Arabidopsis farnesyltransferase mutant era1-2. Plant Cell 14:1649–1662.
- Almgren G, Jarnemo L, Rydberg D (2003) Våra ädla lövträd (Broadleaved Trees in Sweden), 1st edn. Skogsstyrelsen, Jönköping, Sweden.
- Alpert P (2005) The Limits and Frontiers of Desiccation-Tolerant Life. Integr Comp Biol 45:685–695.
- Aranda I, Gil-Pelegrín E, Gascó A, Guevara M a., Cano JF, De Miguel M, Ramírez-Valiente J a., Peguero-Pina JJ, Perdiguero P, Soto A, Cervera MT, Collada C (2012) Drought Response in Forest Trees: From the Species to the Gene Aroca R (ed). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Arquero O, Barranco D, Benlloch M (2006) Potassium starvation increases stomatal conductance in olive trees. HortScience 41:433–436.
- Attia Z, Domec JC, Oren R, Way DA, Moshelion M (2015) Growth and physiological responses of isohydric and anisohydric poplars to drought. J Exp Bot 66:4373–4381.
- Augé RM, Stodola AJW, Moore JL, Klingeman WE, Duan X (2003) Comparative dehydration tolerance of foliage of several ornamental crops. Sci Hortic (Amsterdam) 98:511–516.
- De Baerdemaeker NJF, Salomón RL, De Roo L, Steppe K (2017) Sugars from woody tissue photosynthesis reduce xylem vulnerability to cavitation. New Phytol 216:720–727.
- Bartlett MK, Scoffoni C, Ardy R, Zhang Y, Sun S, Cao K, Sack L (2012) Rapid determination of comparative drought tolerance traits: using an osmometer to predict turgor loss point. Methods Ecol Evol 3:880–888.
- Bartlett MK, Scoffoni C, Sack L (2012) The determinants of leaf turgor loss point and prediction of drought tolerance of species and biomes: A global meta-analysis. Ecol Lett 15:393–405.
- Bartlett MK, Zhang Y, Kreidler N, Sun S, Ardy R, Cao K, Sack L (2014) Global analysis of plasticity in turgor loss point, a key drought tolerance trait. Ecol Lett 17:1580–1590.
- Bassuk N, Curtis D, Marranca B, Neal B (2009) Recommended Urban Trees: Site Assessment and Tree Selection for Stress Tolerance. Urban Horticulture Institute, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY.
- Bauer H, Ache P, Lautner S, Fromm J, Hartung W, Al-Rasheid KAS, Sonnewald S, Sonnewald U, Kneitz S, Lachmann N, Mendel RR, Bittner F, Hetherington AM, Hedrich R (2013) The stomatal response to reduced relative humidity requires guard cell-autonomous ABA synthesis. Curr Biol 23:53–57.

Bauerle WL, Whitlow TH, Setter TL, Bauerle TL, Vermeylen FM (2003) Ecophysiology of Acer rubrum

seedlings from contrasting hydrologic habitats: Growth, gas exchange, tissue water relations, abscisic acid and carbon isotope discrimination. Tree Physiol 23:841–850.

- Bayoumi TY, Eid MH, Metwali EM (2008) Application of physiological and biochemical indices as a screening technique for drought tolerance in wheat genotypes. J Biotechnol 7:2341–2352.
- Beaulieu AH (2003) An Illustrated Guide to Maples. Timber Press, Portland, OR, USA.
- Bell S, Blom D, Rautamäki M, Castel-Branco C, Simson A, Olsen IA (2005) Design of Urban Forests. In: Konijnendijk C, Nilsson K, Randrup T, Schipperijn J (eds) Urban Forests and Trees. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 149–186.
- Blum A (1996) Crop responses to drought and the interpretation of adaptation. Plant Growth Regul 20:135–148.
- Boaretto LF, Carvalho G, Borgo L, Creste S, Landell MGA, Mazzafera P, Azevedo RA (2014) Water stress reveals differential antioxidant responses of tolerant and non-tolerant sugarcane genotypes. Plant Physiol Biochem 74:165–175.
- Bohnert HJ, Jensen RG (1996) Strategies for engineering water-stress tolerance in plants. Trends Biotechnol 14:89–97.
- Boyer JS (1982) Plant Productivity and Environment. Science (80-) 218:443–448.
- Brennan RM, Jefferies RA (1990) The use of chlorophyll fluorescence in assessment of low temperature hardiness in blackcurrant (Ribes nigrum L.). Ann Appl Biol 117:667–672.
- Brickell C (1989) The Royal Horticultural Society Gardeners' Encyclopedia of Plants and Flowers. Dorling Kindersley, London.
- Brodribb TJ, Cochard H (2009) Hydraulic Failure Defines the Recovery and Point of Death in Water-Stressed Conifers. Plant Physiol 149:575–584.
- Brodribb TJ, McAdam SAM (2013) Abscisic Acid Mediates a Divergence in the Drought Response of Two Conifers. Plant Physiol 162:1370–1377.
- Butler P (2017) Councils 'at breaking point' due to budget cuts and rising social care bills. Guard. https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/feb/10/councils-budget-cuts-social-care-bills (12 June 2018, date last accessed ).
- Cameron R, Harrison-Murray R, Fordham M, Wilkinson S, Davies W, Atkinson C, Else M (2008) Regulated irrigation of woody ornamentals to improve plant quality and precondition against drought stress. Ann Appl Biol 153:49–61.
- Capellades M, Lemeur R, Debergh P (1991) Effects of sucrose on starch accumulation and rate of photosynthesis in Rosa cultured in vitro. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult
- Cattivelli L, Rizza F, Badeck F-W, Mazzucotelli E, Mastrangelo AM, Francia E, Marè C, Tondelli A, Stanca AM (2008) Drought tolerance improvement in crop plants: An integrated view from breeding to genomics. F Crop Res 105:1–14.
- Chalker-Scott L (2002) Do anthocyanins function as osmoregulators in leaf tissues? Adv Bot Res 37:103–127.
- Chalker-Scott L (2007) Impact of mulches on landscape plants and the environment-a review. J Environ Hortic 25:239–249.
- Chaumont F, Tyerman SD (2014) Aquaporins: Highly Regulated Channels Controlling Plant Water Relations. Plant Physiol 164:1600–1618.

- Chelikani P, Fita I, Loewen PC (2004) Diversity of structures and properties among catalases. Cell Mol Life Sci 61:192–208.
- Choudhury FK, Rivero RM, Blumwald E, Mittler R (2017) Reactive oxygen species, abiotic stress and stress combination. Plant J 90:856–867.
- Cochard H, Bréda N, Granier A (1996) Whole tree hydraulic conductance and water loss regulation in Quercus during drought: evidence for stomatal control of embolism? Ann For Sci 53:197–206.
- Cochran DR, Harkess RL, Knight PR, Blythe EK, Tomaso-Peterson M (2013) Antitranspirant effects on water use efficiency in impatiens<sup>©</sup>. Acta Hortic:423–428.
- Cregg BM (1995) Plant moisture stress of green ash trees in contrasting urban sites. J Arboric 21:271–276.
- Cruz De Carvalho MH (2008) Drought stress and reactive oxygen species: Production, scavenging and signaling. Plant Signal Behav 3:156–165.
- Dirr M (2009) Manual of woody landscape plants: their identification, ornamental characteristics, culture, propagation and uses. Stipes Pub.
- Faraloni C, Cutino I, Petruccelli R, Leva AR, Lazzeri S, Torzillo G (2011) Chlorophyll fluorescence technique as a rapid tool for in vitro screening of olive cultivars (Olea europaea L.) tolerant to drought stress. Environ Exp Bot 73:49–56.
- Farooq M, Hussain M, Wahid A, Siddique KHM (2012) Drought stress in plants: An overview. In: Plant Responses to Drought Stress: From Morphological to Molecular Features. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 1–33.
- Fluckiger W, Braun S (1999) Stress factors of urban trees and their relevance for vigour and predisposition for parasite attacks. Acta Hortic 496:325–334.
- Foster RS, Blaine J (1978) Urban tree survival: trees in the sidewalk. J Arboric 4:14–17.
- Furbank RT, Pritchard J, Jenkins CLD (1997) Effects of Exogenous Sucrose Feeding on Photosynthesis in the C3 Plant Tobacco and the C4 Plant Flaveria bidentis. Aust J Plant Physiol 24:291.
- García L, Hernández J, Ayuga F (2006) Analysis of the materials and exterior texture of agro-industrial buildings: A photo-analytical approach to landscape integration. Landsc Urban Plan 74:110–124.
- Georgopoulou Z, Milborrow B V. (2012) Initiation of the synthesis of 'stress' ABA by (+)-[2H6]ABA infiltrated into leaves of Commelina communis. Physiol Plant 146:149–159.
- Gibbs JN, Palmer CA (1994) A survey of damage to roadside trees in london caused by the application of de-icing salt during the 1990/91 winter. Arboric J 18:321–343.
- Gilbertson P, Bradshaw AD (1990) The survival of newly planted trees in inner cities. Arboric J 14:287– 309.
- Gilman EF (1997) Trees for Urban and Suburban Landscapes. Delmar Publishers.
- Gilman EF, Grabosky J (2004) Mulch and planting depth affect live oak (Quercus virginiana Mill.) establishment. J Arboric 30:311–316.
- Hakam N, Khanizadeh S, DeEll JR, Richer C (2000) Assessing chilling tolerance in roses using chlorophyll fluorescence. HortScience 35:184–186.
- Hanin M, Brini F, Ebel C, Toda Y, Takeda S, Masmoudi K (2011) Plant dehydrins and stress tolerance: versatile proteins for complex mechanisms. Plant Signal Behav 6:1503–1509.

- Harris RW, Clark JR, Matheny NP (2004) Arboriculture: Integrated Management of Landscape Trees, Shrubs, and Vines. Prentice Hall.
- Hartmann H (2015) Carbon starvation during drought-induced tree mortality are we chasing a myth? J Plant Hydraul 2:005.
- Haswell ES, Verslues PE (2015) The ongoing search for the molecular basis of plant osmosensing. J Gen Physiol 145:389–394.
- Hessini K, Martínez JP, Gandour M, Albouchi A, Soltani A, Abdelly C (2009) Effect of water stress on growth, osmotic adjustment, cell wall elasticity and water-use efficiency in Spartina alterniflora. Environ Exp Bot 67:312–319.
- Hightshoe GL (1988) Native trees, shrubs, and vines for urban and rural America: a planting design manual for environmental designers. Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Hincha DK, Thalhammer A (2012) LEA proteins: IDPs with versatile functions in cellular dehydration tolerance: Figure 1. Biochem Soc Trans 40:1000–1003.
- Hirons AD, Elphinstone D, Puertolas J, Dodd I (2017) Tree Selection for Green Infrastructure. :4.
- Hirons AD, Percival GC (2012) Fundamentals of tree establishment: a review. Trees, People Built Environ:51–62.
- Hirons AD, Thomas PA (2018) Environmental Challenges for Trees. In: Applied Tree Biology. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester, UK, pp 351–389.
- Huang B (1997) Mechanisms of plant resistance to waterlogging Basra AS, Basra RK (eds). Amsterdam : Harwood Academic, c1997.
- Ivanova LA (2014) Adaptive features of leaf structure in plants of different ecological groups. Russ J Ecol 45:107–115.
- Jane GT, Green TGA (1983) Utilisation of pressure-volume techniques and non-linear least squares analysis to investigate site induced stresses in evergreen trees. Oecologia 57:380–390.
- Jim CY (1998) Physical and chemical properties of a Hong Kong roadside soil in relation to urban tree growth. Urban Ecosyst 2:171–181.
- John GP, Henry C, Sack L (2018) Leaf rehydration capacity: associations with other indices of drought tolerance and environment. Plant Cell Environ
- Jones K (1974) Nitrogen fixation in a salt marsh. J Ecol 62:553–565.
- Kaushal P, Aussenac G (1989) Transplanting shock in Corsican pine and Cedar of Atlas seedlings: Internal water deficits, growth and root regeneration. For Ecol Manage 27:29–40.
- Kelly G, Moshelion M, David-schwartz R, Halperin O, Wallach R, Attia Z, Belausov E (2013) Hexokinase mediates stomatal closure. :977–988.
- Kim D, Kim DJ, Lee JS (2007) Current theories for mechanism of stomatal opening : Influence of blue light ; mesophyll cells , and sucrose Current Theories for Mechanism of Stomatal Opening : Influence of Blue Light , Mesophyll Cells , and Sucrose.
- Klee H (2008) Plant biology: Hormones branch out. Nature 455:176–177.
- Klein T, Zeppel MJB, Anderegg WRL, Bloemen J, de Kauwe MG, Hudson P, Ruehr NK, Powell TL, von Arx G, Nardini A (2018) Xylem embolism refilling and resilience against drought-induced mortality in woody plants: processes and trade-offs. Ecol Res:1–17.

- Koch KE (1996) Carbohydrate-Modulated Gene Expression in Plants. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 47:509–540.
- Koch KG, Chapman K, Louis J, Heng-Moss T, Sarath G (2016) Plant Tolerance: A Unique Approach to Control Hemipteran Pests. Front Plant Sci 7:1–12.
- Kooyers NJ (2015) The evolution of drought escape and avoidance in natural herbaceous populations. Plant Sci 234:155–162.
- Krüssmann G (1986) Manual of cultivated broad-leaved trees & shrubs. Timber Press in cooperation with the American Horticultural Society.
- Larkindale J, Knight MR (2002) Protection against Heat Stress-Induced Oxidative Damage in Arabidopsis Involves Calcium, Abscisic Acid, Ethylene, and Salicylic Acid. Plant Physiol 128:682–695.
- Levermore G, Parkinson J, Lee K, Laycock P, Lindley S (2018) The increasing trend of the urban heat island intensity. Urban Clim 24:360–368.
- Lopez G, Hossein Behboudian M, Girona J, Marsal J (2012) Drought in deciduous fruit trees: Implications for yield and fruit quality. In: Plant Responses to Drought Stress: From Morphological to Molecular Features.pp 441–459.
- Maccaferri M, Sanguineti MC, Giuliani S, Tuberosa R (2009) Genomics of Tolerance to Abiotic Stress in the Triticeae. In: Muehlbauer GJ, Feuillet C (eds) Genetics and Genomics of the Triticeae. Springer US, New York, NY, pp 481–558.
- Manschadi AM, Hammer GL, Christopher JT, DeVoil P (2008) Genotypic variation in seedling root architectural traits and implications for drought adaptation in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Plant Soil 303:115–129.
- Mart KB, Veneklaas EJ, Bramley H (2016) Osmotic potential at full turgor: An easily measurable trait to help breeders select for drought tolerance in wheat. Plant Breed 135:279–285.
- Martínez-Sancho E, Dorado-Liñán I, Hacke UG, Seidel H, Menzel A (2017) Contrasting Hydraulic Architectures of Scots Pine and Sessile Oak at Their Southernmost Distribution Limits. Front Plant Sci 8:1–12.
- Martinez-Trinidad T, Watson WT, Arnold MA, Lombardini L (2009) Investigations of exogenous applications of carbohydrates on the growth and vitality of live oaks. Urban For Urban Green 8:41–48.
- Mauseth JD (2011) Botany: An Introduction to Plant Biology, 4th Editio. Jones & Bartlett.
- McDowell NG (2011) Mechanisms Linking Drought, Hydraulics, Carbon Metabolism, and Vegetation Mortality. Plant Physiol 155:1051–1059.
- McDowell N, Pockman WT, Allen CD, Breshears DD, Cobb N, Kolb T, Plaut J, Sperry J, West A, Williams DG, Yepez E a. (2008) Mechanisms of plant survival and mortality during drought: Why do some plants survive while others succumb to drought? New Phytol 178:719–739.
- McDowell N, Sevanto S (2010) The mechanisms of carbon starvation: how, when, or does it even occur at all? New Phytol:264–267.
- McKeown C, Summers E (eds) (2010) Collins Pocket English Dictionary. HarperCollins Publishers Limited.
- McPherson EG, Kendall A (2014) A life cycle carbon dioxide inventory of the Million Trees Los Angeles

program. Int J Life Cycle Assess:1653–1665.

- Meinzer FC, Woodruff DR, Marias DE, Mcculloh KA, Sevanto S (2014) Dynamics of leaf water relations components in co-occurring iso- and anisohydric conifer species. Plant Cell Environ 37:2577–2586.
- Mittler R (2002) Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends Plant Sci 7:405–410.
- Mittler R (2017) ROS Are Good. Trends Plant Sci 22:11–19.
- Mittler R, Vanderauwera S, Suzuki N, Miller G, Tognetti VB, Vandepoele K, Gollery M, Shulaev V, Van Breusegem F (2011) ROS signaling: The new wave? Trends Plant Sci 16:300–309.
- Niinemets Ü, Valladares F (2006) Tolerance to shade, drought, and waterlogging of temperate northern hemisphere trees and shrubs. Ecol Monogr 76:521–547.
- Niu L, Liao W (2016) Hydrogen Peroxide Signaling in Plant Development and Abiotic Responses: Crosstalk with Nitric Oxide and Calcium. Front Plant Sci 7:1–14.
- Nolan RH, Tarin T, Santini NS, McAdam SAM, Ruman R, Eamus D (2017) Differences in osmotic adjustment, foliar abscisic acid dynamics, and stomatal regulation between an isohydric and anisohydric woody angiosperm during drought. Plant Cell Environ 40:3122–3134.
- Nowak DJ, Crane DE, Dwyer JF (2002) Compensatory Value of Urban Trees in the United States. J Arboric 28:194–199.
- Ntuli TM (2012) Drought and Desiccation-Tolerance and Sensitivity in Plants.
- O'Brien MJ, Leuzinger S, Philipson CD, Tay J, Hector A (2014) Drought survival of tropical tree seedlings enhanced by non-structural carbohydrate levels. Nat Clim Chang 4:710–714.
- Ögren E (1990) Evaluation of chlorophyll fluorescence as a probe for drought stress in willow leaves. Plant Physiol 93:1280–1285.
- Ordóñez-Barona C, Sabetski V, Millward AA, Steenberg J (2018) De-icing salt contamination reduces urban tree performance in structural soil cells. Environ Pollut 234:562–571.
- Ow LF, Yeo TY, Sim EK (2011) Identification of drought-tolerant plants for roadside greening-An evaluation of chlorophyll fluorescence as an indicator to screen for drought tolerance. Urban For Urban Green 10:177–184.
- Owen DF (1980) How Plants May Benefit from the Animals That Eat Them. Oikos 35:230–235.
- Palta JA, Chen X, Milroy SP, Rebetzke GJ, Dreccer MF, Watt M (2011) Large root systems: Are they useful in adapting wheat to dry environments? Funct Plant Biol 38:347–354.
- Palta JA, Fillery IRP, Rebetzke GJ (2007) Restricted-tillering wheat does not lead to greater investment in roots and early nitrogen uptake. F Crop Res 104:52–59.
- Papacek M, Christmann A, Grill E (2017) Interaction network of ABA receptors in grey poplar. Plant J 92:199–210.
- Patakas A, Nikolaou N, Zioziou E, Radoglou K, Noitsakis B (2002) The role of organic solute and ion accumulation in osmotic adjustment in drought-stressed grape v ines. Plant Sci 163:361–367.
- Pauleit S, Jones N, Nyhuus S, Pirnat J, Salbitano F (2005) Urban Forest Resources in European Cities. In: Konijnendijk CC, Nilsson K, Randrup TB, Schipperijn J (eds) Urban Forests and Trees. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 1–520.
- Percival GC, Fraser GA (2005) Use of Sugars to Improve Root Growth and Increase Transplant Success

of Birch (Betula Pendula Roth.). :66–77.

- Percival GC, Fraser GA, Oxenham G (2003) Foliar Salt Tolerance of Acer Genotypes Using Chlorophyll Fluorescence. J Arboric 29:61–65.
- Percival GC, Gklavakis E, Noviss K (2009) Influence of Pure Mulches on Survival, Growth and Vitality of Containerized and Field Planted Trees. J Environ Hortic 27:200–206.
- Percival G, Hitchmough J (1995) Tree establishment and performance in a cool growing season arboretum. Arboric J
- Percival GC, Keary IP, Al-Habsi S (2006) An assessment of the drought tolerance of Fraxinus genotypes for urban landscape plantings. Urban For Urban Green 5:17–27.
- Percival GC, Sheriffs CN (2002) Identification of drought-tolerant woody perennials using chlorophyll fluorescence. J Arboric 28:215–223.
- Quentin AG, Pinkard EA, Ryan MG, Tissue DT, Baggett LS, Adams HD, Maillard P, Marchand J, Landhäusser SM, Lacointe A, Gibon Y, Anderegg WRL, Asao S, Atkin OK, Bonhomme M, Claye C, Chow PS, Clément-Vidal A, Davies NW, Dickman LT, Dumbur R, Ellsworth DS, Falk K, Galiano L, Grünzweig JM, Hartmann H, Hoch G, Hood S, Jones JE, Koike T, Kuhlmann I, Lloret F, Maestro M, Mansfield SD, Martínez-Vilalta J, Maucourt M, McDowell NG, Moing A, Muller B, Nebauer SG, Niinemets Ü, Palacio S, Piper F, Raveh E, Richter A, Rolland G, Rosas T, Joanis B Saint, Sala A, Smith RA, Sterck F, Stinziano JR, Tobias M, Unda F, Watanabe M, Way DA, Weerasinghe LK, Wild B, Wiley E, Woodruff DR (2015) Non-structural carbohydrates in woody plants compared among laboratories. Tree Physiol 35:1146–1165.
- Rahman MA, Armson D, Ennos AR (2015) A comparison of the growth and cooling effectiveness of five commonly planted urban tree species. Urban Ecosyst 18:371–389.

Ramanjulu S, Bartels D (2002) Drought- and desiccation-induced modulation of gene.

- Reis RR, Andrade Dias Brito da Cunha B, Martins PK, Martins MTB, Alekcevetch JC, Chalfun-Júnior A, Andrade AC, Ribeiro AP, Qin F, Mizoi J, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Nakashima K, Carvalho J de FC, de Sousa CAF, Nepomuceno AL, Kobayashi AK, Molinari HBC (2014) Induced over-expression of AtDREB2A CA improves drought tolerance in sugarcane. Plant Sci 221–222:59–68.
- Roberts SK, Snowman BN (2000) The effects of ABA on channel-mediated K + transport across higher plant roots. 51:1585–1594.
- Robertson a J, Ishikawa M, Gusta L V, MacKenzie SL (1994) Abscisic acid-induced heat tolerance in Bromus inermis Leyss cell-suspension cultures. Heat-stable, abscisic acid-responsive polypeptides in combination with sucrose confer enhanced thermostability. Plant Physiol 105:181–190.
- Rogers K, Sacre K, Goodenough J, Doick K (2015) Valuing London's Urban Forest: Results of the London i-Tree Eco Project. Treeconomics London.
- Roman LA, Scatena FN (2011) Street tree survival rates: Meta-analysis of previous studies and application to a field survey in Philadelphia, PA, USA. Urban For Urban Green 10:269–274.
- Rong- Hua L, Guo PG, Michael B, Stefania G, Salvatore C (2006) Evaluation of chlorophyll content and fluorescence parameters as indicators of drought tolerance in Barley. Agric Sci China 5:751–757.
- Rowe JH, Topping JF, Liu J, Lindsey K (2016) Abscisic acid regulates root growth under osmotic stress conditions via an interacting hormonal network with cytokinin , ethylene and auxin. :225–239.

Rowland L, da Costa ACL, Galbraith DR, Oliveira RS, Binks OJ, Oliveira AAR, Pullen AM, Doughty CE,

Metcalfe DB, Vasconcelos SS, Ferreira L V., Malhi Y, Grace J, Mencuccini M, Meir P (2015) Death from drought in tropical forests is triggered by hydraulics not carbon starvation. Nature 528:119–122.

- Roy S, Byrne J, Pickering C (2012) Urban Forestry & Urban Greening A systematic quantitative review of urban tree benefits, costs, and assessment methods across cities in different climatic zones. Urban For Urban Green 11:351–363.
- Rui Y, Anderson CT (2016) Functional analysis of cellulose and xyloglucan in the walls of stomatal guard cells of Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Physiol 170:1398–1419.
- Sack L, Cowan PD, Jaikumar N, Holbrook NM (2003) The 'hydrology' of leaves: co ordination of structure and function in temperate woody species. Plant, Cell Environ 26:1343–1356.
- Sæbo A, Borzan Ž, Ducatillion C, Hatzistathis A, Lagerström T, Supuka J, García-Valdecantos JL, Rego F, Van Slycken J (2005) The selection of plant materials for street trees, park trees and urban woodland. In: Urban Forests and Trees: A Reference Book.
- Saiki ST, Ishida A, Yoshimura K, Yazaki K (2017) Physiological mechanisms of drought-induced tree dieoff in relation to carbon, hydraulic and respiratory stress in a drought-tolerant woody plant. Sci Rep 7:1–7.
- Salleo S, Trifilò P, Esposito S, Nardini A, Lo Gullo MA (2009) Starch-to-sugar conversion in wood parenchyma of field-growing Laurus nobilis plants: a component of the signal pathway for embolism repair. Funct plant Biol FPB 36
- Scharenbroch BC, Carter D, Bialecki M, Fahey R, Scheberl L, Catania M, Roman LA, Bassuk N, Harper RW, Werner L, Siewert A, Miller S, Hutyra L, Raciti S (2017) A rapid urban site index for assessing the quality of street tree planting sites. Urban For Urban Green 27:279–286.
- Schlaepfer DR, Bradford JB, Lauenroth WK, Munson SM, Tietjen B, Hall SA, Wilson SD, Duniway MC, Jia G, Pyke DA, Lkhagva A, Jamiyansharav K (2017) Climate change reduces extent of temperate drylands and intensifies drought in deep soils. Nat Commun 8:1–9.
- Sevanto S (2014) Phloem transport and drought. J Exp Bot 65:1751–1759.
- Sevanto S, Mcdowell NG, Dickman LT, Pangle R, Pockman WT (2014) How do trees die? A test of the hydraulic failure and carbon starvation hypotheses. Plant, Cell Environ 37:153–161.
- Sharp RE, Davies WJ (1985) Root growth and water intake by maize plants in drying soil. J Exp Bot 36:1441–1456.
- Sherrard ME, Maherali H (2006) The adaptive significance of drought escape in Avena barbata, an annual grass. Evolution 60:2478–89.
- Shu F (2008) ACER Linnaeus, Sp. Pl. 2: 1054. 1753. Flora of China 11:516–553.
- Sjöman H, Hirons AD, Bassuk NL (2015) Urban forest resilience through tree selection-Variation in drought tolerance in Acer. Urban For Urban Green 14:858–865.
- Sjöman H, Hirons AD, Bassuk NL (2018a) Magnolias as urban trees a preliminary evaluation of drought tolerance in seven magnolia species. Arboric J:1–10.
- Sjöman H, Hirons AD, Bassuk NL (2018b) Improving confidence in tree species selection for challenging urban sites: a role for leaf turgor loss. Urban Ecosyst 21:1171–1188.
- Sjöman H, Nielsen AB (2010) Selecting trees for urban paved sites in Scandinavia A review of information on stress tolerance and its relation to the requirements of tree planners. Urban For
Urban Green 9:281–293.

- Smillie RM, Hetherington SE (1983) Stress tolerance and stress-induced injury in crop plants measured by chlorophyll fluorescence in vivo: chilling, freezing, ice cover, heat, and high light. Plant Physiol 72:1043–50.
- Solfjeld I, Hansen OB (2004) Post-transplant growth of five deciduous Nordic tree species as affected by transplanting date and root pruning. Urban For Urban Green 2:129–137.
- Sperry JS, Love DM (2015) What plant hydraulics can tell us about responses to climate-change droughts. New Phytol 207:14–27.
- Stoecklein MC (2001) The Complete Plant Selection Guide for Landscape Design. Purdue University Press.
- Sulmon C, Gouesbet G, Binet F, Martin-Laurent F, El Amrani A, Couée I (2007) Sucrose amendment enhances phytoaccumulation of the herbicide atrazine in Arabidopsis thaliana. Environ Pollut 145:507–15.
- Sulmon C, Gouesbet G, Couée I, Amrani A El (2004) Sugar-induced tolerance to atrazine in Arabidopsis seedlings: Interacting effects of atrazine and soluble sugars on psbA mRNA and D1 protein levels. Plant Sci 167:913–923.
- Sydnor D, Chatfield J, Todd D, Balser D, Extension OSU (2010) Street Tree Evaluation project. Ohio State Univ Ohio Dep Nat Resour:1–104.
- Taiz L, Zeiger E (1991) Plant physiology.
- Taiz L, Zeiger E (2015) Plant Physiology and Development Sinauer AD (ed), Sixth Edit. Sinauer Associates Inc., Sunderland, USA.
- Tanaka Y, Sano T, Tamaoki M, Nakajima N, Kondo N, Hasezawa S (2005) Ethylene inhibits abscisic acidinduced stomatal closure in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 138:2337–43.
- Tanaka Y, Sano T, Tamaoki M, Nakajima N, Kondo N, Hasezawa S (2006) Cytokinin and auxin inhibit abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure by enhancing ethylene production in Arabidopsis. J Exp Bot 57:2259–2266.
- Teklehaimanot Z, Lanek J, Tomlinson HF (1998) Provenance variation in morphology and leaflet anatomy of Parkia biglobosa and its relation to drought tolerance. Trees Struct Funct 13:96–102.
- Trenberth KE, Dai A, Van Der Schrier G, Jones PD, Barichivich J, Briffa KR, Sheffield J (2014) Global warming and changes in drought. Nat Clim Chang 4:17–22.
- Tyree MT, Cochard H, Cruiziat P, Sinclair B, Ameglio T (1993) Drought-Induced Leaf Shedding in Walnut: Evidence for Vulnerability Segmentation. Plant, Cell Environ 16:879–882.
- Umezawa T, Fujita M, Fujita Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (2006) Engineering drought tolerance in plants: discovering and tailoring genes to unlock the future. Curr Opin Biotechnol 17:113–122.
- Vartapetian BB, Jackson MB (1997) Plant Adaptations to Anaerobic Stress. Ann Bot 79:3–20.
- Vaz Monteiro M, Doick KJ, Lawrence V, Albertini A, Handley P (2017) Investigation into the drought tolerance of broadleaf street trees using chlorophyll fluorescence. Acta Hortic 1189
- Venturas MD, Mackinnon ED, Jacobsen AL, Pratt RB (2015) Excising stem samples underwater at native tension does not induce xylem cavitation. Plant, Cell Environ 38:1060–1068.

- Vilagrosa A, Chirino E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Barigah TS, Cochard H, Gil-Pelegrín E (2013) Xylem cavitation and embolism in plants living in water-limited ecosystems. In: Plant Responses to Drought Stress: From Morphological to Molecular Features.pp 63–109.
- Vogt JM, Watkins SL, Mincey SK, Patterson MS, Fischer BC (2015) Explaining planted-tree survival and growth in urban neighborhoods: A social-ecological approach to studying recently-planted trees in Indianapolis. Landsc Urban Plan 136:130–143.
- Walker BJ, VanLoocke A, Bernacchi CJ, Ort DR (2016) The Costs of Photorespiration to Food Production Now and in the Future. Annu Rev Plant Biol 67:107–129.
- Wang X, Vignjevic M, Liu F, Jacobsen S, Jiang D, Wollenweber B (2015) Drought priming at vegetative growth stages improves tolerance to drought and heat stresses occurring during grain filling in spring wheat. Plant Growth Regul 75:677–687.
- Wilkinson S, Davies WJ (2002) ABA-based chemical signalling : the co-ordination of responses to stress in plants. Plant, Cell Environ 25:195–210.
- Yamada M, Hidaka T, Fukamachi H (1996) Heat tolerance in leaves of tropical fruit crops as measured by chlorophyll fluorescence. 67:39–48.
- Yoshida T, Mogami J, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2014) ABA-dependent and ABA-independent signaling in response to osmotic stress in plants. Curr Opin Plant Biol 21:133–139.
- Zhiyanski M, Sokolovska M, Glushkova M, Vilhar U, Lozanova L (2017) Soil Quality. In: Pearlmutter D, Calfapietra C, Samson R, O'Brien L, Krajter Ostoić S, Sanesi G, del Amo R (eds) The Urban Forest: Cultivating Green Infrastructure for People and the Environment. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 49–58.
- Zhu M, Dai S, Chen S (2012) The stomata frontline of plant interaction with the environmentperspectives from hormone regulation. Front Biol (Beijing) 7:96–112.

# 2 Continuous Excitation Chlorophyll Fluorescence Parameters: a review for practitioners

Jonathan Michael Banks<sup>1, 2, 3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The University of Reading, School of Agriculture Policy and Development, Reading, Berkshire, RG6 6AR UK; <sup>2</sup> Bartlett Tree Experts, Research Laboratory (UK) Reading, Berkshire, RG2 9AF, UK; <sup>3</sup> Corresponding author: J

Received November 21, 2016; accepted May 17, 2017; handling Editor Danielle Way

**Abstract**: This review introduces, defines and critically reviews a number of chlorophyll fluorescence parameters with specific reference to those derived from continuous excitation chlorophyll fluorescence. A number of common issues and criticisms are addressed. The parameters fluorescence origin ( $F_0$ ) and the performance indexes (PI) are discussed as examples. This review attempts to unify definitions for the wide range of parameters available for measuring plant vitality, facilitating their calculation and use.

**Keywords:** chlorophyll fluorescence, photosynthesis, fluorescence origin, performance index, continuous excitation, fluorescence induction kinetics.

## 2.1 Introduction

Chlorophyll *a* fluorescence (CF) is one of three fates of light, following interception by a leaf (and other photosynthetic organs). Alternative fates of light following interception are dissipation (i.e. heat or non-photochemical quenching) and photosynthesis (photochemistry) (Roháček and Barták 1999, Maxwell and Johnson 2000). Importantly, these fates are linked; a change in one results in a change in the another two (Maxwell and Johnson 2000); it is this phenomenon which allows measurements of CF to be particularly useful to practitioners. Chlorophyll fluorescence measurements provide information on the status and function of photosystem II (PSII) reaction centres and antenna on the donor (P680) and acceptor (pheophytin) sides (Kalaji et al. 2016). While this information may seem highly specialist it has been used to measure and in some cases categorise a range of stresses impacting the photosynthetic processes (Mohammed et al. 2003). It has been used extensively to identify stress and stress responses in plants (Baker and Rosenqvist 2004), algae (Kodru et al. 2015) and other photosynthesising organs (DeEll and Toivonen 2003). A number of researchers have

identified highly suitable CF measurement parameters for specific plant stresses. However, as suggested by Lazár (2015) the high number of parameters available from CF is likely to confuse researchers. The inconsistency and haphazard method by which some parameters are defined and referred to within the literature provides further difficulties for researchers (Baker and Rosenqvist 2004). Parameters are often disconnected from their calculable foundations, in some cases making interpretation difficult and/or preventing the utilisation of these parameters. The aim of this paper is to define and outline CF parameters used within a wide range of studies; however, first we must introduce the physiological basis behind the measurement itself.

Chlorophyll *a* fluorescence is a form of photoprotective energy dissipation, when a very small amount of excess light energy (usually about 1-2% of total absorbed light), absorbed by chlorophyll molecules, is reemitted as light (Maxwell and Johnson 2000). The widely discussed and generally accepted physiological basis of chlorophyll a fluorescence is known as the Q<sub>A</sub> model (Schansker et al. 2014). The  $Q_A$  model explains the fluorescence rise from minimum ( $F_0$ ) to maximum ( $F_M$ ) fluorescence, occurring within 200-300ms following dark to light exposure of photosynthetic material. Chlorophyll fluorescence was originally discovered visually by Kautsky & Hirsch (1931) and is now widely described as the Kautsky effect. However, it was not until Duysens & Sweers (1963) that the Q<sub>A</sub> model was first proposed. The fluoresence rise from  $F_0$  to  $F_M$  indicates the reduction of the PSII downstream acceptor quencher, plastoquinone, primarily Q<sub>A</sub> (Stirbet and Govindjee 2011, Schansker et al. 2014). Q<sub>A</sub> is unable to accept more than one electron from PSII therefore it must first pass on the electron to the subsequent two electron carrier Q<sub>B</sub> (Figure 2.1). The resulting delay causes the reaction centres to be in what is known as a "closed state" reducing the efficiency of photochemistry and subsequently increasing photoprotective energy dissipation, resulting in both an increase in fluorescence yield and non-photochemical dissipation (i.e. heat) (Maxwell and Johnson 2000). Importantly the rate and relative magnitude of the fluorescence yield increase is reflective of PSII efficiency. The QA model makes a number of assumptions: 1.) that the PSII unit is homogeneous, 2.) that the physiological state remains the same during the measurement from  $F_0$  to  $F_M$  (rate constant) and 3.) that the rise from  $F_0$ to F<sub>M</sub> reflects the reduction of Q<sub>A</sub> (to Q<sub>A</sub><sup>-</sup>); i.e. at F<sub>M</sub> all Q<sub>A</sub> molecules are completely reduced (Stirbet and Govindjee 2011, Schansker et al. 2014). Additionally during measurements made at room temperature the contribution of photosystem I (PSI) is considered to be constant and very low (Stirbet and Govindjee 2011).



Figure 2.1 Z scheme showing the energetics of oxygenic photosynthetic electron transport from (Govindjee et al. 2010)

# 2.2 Intermediate steps: OJIPSMT

When viewed on a logarithmic scale a fast polyphasic response (widely known as OJIP, Figure 2.2) is observed, with intermediary steps labelled  $F_J$  and  $F_I$ . The  $F_0$  to  $F_J$  stage is known as the photochemical phase (or single turnover phase (Strasser et al. 2004, Bussotti et al. 2011)) and is influenced by the intensity of the exiting light;  $F_J$  to  $F_I$  and  $F_I$  to  $F_P$  are known as the thermal phases (Stirbet and Govindjee 2011, Schansker et al. 2014). The  $Q_A$  model, although the "most credible interpretation" (Stirbet & Govindjee 2012 p47) does not fully elucidate the cause of these intermediary steps in the fast fluorescence rise, multiple interpretations exist (see table 1 in Stirbet & Govindjee (2012) and Schansker et al. (2014)). Other processes have been proposed during the fast induction kinetics besides  $Q_A$  quenching (see Stirbet & Govindjee (2011) for more information) however currently it is still accepted generally that  $Q_A$  photoreduction is the primary cause of fluorescence yield change from  $F_0$  to  $F_M$ . The thermal phase (JIP) is known to be influenced in some part by PSI activity (Ceppi et al. 2012), however, this contribution is ignored when measuring at room temperature and at wavelengths below 700nm (Murchie and Lawson 2013). Despite this Oukarroum et al. (2009) determines that relative loss of the I-P phase ( $\Delta V_{IP}$ ) is reflective of PSI in varieties of drought stressed barley and chickpea.



Figure 2.2 typical O(L)(K)JIP transient adapted from Kalaji et al. (2014) On the left hand y axis, the unnormalized F scale associated with the complementary "Area" and on the right y axis, the V scale double normalized between O and P associated with the normalized area Sm

Following the rapid OJIP rise, the fluoresence level begins to reduce (decay) across the course of a number of minutes. This is called SMT; where: S = Semi-steady state, M = maximum, and T = terminal steady state. This slow phase is termed fluorescence quenching and is thought to be caused by two quenching mechanisms (Stirbet and Govindjee 2011). First, photochemical quenching is achieved by an increase in the efficiency of electron transportation away from PSII due to light induced activation of a number of enzymes involved in carbon metabolism and stomatal opening. Second, none-photochemical quenching, where energy is converted to heat (Maxwell and Johnson 2000).

Two main types of chlorophyll fluorimeters are available, pulse amplitude modulated (PAM) and continuous excitation fluorimeters (CEF). This paper will focus on CEF which may represent greater suitability for use by practitioners owing to their relative lower cost, speed of sample throughput and simplicity of use. PAM fluorimeters do however have the potential to provide specialists with more information pertinent to those involved in physiological research. Other measurements of chlorophyll fluorescence such as passive, laser-induced, solar induced, multi-signal and delayed fluorescence are not covered in any detail in this review, although some overlap in parameters and calculation may exist.

PAM fluorimeters are perhaps the most widely used fluorimeters within research studies (Roháček and Barták 1999, Lazár 2015); they are also the subject of a number of excellent reviews for practitioners (Maxwell and Johnson 2000, Baker and Rosenqvist 2004) and will therefore only be introduced briefly here. PAM fluorimeters will in most cases measure the fast (up to 1s) chlorophyll fluorescence induction kinetics (FIKs), slow fluorescence decrease and steady state fluorescence; additionally, most instruments are capable of measuring dark and light adapted samples (Roháček and

Barták 1999, Lazár 2015). PAM fluorimeters get their name from the pulse of light which comprises one of the three sources of light used during the PAM measurements. These are, far-red, continuous and pulse light. Far-red light is used to oxidize the electron transport chain (ETC) (Lazár 2015). Actinic and saturating light (this can be white, red or blue light) is used to drive photosynthesis, whereas the pulse light is used to measure photosynthesis (Lazár 2015). "Amplitude" comes from the method the PAM fluorimeter uses to derive the output, which is the difference between the signal during and after the pulse light (Lazár 2015). This, importantly allows PAM fluorimeters to measure under natural lighting conditions. Many of what might be considered the fundamental parameters of PAM fluorometry also overlap with CEF.

Continuous excitation fluorimeters measure ultra-fast high resolution FIKs that occur in less than one second (Kalaji et al. 2016). Techniques have been applied to take advantage of the high data acquisition capabilities of these devices, thereby expanding the range, complexity and potential suitability and specificity of subsequent parameters. The JIP-test (Strasser et al. 2000) is perhaps the most widely cited within research studies. Additionally, there are lesser utilised calculations such as the estimation of  $Q_B$  and non- $Q_B$ -reducing reaction centres by using the "double tap" method (Strasser et al. 2004, Mathur et al. 2011) or the V<sub>oj300</sub> parameter used to indicate a "K" peak, commonly associated with heat stress (Desotgiu et al. 2012). It is important to note the huge step forward in the suitability of this method which occurred following the development of JIP-test parameters; reviews such as Maxwell & Johnson (2000) occurred prior to this and references to continuous excitation measurements are now out of date. It is however important to be aware that CEF are currently unable to provide parameters capable of measuring under background illumination; resulting in an inability to provide measurements of photochemical and non-photochemical quenching (Maxwell and Johnson 2000). Additionally, some parameters, claiming to provide detailed information of PSII activity, antenna size and electron transport have gained criticism (Murchie and Lawson 2013). Despite the criticism Murchie & Lawson (2013) acknowledge that the technique is highly valuable for crop phenotyping and stress detection. With correct data normalisation and, if necessary, corroboration of data with supplimentary methods of vitality assessment, highly robust measurements can still be attained. Additional empirical support is however welcomed to facilitate further meaningful interpretation of some parameters. However, clear parameter definition to a foundational fluorescence basis is essential in order to facilitate additional research.

It is common for practitioners to attempt to use CF measurements to suggest specific impacts on the whole organism and put measurements into context. This is commonly desired in research studies where PAM fluorimeters are commonplace. The PAM parameters, photochemical efficiency ( $F_{q'}/F_{M'}$  =

 $(F_M'-F')/F_M)$  and electron transport ( $\phi$ PSII x irradiance) have been found to correlate with the rate of CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation in controlled conditions (Maxwell and Johnson 2000, Govindjee 2004, Murchie and Lawson 2013). However, in field conditions (in C<sub>3</sub> plants) this is unlikely to be the case as the multitude of potential stressors (primarily: photoinhibition, stomatal closure, temperature, and the Mehler reaction) will alter this relationship (Maxwell and Johnson 2000, Murchie and Lawson 2013). Although CF is a valuable tool, it cannot currently replace direct measurements of photosynthetic rates if these measurements are required. It may be necessary to connect measurements of CF with additional measurements in order to build a whole picture of the photosynthetic system. This is therefore commonly undertaken in order to further elucidate the extent and type of damage or adaptations within the photosynthetic system (Percival and Sheriffs 2002, Smethurst and Shabala 2003, Guo et al. 2005, Murchie and Lawson 2013). Recent developments in infra-red gas analysers (IRGA) have included the capacity to take readings of CF in parallel with gas exchange measurements for this reason (Li-COR 2017).

The widespread, almost ubiquitous inclusion of CF measurements into screening and physiological studies has led many authors to point out the complex theoretical background to this practically simple technique. Chlorophyll fluorescence is typically reviewed from a biophysicist's or molecular plant physiologist's point of view compounding difficulties interpreting data (Maxwell and Johnson 2000). It is for this reason that information sharing and clear explanation is critical to facilitate understanding among researchers and practitioners.

#### 2.3 Foundational parameters

The foundational basis for all FIK parameters (utilising a single flash [often 1 second], most common among studies) involves four steps: 0, J, I and P. These can also be described in a time format: 0µs 2ms (J), 30ms (I) and max (M, or P is used if full saturation is not achieved). "F" precedes letters or time points to denote fluorescence stages. Additional parameters used by the JIP-test includes 150µs (L step), 300µs (K step), 60ms, time to maximal fluorescence (Tfm, also widely called Tf(max)) and the area above the fluorescence curve (Area or  $A_{MAX}$ ) (Strasser et al. 2000). However, 150µs and 60ms are not used in any parameter subsequent to Strasser et al. (2000) (see Strasser et al. (2004)). One additional parameter which is worth including here because of its pervasive nature is variable fluorescence or  $F_V$  ( $F_V = F_{M}$ - $F_0$ ). OJIP transients are occasionally referred to, including the L and K steps also (OLKJIP) however L and K peaks have been shown to only respond to specific stressors (Oukarroum, El Madidi, et al. 2016). *Table 2.1 showing basic extracted and technical parameters from which all JIP-test parameters are devised* (Srivastava et al. 1997, Strasser et al. 2000, 2004, Hansatech Instruments 2006)

Parameter	Synonym	Description
Fo	F <sub>50µs</sub> , F <sub>0</sub> , ≈ABS/CS <sub>0</sub>	$F_0$ is the level of fluorescence emission when all the primary quinone acceptors (Q <sub>A</sub> ) are in the oxidized or open state. Current Hansatech devices extrapolate from points 16-4 to point zero alternatively 50 $\mu$ seconds is used (Hansatech Instruments 2006, Lazár 2006). ( $\approx$ Minimum absorption flux). "An increase in Fo has been attributed to the physical separation of the PS II reaction centers from their associated pigment antennae resulting in blocked energy transfer to PS II traps" (Srivastava et al. 1997 p97)
FL	F2, F <sub>100μs</sub> , F <sub>150μs</sub>	Position of L step (either 100µs or 150µs are used) (Oukarroum et al. 2007).
Fκ	F3, K peak, F <sub>300µs</sub>	Position of K peak (300µs). This peak occurs in response to heat stress.
Fj	F4, F <sub>2ms</sub>	Position of J step (2ms).
Fi	F5, F <sub>30ms</sub>	Fluorescence intensity of I step (at 30ms).
F <sub>m</sub>	≈ ABS/CS <sub>M</sub>	Maximal fluorescence, where all reaction centres are closed. ( $\approx$ Maximum absorption flux)
F <sub>ρ</sub>	Peak fluorescence	$F_P$ is used in place of $F_M$ to differentiate when light levels are not at fully saturating intensities. This value is more commonly used with older devices that are not capable of reaching Fm.
F <sub>v</sub>	F <sub>M</sub> -F <sub>0</sub>	Variable fluorescence (F <sub>M</sub> -F <sub>0</sub> ).
Tfm	T <sub>Fmax</sub>	Time to maximal fluorescence.
Area	A <sub>MAX</sub>	Area above the fluorescence curve.

Unfortunately, many differing descriptors exist to identify a number of commonly used parameters, all of which are fundamentally based on those listed above. It is for this reason that clarity is required, authors should be mindful to cite the fundamental bases of parameters in order to facilitate an understanding of those replicating or comparing articles. In most cases the literature does not clarify if differing descriptors serve a particular function. A lack of clarity here results in potential uncertainty within research studies. Numerous, apparently identical descriptors are encountered with the parameters  $F_V/F_M$ ,  $M_0$  and 1-V<sub>J</sub> see Table 2.2.

Table 2.2 Clarification of parameters with many synonyms

Parameter	Synonyms	Source
F <sub>V</sub> /F <sub>M</sub>	φPo, TRo/ABS, ΦPSII/qP, J0TR/JABS 1-F0/FM, ( $φ$ <sub>Fm</sub> - $φ$ <sub>F0</sub> )/ $φ$ <sub>Fm</sub> ,	(Maxwell and Johnson 2000, Rosenqvist and Kooten 2003, Hansatech Instruments 2006, Stirbet and Govindjee 2011)
M <sub>0</sub>	$dV/dt_{0},$ $(\Delta V/\Delta t)_{0}$ and $V_{300\mu s}/250\mu s$	(Tsimilli-Michael et al. 2000, Strasser et al. 2004)
1-V <sub>J</sub>	J-Phase, ETo/TRO, $\Psi_{ET20}$ and $\Psi_{EO}$	(Stirbet and Govindjee 2011, Desotgiu et al. 2012)

## 2.3.1 Fluorescence Origin

Differing maximum fluorescence intensities are distinguished in the form of saturating maximum ( $F_{M}$ ) and non-saturating maximum/peak fluorescence ( $F_p$ ); however, no distinguishing notation exists to identify if F<sub>0</sub> is calculated using a regression model to predict so called true F<sub>0</sub>, or if 50µs is used (Hansatech Instruments 2006).  $F_0$  and  $F_{50\mu s}$  are the most commonly used  $F_0$  time points; however, Srivastava et al. (1997) use 40µs, Kalaji et al. (2016) uses 30µs and Stirbet & Govindjee (2011) uses  $20\mu s$  as F<sub>0</sub>. Additionally other authors do not define which F<sub>0</sub> is used (Mathur et al. 2011). One potential reason for this apparent oversight is that early fluorimeters such as the original Plant Efficiency Analyser (PEA), launched in 1989, were electronically incapable of accurately estimating F<sub>0</sub> and therefore F<sub>50µs</sub> was used as a standard reliable "close-to-zero" point. Owing to rapid electronic developments since 1989 it may be generally accepted that true  $F_0$  can be reliably estimated (Richard D. Poole 2016, pers. comm. 29<sup>th</sup> April). Knowing which F<sub>0</sub> is being used is important when calculating almost all parameters but of great importance when dealing with parameters such as  $M_0$  $(\equiv (dV/dt)_{0} \approx (\Delta V/\Delta t)_{0} = V_{300\mu s}/250\mu s)$  (See Equation 2.2 for calculation) (Tsimilli-Michael et al. 2000, Strasser et al. 2004), or calculating parameters dependent on M<sub>0</sub> such as: N, ABS/RC, RC/CS<sub>0</sub>, RC/CS<sub>M</sub> and PI, to name but a few. The severity of the problem is because M<sub>0</sub> is in part derived using a function calculating the slope between " $F_0$ " and 300  $\mu$ s. In the cases of estimated true  $F_0$ , 3.3 should be used; however, if using F<sub>50us</sub>, 4 should be used (see Equation 2.1). Errors of this type can cause up to 20% variation in PI<sub>ABS</sub>. For clarity and repeatability we suggest that  $F_0$  or  $F_{\widehat{0}}$  are appropriate to identify only estimated  $F_0$ .  $F_{50\mu s}$  should be used when  $50\mu s$  is used.

 $\frac{T1000\mu s}{T300\mu s - TF_{0(\mu s)}} = x$ 

Equation 2.1 Initial calculation used in the calculation for  $M_0$ . Where  $TF_{0(\mu s)}$  is the time at  $F_0$  in  $\mu s$ . Adapted from Strasser et al. (2004) and Metrope Tsimilli-Michael (2016, pers. comm. 29<sup>th</sup> April).

$$dV/dt_0 = M_0 = x \times \frac{F_k - F_0}{Fm - F_0}$$

Equation 2.2  $M_0$  calculation adapted from Tsimilli-Michael et al. (2000); Živčák et al. (2008); Gravano et al. (2004); Strasser et al. (2004) Strasser et al. (2000) ( $F_K = F300\mu s$ ).

Conversely to the above equations Strasser et al. (1995) defines  $M_0$  as  $(F_{300\mu s} - F_{50\mu s})/(F_M - F_{40\mu s})$  and Srivastava et al. (1997) define  $M_0$  as  $(F_{150\mu s} - F_{50\mu s})/(F_M - F_{50\mu s})$  both leaving out x and varying the equation above slightly. Krüger et al. (1997) does not define the  $M_0$  calculation in foundational terms. It appears that at some point between Strasser et al. (1995) and Strasser et al. (2000)  $x \times$  was included in the calculation for  $M_0$ .

The importance of appropriate parameter definition and citing the source of origin is therefore clear when using CF for research studies and screening trials. For this reason a number of the most widely utilised parameters will be defined, providing synonyms, calculation, a brief description and source where possible.

#### 2.4 Performance index

Many differing forms of calculation are cited for the chlorophyll fluorescence parameter known as the performance index (PI). Performance index is multi-parametric as well as multi-typal, PI can be expressed as either: total (PI<sub>tot</sub>), cross section (PI<sub>CS0</sub> or <sub>CSM</sub>) or absorbance (PI<sub>ABS</sub>) basis. However, no information currently exists to explain which expression is most appropriate for differing situations. In fact, a number of papers do not define which PI is being used (see Clark et al. 2000). PI<sub>ABS</sub> is the most frequently utilised form of the parameter and shall therefore be discussed here. PI<sub>ABS</sub> also

Table 2.3 Performance index forms and calculation.  $F_x$  may equal either  $F_0$  or  $F_M$ . (Strasser et al. 2004, Stirbet and Govindjee 2011)

Parameter	Calculation
PI <sub>ABS</sub>	$\frac{RC}{ABS} \times \frac{\varphi_{po}}{1 - \varphi_{po}} \times \frac{\psi_0}{1 - \psi_0}$
PI <sub>CSx</sub>	$PI_{ABS} \times F_x$
PI <sub>TOT</sub>	$PI_{ABS} \times \frac{(1-V_I)}{(1-V_J)}$

forms the foundational basis of all PI parameters where:  $PI_{CSO}$  and  $PI_{CSM}$  includes the multiplication of  $F_0$  and  $F_M$  respectively, (ABS/CSm is often substituted in this circumstance to denote estimated absorption flux),  $PI_{tot}$  includes  $\delta_{RO}/(1-\delta_{RO})$  ( $\delta_{RO}$  may also be referred to as  $\delta_{RE10}$ )  $\delta_{RO}$  is equal to  $(1-V_1)/(1-V_1)$  (Stirbet and Govindjee 2011).

 $PI_{ABS}$  is a complex parameter derived in analogy to the Nernst equation of redox potential (Oukarroum et al. 2007).  $PI_{ABS}$  is often referred to as burgeoning from three independent parameters encompassing the active reaction centres per absorption (RC/ABS), the yield of primary photochemistry ( $\varphi_{PO}$ ) and the efficiency of electron movement into the electron transport chain ( $\psi_0$ ) (Appenroth et al. 2001). In simplistic terms the parameter is all encompassing, identifying perturbations within the fast FIK. It identifies alterations in FIK with and importantly between  $F_0$  and  $F_M$  and therefore provides more information than parameters containing only combinations of  $F_0$  and  $F_M$ . Explanations of performance index are highly varied and often only referred to briefly and in some cases using only parameter which have not been defined (Desotgiu et al. 2012). Although no calculable error exists in the equations below it is clear a unified approach is needed to prevent convoluted, disconnected and none-specific explanations. Varying example descriptions are shown below.

$PI_{ABS} = \frac{RC}{ABS} \times \frac{\varphi_{po}}{1-\varphi} \times \frac{\psi_0}{1-\psi_0}$	(Appenroth et al. 2001, Strasser et al. 2004,
$\phi_{p_0} = \phi_{p_0}$	Gravano et al. 2004, Liu et al. 2006, Mathur et
	al. 2016)
$PI_{ABS} = \frac{\gamma_{RC2}}{1 - \gamma_{RC2}} \times \frac{\varphi_{po}}{1 - \varphi_{po}} \times \frac{\psi_{ET20}}{1 - \psi_{ET20}}$	(Stirbet and Govindjee 2011)
$PI_{ABS} = \frac{RC}{ABS} \times \frac{F_V}{F_0} \times \frac{1 - V_J}{V_J}$	(Clark et al. 2000)
$PI_{ABS} = \frac{(F_M - F_J) \times (F_M - F_0)^2}{4 \times (F_K - F_0) \times F_M \times F_0}$	(Dao and Beardall 2016)

We suggest, where possible, foundational fluorescence terms should be used:

$$PI_{ABS} = \left(\frac{1}{3.3 \times \left(\frac{F_k - F_0}{F_v}\right)} \times \frac{F_j - F_0}{F_v} \times \frac{F_v}{F_m}\right) \times \left(\frac{F_v}{F_0}\right) \times \left(\frac{Fv - Fj + F0}{Fj - F0}\right)$$

Equation 2.3 performance index expressed in foundational terms

Mathematical simplifications can be made which improve on the convoluted nature of Equation 2.3. However, further simplification reduces Equation 2.3 from the three stage nature of most explanations of PI<sub>ABS</sub>. It is however possible to retain the foundational basis of the equation and further optimize the equation to facilitate efficiency of description.

$$\frac{F_v^2 \times (F_v - F_j + F_0)}{3.3 \times (F_k - F_0) \times F_m \times F_0}$$

Equation 2.4 PI<sub>ABS</sub> equation simplification

Table	2.4	Fluorescence	parameters	available	from	continuous	excitation	fluorimeters.
					-			-

Parameter	Synonym	Calculation	Description	Reference
Fv/Fm	φΡο, TRo/ABS, J <sub>0</sub> <sup>TR</sup> /J <sup>ABS</sup> , Φ <sub>PSII</sub> / <i>qP</i>	(Fm-Fo)/Fm, 1-Fo/Fm	Maximum quantum yield of PSII. Indicates the probability that a trapped photon will end up in the reaction centre and cause a photochemical event.	(Srivastava et al. 1997, Maxwell and Johnson 2000, Rosenqvist and Kooten 2003, Hansatech Instruments 2006, Stirbet and Govindjee 2011)
Fv/Fo	$\frac{\psi_{po}}{1-\psi_{po}}$	(Fm-Fo)/Fo, 1/(1-Fv/Fm)- 1, 1/(Fo/Fm)-1	Has been shown to decrease with frost hardening from about 6.0 to 4.0/2.0 (upper/lower surface). It also increases quickly in healthy tree foliage.	(Mohammed et al. 2003)
F <sub>0</sub> /F <sub>m</sub>		1-Fv/Fm	Ratio of extrema.	(Strasser et al. 2000)
Area		$\int_{0}^{tF_{\max}} (F_{M} - F_{t}) dt$	The area above the fluorescence curve. It is proportional to the pool size of the electron acceptors Qa on the reducing side of PSII.	(Roháček and Barták 1999, Strasser et al. 2004, Hansatech Instruments 2006)
PI <sub>ABS</sub>	PI	$\frac{RC}{ABS} \times \frac{F_{\rm v}}{F_{\rm o}} \times \frac{1 - V_{\rm j}}{V_{\rm j}}$	Performance Index (PI) is an indicator of sample vitality. It is an expression indicating the internal force of the sample to resist constraints from the outside. Further discussion below.	(Clark et al. 2000, Percival and Fraser 2001, Strasser et al. 2004, Hansatech Instruments 2006);
RC ABS	$\varphi \text{Po} \times (\frac{V_J}{M_0}),$ $\frac{\gamma}{1-\gamma}$	$\frac{F_V}{F_M} \times \left(\frac{\frac{F_M - F_J}{F_V}}{4 \times \frac{F_K - F_0}{F_V}}\right)$	The density of active PSII reaction centres expressed based on the quantity of light absorbed by the antenna.	(Clark et al. 2000, Desotgiu et al. 2012)
TR <sub>0</sub> /RC		M <sub>0</sub> /VJ	Maximal trapping rate of PSII	(Force et al. 2003)
Vt		$\frac{F_t - F_0}{F_M - F_0}$	Relative variable fluorescence is used to normalize fluorescence measurements at set time points (F <sub>t</sub> ), to facilitate comparison.	(Srivastava et al. 1997, Strasser et al. 2000)
1-V <sub>J</sub>	$J-Phase,ET_o/TRO,\Psi_{EO}, \frac{\Psi_0}{1-\Psi_0}, \frac{ET_0}{TR_0}$	$\frac{F_M - F_J}{F_M - F_0}$	Describes the efficiency that a trapped excitation can move an electron into the ETC from $Q_A^-$ to the intersystem electron acceptor.	(Force et al. 2003, Desotgiu et al. 2012)

1-V <sub>1</sub>	IP-Phase, ΔV <sub>IP</sub>	$\frac{F_M - F_I}{F_M - F_0}$	Relative contribution of the I-P phase.	(Oukarroum et al. 2009, Desotgiu et al. 2012)
Vĸ	V <sub>oj</sub> 300, K band	$\frac{F_K - F_0}{F_J - F_0}$	Relative fluorescence at 300µs. It expresses the breakdown of the oxygen evolving complex (OEC).	(Srivastava et al. 1997, Desotgiu et al. 2013)
VL	V <sub>OK100</sub> , L band	$\frac{F_L - F_0}{F_K - F_0}$	Relative fluorescence at 100µs.	(Desotgiu et al. 2013)
M <sub>0</sub>	dV/dt <sub>0</sub> , (ΔV/Δt) <sub>0</sub> , V <sub>300μs</sub> /250μs	$\frac{1000\mu s}{300\mu s - TF_{0\mu s}} \times \frac{F_K - F_0}{F_V}$	Slope of the origin of the fluorescence rise. Maximal rate of accumulation of the fraction of closed reaction centres.	(Tsimilli-Michael et al. 2000, Strasser et al. 2004)
N	$S_M \times \left(\frac{TR_0}{RC}\right)$ $S_M \times M_0 \times (1/V_J)$	$\left(\frac{Area}{F_V}\right) \times \left(\frac{M_0}{V_J}\right)$	Time dependent turnover number of $\ensuremath{Q_A}$	(Strasser et al. 2000, Force et al. 2003)
Vo(Bo)	В <sub>0</sub> ,	$\frac{\left(\frac{F_{V}}{F_{M}}\right) - \left(\frac{F_{V}^{*}}{F_{M}^{*}}\right)}{\frac{F_{v}}{F_{m}}}$	Relative amount of $Q_B$ non-reducing PS II centres. (1-Vo(Bo) = $Q_B$ reducing centres). $F_t^*$ = $F_t$ during a second flash (see citation for further information.)	(Mehta et al. 2010)
OEC		$1-(\frac{V_K}{V_J})$	Fraction of O <sub>2</sub> evolving centres. This can be used alone or used in comparison with control sample e.g. OEC treated / OEC control.	(Appenroth et al. 2001, Liu et al. 2006)
Sm		Area/F <sub>v</sub>	Normalized area. Also regarded as the energy needed to close all reaction centres. (assumed proportional to the number of reduction and oxidation of one QA-molecule during the fast OJIP transient, and therefore related to the number of electron carriers per electron transport chain).	(Appenroth et al. 2001, Stirbet and Govindjee 2011)
$\alpha$ , $\beta$ and $\gamma$ centres		See (Mathur et al. 2011)	Heterogeneity of PSII from fluorescence rise.	(Mathur et al. 2011)

# 2.5 Future methods

Recent methods of data interpretation have transitioned away from a single parameter approach and attempted to view multiple parameters in relation to each other, often displayed as a radar plot, the shape of the resulting plot has been coined the fluorescence fingerprint or fluorescence barcode. Interpretation is possible when visualised as radar plots (Figure 2.3), however, computational pattern recognition facilitates quantitative recognition and has been shown to identify plant species (Tyystjärvi et al. 1999, Codrea et al. 2003, Keränen et al. 2003), drought stress (Goltsev et al. 2012) and both virulent and avirulent strains of *Pseudomonas syringae* (Berger et al. 2007). The potential

practical implications of this method of interpretation have not yet been exploited for practitioners. Keränen et al. (2003) discusses the implications of species identification for precision farming, using the technology for targeted herbicide applications. However, a system capable of specific stress identification could have wider implications for plant diagnostics in agriculture, horticulture and arboriculture, identifying stressors prior to visual symptoms becoming apparent. While the potential for such systems is large, current research is limited, this is most likely owing to the requirement for large, highly controlled training datasets. Recent developments in CEF devices, such as multi-signal instruments and delayed fluorescence are also in their infancy, with further research needed to provide a sound physiology basis to the readings (Stirbet and Govindjee 2011, Oukarroum, El Gharous, et al. 2016).



Figure 2.3 Example of fluorescence fingerprint visualisation adapted from Berger et al. (2007) Relative changes of mean values of selected fluorescence parameters in A. thaliana infected by the virulent strain (A) and by the avirulent avrRPM1 strain (B) of P. syringae. The dark grey-shaded segments show parameters measured with dark-adapted plants. The fluorescence parameters measured during Kautsky induction and quenching analysis in low actinic light are shown in the lightly shaded segments. The non-shaded white segments show fluorescence parameters collected with high actinic light.

# 2.6 Conclusion

The degree to which fluorescence parameters have become convoluted is clear. A unified approach is required to facilitate improved understanding and utilisation of this technology by researchers and practitioners not knowledgeable in the areas of biophysics or molecular plant physiology. Widely utilised foundational parameters have been defined here as well as some additional parameters which may prove promising, further work is however required to identify and clarify parameter response to specific plant stresses. Further work is also required to evaluate the potential of fluorescence fingerprinting as a potential future direction of this technology.

# 2.7 Acknowledgements

The author thanks Glynn Percival, Luke Hailey, Emma Schaffert, Paul Davis, Richard Poole, Kerry Renshaw and Paul Lamport for helpful advice and discussions on the subject. Additional thanks to Bartlett Tree Experts for supporting this research.

# 2.8 Reference List

- Appenroth KJ, Stöckel J, Srivastava A, Strasser RJ (2001) Multiple effects of chromate on the photosynthetic apparatus of Spirodela polyrhiza as probed by OJIP chlorophyll a fluorescence measurements. Environ Pollut 115:49–64.
- Baker NR, Rosenqvist E (2004) Applications of chlorophyll fluorescence can improve crop production strategies: an examination of future possibilities. J Exp Bot 55:1607–1621.
- Berger S, Benediktyová Z, Matouš K, Bonfig K, Mueller MJ, Nedbal L, Roitsch T (2007) Visualization of dynamics of plant-pathogen interaction by novel combination of chlorophyll fluorescence imaging and statistical analysis: Differential effects of virulent and avirulent strains of P. syringae and of oxylipins on A. thaliana. J Exp Bot 58:797–806.
- Bussotti F, Desotgiu R, Cascio C, Pollastrini M, Gravano E, Gerosa G, Marzuoli R, Nali C, Lorenzini G, Salvatori E, Manes F, Schaub M, Strasser RJ (2011) Ozone stress in woody plants assessed with chlorophyll a fluorescence. A critical reassessment of existing data. Environ Exp Bot 73:19–30.
- Ceppi MG, Oukarroum A, Cicek N, Strasser RJ, Schansker G (2012) The IP amplitude of the fluorescence rise OJIP is sensitive to changes in the photosystem I content of leaves: A study on plants exposed to magnesium and sulfate deficiencies, drought stress and salt stress. Physiol Plant 144:277–288.
- Clark AJ, Landolt W, Bucher JB, Strasser RJ (2000) Beech (Fagus sylvatica) response to ozone exposure assessed with a chlorophyll a fluorescence performance index. Environ Pollut 109:501–507.
- Codrea CM, Aittokallio T, Keränen M, Tyystjärvi E, Nevalainen OS (2003) Feature learning with a genetic algorithm for fluorescence fingerprinting of plant species. Pattern Recognit Lett 24:2663–2673.
- Dao LHT, Beardall J (2016) Effects of lead on two green microalgae Chlorella and Scenedesmus: photosystem II activity and heterogeneity. Algal Res 16:150–159.
- DeEll RJ, Toivonen PMA (2003) Use of chlorophyll fluorescence in postharvest quality assessments of fruits and vegetables. In: DeEll RJ, Toivonen PMA (eds) Practical applications of chlorophyll fluorescence in plant biology.pp 203–242.
- Desotgiu R, Pollastrini M, Cascio C, Gerosa G, Marzuoli R, Bussotti F (2012) Chlorophyll a fluorescence analysis along a vertical gradient of the crown in a poplar (Oxford clone) subjected to ozone and water stress. Tree Physiol 32:976–986.
- Desotgiu R, Pollastrini M, Cascio C, Gerosa G, Marzuoli R, Bussotti F (2013) Responses to ozone on Populus "Oxford" clone in an open top chamber experiment assessed before sunrise and in full sunlight. Photosynthetica 51:267–280.
- Duysens LNM, Sweers HE (1963) Mechanism of two photochemical reactions in algae as studied by means of fluorescence. Stud Microalgae Photosynth Bact:353–372.
- Force L, Critchley C, Rensen JJS Van (2003) New fuorescence parameters for monitoring photosynthesis in plants. Photosynth Res 78:17–33.
- Goltsev V, Zaharieva I, Chernev P, Kouzmanova M, Kalaji HM, Yordanov I, Krasteva V, Alexandrov V, Stefanov D, Allakhverdiev SI, Strasser RJ (2012) Drought-induced modifications of photosynthetic electron transport in intact leaves: Analysis and use of neural networks as a tool for a rapid noninvasive estimation. Biochim Biophys Acta - Bioenerg 1817:1490–1498.

- Govindjee (2004) Chlorophyll a fluorescence: a bit of basics and history. In: Chlorophyll a fluorescence: a signature of photosynthesis.pp 1–41.
- Govindjee, Kern JF, Messinger J, Whitmarsh J (2010) Photosystem II. In: Wydrzynski TJ, Satoh K, Freeman JA (eds) Encyclopedia of Life Sciences. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester, UK
- Gravano E, Bussotti F, Strasser RJ, Schaub M, Novak K, Skelly J, Tani C (2004) Ozone symptoms in leaves of woody plants in open-top chambers: Ultrastructural and physiological characteristics. Physiol Plant 121:620–633.
- Guo DP, Guo YP, Zhao JP, Liu H, Peng Y, Wang QM, Chen JS, Rao GZ (2005) Photosynthetic rate and chlorophyll fluorescence in leaves of stem mustard (Brassica juncea var. tsatsai) after turnip mosaic virus infection. Plant Sci 168:57–63.
- Hansatech Instruments (2006) Operations Manual Setup, Installation & Maintenance: Handy PEA, Pocket PEA and PEA Plus Manual. 1:1–85.
- Kalaji HM, Jajoo A, Oukarroum A, Brestic M, Zivcak M, Samborska IA, Cetner MD, Łukasik I, Goltsev V, Ladle RJ (2016) Chlorophyll a fluorescence as a tool to monitor physiological status of plants under abiotic stress conditions. Acta Physiol Plant 38:102.
- Kalaji HM, Schansker G, Ladle RJ, Goltsev V, Bosa K, Allakhverdiev SI, Brestic M, Bussotti F, Calatayud A, Dąbrowski P, Elsheery NI, Ferroni L, Guidi L, Hogewoning SW, Jajoo A, Misra AN, Nebauer SG, Pancaldi S, Penella C, Poli D, Pollastrini M, Romanowska-Duda ZB, Rutkowska B, Serôdio J, Suresh K, Szulc W, Tambussi E, Yanniccari M, Zivcak M (2014) Frequently asked questions about in vivo chlorophyll fluorescence: Practical issues. Photosynth Res 122:121–158.

Kautsky H, Hirsch A (1931) Neue Versuche zur Kohlensäureassimilation. Naturwissenschaften 19:964.

- Keränen M, Aro E-M, Tyystjärvi E, Nevalainen O (2003) Automatic Plant Identification with Chlorophyll Fluorescence Fingerprinting. Precis Agric 4:53–67.
- Kodru S, Malavath T, Devadasu E, Nellaepalli S, Stirbet A, Subramanyam R, Govindjee (2015) The slow S to M rise of chlorophyll a fluorescence reflects transition from state 2 to state 1 in the green alga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Photosynth Res
- Krüger GH, Tsimilli-Michael M, Strasser RJ (1997) Light stress provokes plastic and elastic modifications in structure and function of photosystem II in camellia leaves. Physiol Plant 101:265–277.
- Lazár D (2006) The polyphasic chlorophyll a fluorescence rise measured under high intensity of exciting light. Funct Plant Biol 33:9–30.
- Lazár D (2015) Parameters of photosynthetic energy partitioning. J Plant Physiol 175:131–147.
- Li-COR (2017) Li-COR LI-6800. https://www.licor.com/env/products/photosynthesis/LI-6800/ (20 February 2017, date last accessed ).
- Liu Q, Zhu Y, Tao H, Wang N, Wang Y (2006) Damage of PS II during senescence of Spirodela polyrrhiza explants under long-day conditions and its prevention by 6-benzyladenine. J Plant Res 119:145–152.
- Mathur S, Allakhverdiev SI, Jajoo A (2011) Analysis of high temperature stress on the dynamics of antenna size and reducing side heterogeneity of Photosystem II in wheat leaves (Triticum aestivum). Biochim Biophys Acta Bioenerg 1807:22–29.

Mathur S, Kalaji HM, Jajoo A (2016) Investigation of deleterious effects of chromium phytotoxicity and

photosynthesis in wheat plant 2. Photosynthetica 54:1–9.

Maxwell K, Johnson GN (2000) Chlorophyll fluorescence — a practical guide. J Exp Bot 51:659–668.

- Mehta P, Allakhverdiev SI, Jajoo A (2010) Characterization of photosystem II heterogeneity in response to high salt stress in wheat leaves (Triticum aestivum). Photosynth Res 105:249–255.
- Mohammed GH, Zarco-Tejada P, Miller JR (2003) Applications of chlorophyll fluorescence in forestry and ecophysiology, Chapter 3. In: Practical Applications of Chlorophyll Fluorescence in Plant Biology.pp 79–124.
- Murchie EH, Lawson T (2013) Chlorophyll fluorescence analysis : a guide to good practice and understanding some new applications. J Exp Bot 64:3983–3998.
- Oukarroum A, El Gharous M, Goltsev V, Strasser RJ (2016) Delayed fluorescence emission as a probe for the response of photosynthetic organisms to high temperature exposure: A comparative study. J Lumin 180:321–327.
- Oukarroum A, El Madidi S, Strasser RJ (2016) Differential heat sensitivity index in barley cultivars (Hordeum vulgare L.) monitored by chlorophyll a fluorescence OKJIP. Plant Physiol Biochem 105:102–108.
- Oukarroum A, Madidi S El, Schansker G, Strasser RJ (2007) Probing the responses of barley cultivars (Hordeum vulgare L.) by chlorophyll a fluorescence OLKJIP under drought stress and re-watering. Environ Exp Bot 60:438–446.
- Oukarroum A, Schansker G, Strasser RJ (2009) Drought stress effects on photosystem i content and photosystem II thermotolerance analyzed using ChI a fluorescence kinetics in barley varieties differing in their drought tolerance. Physiol Plant 137:188–189.
- Percival GC, Fraser GA (2001) Measurement of the Salinity and Freezing Tolerance of Crataegus Genotypes Using Chlorophyll Fluorescence. J Arboric 27:233–245.
- Percival GC, Sheriffs CN (2002) Identification of drought-tolerant woody perennials using chlorophyll fluorescence. J Arboric 28:215–223.
- Roháček K, Barták M (1999) Technique of the modulated chlorophyll fluorescence: Basic concepts, useful parameters, and some applications. Photosynthetica 37:339–363.
- Rosenqvist E, Kooten O van (2003) Chlorophyll Fluorescence : a general description and nomenclature. In: Practical Applications of Chlorophyll Fluorescence in Plant Biology. Springer US, pp 31–77.
- Schansker G, Tóth SZ, Holzwarth AR, Garab G (2014) Chlorophyll a fluorescence: Beyond the limits of the QA model. Photosynth Res 120:43–58.
- Smethurst CF, Shabala S (2003) Screening methods for waterlogging tolerance in lucerne: Comparative analysis of waterlogging effects on chlorophyll fluorescence, photosynthesis, biomass and chlorophyll content. Funct Plant Biol 30:335–343.
- Srivastava A, Guissé B, Greppin H, Strasser RJ (1997) Regulation of antenna structure and electron transport in Photosystem II of Pisum sativum under elevated temperature probed by the fast polyphasic chlorophyll a fluorescence transient: OKJIP. Biochim Biophys Acta Bioenerg 1320:95–106.
- Stirbet A, Govindjee (2011) On the relation between the Kautsky effect (chlorophyll a fluorescence induction) and Photosystem II: Basics and applications of the OJIP fluorescence transient. J

Photochem Photobiol B Biol 104:236–257.

- Stirbet A, Govindjee (2012) Chlorophyll a fluorescence induction: a personal perspective of the thermal phase, the J-I-P rise. Photosynth Res 113:15–61.
- Strasser RJ, Srivastava A, Govindjee (1995) Polyphasic Chlorophyll a Fluorescence Transient in Plants and Cyanobacteria. Photochem Photobiol 61:32–42.
- Strasser RJ, Srivastava A, Tsimilli-Michael M (2000) The fluorescence transient as a tool to characterize and screen photosynthetic samples. In: Yunus M, Pather U, Mohanty P (eds) Probing Photosynthesis: Mechanism, Regulation and Adaptation. Taylor and Francis Ltd., London, UK, pp 445–480.
- Strasser RJ, Tsimilli-Michael M, Srivastava A (2004) Analysis of the Chlorophyll a Fluorescence Transient. In: Chlorophyll a Fluorescence, vol 19. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp 321–362.
- Tsimilli-Michael M, Eggenberg P, Biro B, Köves-Pechy K, Vörös I, Strasser RJ (2000) Synergistic and antagonistic effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and Azospirillum and Rhizobium nitrogenfixers on the photosynthetic activity of alfalfa, probed by the polyphasic chlorophyll a fluorescence transient O-J-I-P. Appl Soil Ecol 15:169–182.
- Tyystjärvi E, Koski A, Keränen M, Nevalainen O (1999) The Kautsky Curve Is a Built-in Barcode. Biophys J 77:1159–1167.
- Živčák M, Brestič M, Olšovská K, Slamka P (2008) Performance index as a sensitive indicator of water stress in Triticum aestivum L. Plant, Soil Environ 54:133–139.

# 3 Chlorophyll Fluorescence as a Tool to Identify Drought Stress in *Acer* genotypes

Jonathan M. Banks<sup>a,b</sup>

a The University of Reading, Department of Agriculture Policy and Development, Reading, Berkshire, RG6 6AR UK; b Bartlett Tree Experts, Research Laboratory (UK), Reading, Berkshire, RG2 9AF, UK

Received 17 April 2018; Received in revised form 29 May 2018; Accepted 16 June 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2018.06.022

**Abstract:** The effect of drought stress on continuous excitation chlorophyll fluorescence parameters and the OJIP transient is examined in cultivars of *Acer campestre, A. platanoides* and *A. pseudoplatanus*. Comparisons between whole tree level drought and desiccation of detached leaves under laboratory conditions is evaluated using both fluorescence parameters and differential kinetics. Data presented in this study suggests similarities exist between drought and desiccation. Chlorophyll fluorescence parameters which are both suitable and unsuitable at identifying drought stress are discussed and evaluated. New or uncommon fluorescence parameters and methods of analysis which may prove beneficial as drought detection tools are assessed. The over utilisation of the parameter Fv/Fm is also discussed. Results suggest utilisation of the parameters Pl<sub>ABS</sub>, Fo/Fm and V0(Bo) is recommended in preference to Fv/Fm, in studies aiming to identify drought stress in trees.

**Key words:** Acer, chlorophyll fluorescence, continuous excitation, drought, Fv/Fm, quantum efficiency.

#### 3.1 Introduction

Chlorophyll fluorescence (CF) is one of the most common methods used to measure and in some cases categorise a range of stressors impacting the photosynthetic processes (Maxwell and Johnson, 2000; Mohammed et al., 2003). It has been used extensively to identify stress and stress responses in plants (Baker and Rosenqvist, 2004), algae (Kodru et al., 2015) and other photosynthesising organs (DeEll and Toivonen, 2003). However, authors disagree on parameter suitability and in some cases parameters are discussed as being both suitable and unsuitable to identify drought stress. Little information exists to aid practitioners in deciding which parameter is most appropriate. Additionally,

chlorophyll fluorescence is typically reviewed from a biophysicist's or molecular plant physiologist's point of view compounding the difficulties for practitioners when interpreting data (Maxwell and Johnson, 2000). For this reason, information sharing and clear explanation is critical to facilitate understanding among researchers and practitioners. The focus of this paper is on continuous excitation fluorimeters (CEF) which currently represents greater suitability for use by practitioners owing to their relative lower cost and simplicity of use. With recent technological developments however, a greater number of parameters are now becoming available on multiple fluorimeter types, meaning clear information sharing between methods is increasingly important. The purpose of this study is to evaluate the suitability of a range of parameters available from CEF and evaluate if similarities exist between drought and foliar desiccation. Additionally, the response of non-parameter based methods (OJIP, Vt,  $\Delta W_{JO}$ ,  $\Delta W_{OK}$ ) are also investigated for both drought and foliar desiccation.

Drought stress is known to initiate a range of physiological processes including turgor loss, reductions in leaf water potential ( $\Psi$ ) and reduced stomatal aperture, in addition to increased abscisic acid (ABA) concentrations and exacerbated energy imbalances in the chloroplast (Bray, 2001; Vanlerberghe et al., 2015). Turgor loss is the primary reason for reduced growth in drought stressed plants as cellular expansion is dependent on cellular turgor (Bray, 2001). The primary cause of drought induced reduction in photosynthetic function is however disputed. It is accepted that a reduced  $CO_2$ concentration as a result of either stomatal closure or reduced internal CO<sub>2</sub> diffusion decreases carbon fixation (Tang et al., 2002). This leads to chloroplast damage through photoinhibition (Nakamura and Izumi, 2018). However, reductions in foliar water content and subsequent increases in ion concentrations have been linked to reductions in photosynthetic metabolism, independent of stomatal aperture (Flexas et al. 2012). During severe drought, feedback effects, metabolic and structural changes may also become prevalent (Kalaji et al., 2016). Drought is particularly damaging when combined with other stressors, such as high light intensities which induce an imbalance in the reaction centre leading to oxidative damage and photoinhibition (Goltsev et al., 2012). Photosynthetic responses to low  $\Psi$  and low relative water content (RWC) have been discussed as being dependent upon genotype (Tardieu and Simonneau, 1998), environmental conditions and the velocity of drought imposition (Flexas et al., 2002). However, and perhaps owing to these complexities, further research is required in order to fully elucidate the CF responses to drought.

Fast induction kinetics (FIK) such as those measured by continuous excitation chlorophyll fluorescence are known to provide information primarily about photosystem II. Photosystem II is however considered highly resistant to water shortages (Cornic and Fresneau, 2002; Desotgiu et al., 2012; Havaux, 1992), resulting in parameters investigating primary photochemistry, such as the quantum efficiency of PSII (Fv/Fm), often cited as unreliable. It is clear however, from comparison between studies such as Ögren (1990) and LI et al. (2006) that Fv/Fm may be suitable in some circumstances but not in others (Table 3.1) (also discussed by Ow et al. (2011)). Fv/Fm has been cited to only respond in extreme desiccation conditions with *Quercus petraea* and *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Epron and Dreyer, 1992; Mishra et al., 2014). However, Percival et al. (2006) identified significant reductions in Fv/Fm, varying depending on *Fraxinus* species. Fv/Fm was 11% to 65% lower than in control plants following two weeks of drought (Percival et al., 2006). Ow et al. (2011) also identify some species which exhibit both Fv/Fm sensitivity (*Conradina grandiflora & Chlorophytum cosmosum*) and insensitivity (*Euonymus cochinchinensis & Talinum triangulare*) to soil water status. These studies suggest Fv/Fm may be a useful measure of drought in drought-sensitive species or severe desiccation but is unlikely to be useful in drought-tolerant species or under minor drought.

Photosystem I is however less resistant to water deficit in comparison to PSII (Kalaji et al., 2016). Ceppi et al. (2012) identified that the IP amplitude  $(1-V_{IP} = \Delta V_{IP})$  reflects changes in PSI content, and  $1-V_{IP}$  has been found to be a suitable parameter to identify drought and drought tolerance (Oukarroum et al., 2009). Additional alternate parameters have been identified within the literature which may provide greater applicability to studies investigating drought stress (Kalaji et al., 2017b, 2016, Strasser et al., 2004, 2000). The multi-parametric parameter, performance index (Pl<sub>ABS</sub>) is capable of identifying drought stress and its decline has been used to identify drought tolerance in wheat (Živčák et al., 2008). However, the complexity behind its calculation and relative under-utilisation within the literature may deter some practitioners. Strasser et al. (2000) however, suggested six parameters which can be used in screening tests. These are:  $F_0/F_M$ ,  $(dV/dt)_0$ ,  $V_J$ ,  $V_I$ ,  $t_{Fmax}$  and  $S_m$ . The authors explain that  $F_0/F_M$ ,  $(dV/dt)_0$  ( $\equiv M_0$ ) and  $V_J$  refer to the structure and function of PSII whereas  $V_I$ ,  $t_{Fmax}$  and  $S_m$ refer to the activity of the electron transport chain (ETC) beyond Q<sub>A</sub> (Strasser et al., 2000). The ETC is however thought to also be relatively insensitive to drought stress (Niinemets et al., 1999). Strasser et al. (2000) also do not comment on the impact of species or genotype on the expected sensitivity of these parameters. Table 3.1 identifies that few researchers have utilised the six parameters discussed by Strasser et al. (2000). The parameter Fv/Fm is more frequently occurring and widely used (Su et al., 2015); putatively because it is widely used and commonly available from early pulse amplitude modulated (PAM) fluorimeters (Osinga et al., 2012). The ratio-metric normalisation of Fv/Fm also facilitates ease of interpretation. Clear evidence exists however, strongly suggesting against a reliance on Fv/Fm alone (Force et al., 2003; Menezes-Silva et al., 2017). There is additionally an underutilisation of fluorescence parameters not containing combinations of  $F_0$  and  $F_M$  ( $F_V/F_M$ ,  $F_0/F_M$  and  $F_V/F_0$ ), which are known to carry the same information as each other, but differ in scaling (Strasser et al., 2000; Sun et al., 2015). Recently some investigators have been not solely analysing parameters but

additionally using relative variable fluorescence or double normalised differential kinetics, which have shown promise identifying drought (Desotgiu et al., 2012; Kalaji et al., 2017a; Oukarroum et al., 2007), salt (Kalaji et al., 2017a) aluminium (Jiang et al., 2008) and ozone (Desotgiu et al., 2012) stresses.

Table 3.1 utilisation of fluorescence parameters within drought stress studies. Arranged according to studies conclusion of suitability.

Parameters deemed effective	spp. and source		
Fv/Fm	Fraxinus spp. (Percival et al., 2006), Racomitrium sp, Anomodon		
	sp. & Rhytidiadelphus sp. (Proctor and Smirnoff, 2000), Hordeum		
	vulgare (Rong- Hua et al., 2006), Salix sp. (Ögren, 1990), Quercus		
	<i>petraea</i> (Epron and Dreyer, 1992), <i>Citrus spp</i> . (García-Sánchez et al., 2007)		
Fv/F <sub>0</sub>	Hordeum vulgare (Rong- Hua et al., 2006)		
F <sub>0</sub>	Five woody perennials (Percival and Sheriffs, 2002), Hordeum vulgare (Rong- Hua et al., 2006)		
PI <sub>ABS</sub>	Triticum aestivum (Živčák et al., 2008), Parmelina tiliacea		
	(Oukarroum et al., 2018)		
Pl <sub>tot</sub>	Fagus sylvatica (Pflug et al., 2018), Parmelina tiliacea (Oukarroum		
	et al., 2018)		
1-Vi	Hordeum vulgare and Cicer arietinum (Oukarroum et al., 2009)		
DFI	Hordeum vulgare (Oukarroum et al., 2007)		
DIo, ETo, Tro & ABS	Fraxinus spp. (Percival et al., 2006)		
Parameters deemed ineffective	spp. and source		
Fv/Fm	Tilia sp. & Acer platanoides cultivars (Fini et al., 2009), Triticum		
	aestivum (Živčák et al., 2008), <i>Populus maximowiczi</i> (Desotgiu et		
	al., 2012), Zea mays (Cornic and Fresneau, 2002), coffee		
	(Menezes-Silva et al., 2017), Fagus sylvatica (Pflug et al., 2018)		
Fv/F <sub>0</sub>	Tilia sp. & Acer platanoides cultivars (Fini et al., 2009)		
Fp/Fm	Salix sp. (Ögren, 1990),		
Fo	Tilia sp. & Acer platanoides cultivars (Fini et al., 2009)		
qP & qNP	Populus maximowiczi (Desotgiu et al., 2012)		

The fluorescence response to drought is broad and variable but has been discussed in the literature (Doneva et al., 2017; Oukarroum et al., 2009), the response to leaf detachment and subsequent desiccation however requires further study (Angelopoulos et al., 1996). Despite this, a number of studies have used detached plants, rosettes, leaves or leaf discs as a proxy for drought in order to evaluate genotypic tolerance (Catala et al., 2007; Ögren, 1990; Percival and Sheriffs, 2002). Percival & Sheriffs (2002) and Faraloni et al. (2011) identify that relative drought tolerance rankings of five woody perennial genotypes and cultivars of Olive (*Olea europaea*) respectively do not vary between whole

plants and detached leaves. However, they do not elucidate if the fluorescence response to detachment is similar to that of whole plant drought stress. Conversely Ögren (1990) suggest that "dehydration is different from drought at the mechanistic level" however, this was assessed using primarily slow phase (S to M) fluorescence provided by a PAM fluorimeter. A PAM fluorimeter was used by Faraloni et al. (2011) but not by Percival & Sheriffs (2002). Foliar dehydration studies are relatively uncommon, however they have potential to provide benefits over currently common in vitro methods of genotypic tolerance ranking, such as PV or psychrometric methods (Bartlett et al., 2012; Sjöman et al., 2018). One major advantage is that desiccation studies can account for foliar morphological adaptations (highly cut foliage, foliar pubescents, foliar water storage organs) which may reduce the rate of desiccation and thus more accurately determine genotypic tolerance in some scenarios. Desiccation studies can also be performed with relatively inexpensive equipment and because tolerance scales are relative to the species tested the necessity for stringent environmental controls can be reduced. This study aims to evaluate the response of CF and CF parameters to whole tree drought and foliar desiccation using continuous excitation fluorescence.

#### 3.2 Materials and Methods

#### 3.2.1 Plant material

Seven-year-old 4.2 m (± 0.3) tall trees with a DBH of 50.7mm (±7.9) growing in 45 litre Light Pots™ (white, mypex woven grow bags) were used for this experiment. Trees were grafted onto their respective species-type rootstocks. In all, 80 trees belonging to the following species were used: A. campestre, A. campestre 'Louisa Red Shine', A. platanoides 'Drummondii', A. platanoides 'Emerald Queen', A. platanoides 'Princeton Gold', A. platanoides 'Royal Red', A. pseudoplatanus 'Negenia', and A. pseudoplatanus 'Spaethii'. For the duration of this experiment, all trees were kept outside, at Barcham Trees nursery, Ely, Cambridgeshire (52.366923° N, 0.315864° W). All experimental trees were arranged in a single row, either side of which was bordered by two rows of nursery trees of equal size to minimise edge effects. Experimental trees were arranged in 5 repeat blocks, each containing a drought and well-watered treatment, specimens were randomly placed representing all aforementioned Acer genotypes. A watering treatment (irrigated or non-irrigated) was alternated between blocks, and all trees allocated to the irrigated treatment were drip irrigated with ca. 5 litres of water per day. Drought treatment was initiated by detaching irrigation lines from non-irrigated blocks. Drought was augmented by installing black plastic rain covers over all root balls (irrigated and non-irrigated) to exclude rainfall and by raising all pots ca. 75mm off the ground to avoid water uptake from the ground, which was covered in pea gravel.

Chlorophyll fluorescence measurements of the drought treatment were recorded on the 18<sup>th</sup> July 2016 (-216 hours since irrigation removal), 4<sup>th</sup> August 2016 (192 hours) and 9<sup>th</sup> August 2016 (310 hours).

#### 3.2.2 In vitro Desiccation

Three replicate leaves from each of the 80 experimental trees were collected on 20<sup>th</sup> June 2016. Immediately after removal, all leaves were sealed in ziploc plastic bags and kept in the dark while being transferred to the laboratory. CF was measured on these leaves between  $21^{st}$  and  $29^{th}$  June 2016. Measurements were initiated immediately upon arrival at the laboratory (approximately 20 hours later). Immediately after the first measurements (hour zero), leaves were laid out across the laboratory bench and left to desiccate. Leaves were arranged in a completely randomised block design ensuring each leaf had >1cm peripheral zone to reduce effects on nearby leaves. The laboratory was kept at an average vapour pressure deficit of 0.65kPa ( $\pm$  0.14) (Temp 17.5°C ( $\pm$  0.89) Humidity 67.6% ( $\pm$  6.59)). The windowless laboratory was kept in darkness at all times apart from when measurements were taking place (<3 hours per day). Darkness was maintained in order to avoid accentuated waterloss and photooxidative damage, darkness of this duration was not expected to cause appreciable stress (Sui et al., 2012). Measurements of chlorophyll fluorescence were taken each day at 0, 23, 47, 71, 143 and 191 hours of desiccation.

#### 3.2.3 Relative water content

Because of the size of the trial it was not possible to measure relative water content for each leaf. Time was therefore used as a substitute for relative water content (RWC). In order to confirm this was an appropriate assumption in a subset of this trial RWC was plotted against time and a strong correlation was observed (Figure 3.1), this was in agreement with data displayed by Rastogi et al. (2002) and Faraloni et al. (2011).



Figure 3.1 Relative water content (RWC) (%) plotted against time (days) for four selected species. n = 15. Error bars show standard error. Linear regression expressed for all four species was  $y = -8.0701x + 86.733 R^2 = 0.808$ .

#### 3.2.4 Visual Index

General tree health was visually assessed for each tree; crown structure, density and degree of dieback was assessed together with size, colour, density and necrosis of foliage. Visual indexing facilitates tree vitality, to be compared with CF measures, and provides a rapid assessment of plant health useful to the tree selector. Trees were assessed in accordance with the following 1-5 scale:

- 1 66-100% of leaves affected, severe foliar discoloration and necrosis
- 2 36-65% of leaves affected, significant defoliation and/or leaf yellowing
- 3 5-35% of leaves affected with some yellowing but little or no defoliation
- 4 less than 5% of leaves affected and little aesthetic impact
- 5 No necrosis or aesthetic impact observed

On 9<sup>th</sup> August (310 hours) an additional surveyor was asked to rank the visual vitality of the trees independently to ascertain any bias present in the recording of visual indices.

### 3.2.5 Soil moisture

Soil moisture content was recorded for all trees on each measurement day using a Delta-T Devices SM150 soil moisture sensor kit (Delta-T Devices Ltd, Cambridge) generating volumetric soil moisture content (VMC) data with ±3% accuracy. The probe permits soil moisture readings to be taken with minimal root or soil disturbance by gently pushing the two 51x2.5mm probes through the Light Pots<sup>™</sup> 10-15cm from base of pot. Repeated measures were performed by utilising the same holes in the growing bags while ensuring sufficient soil:probe contact.

#### 3.2.6 Chlorophyll fluorescence

All leaves were dark adapted (~30 minutes) before a fluorescence response was induced by a one second flash of 650nm light at an intensity of 1500 $\mu$ mol/m<sup>2</sup>/s, provided by an array of three lightemitting diodes covering a 4mm diameter circle of leaf surface. Chlorophyll fluorescence parameters were calculated according to the calculations described in Banks (2017), while double-normalised differential kinetics (L- and K-band,  $\Delta W_{OK}$  and  $\Delta W_{OJ}$  respectively) were calculated in accordance with Oukarroum et al. (2007):

$$\Delta W_{0X} = \frac{F_t - F_{\hat{0}}}{F_x - F_{\hat{0}}} (treated) - \frac{F_t - F_{\hat{0}}}{F_x - F_{\hat{0}}} (control)$$

Equation 3.1  $\Delta W_{ox}$  where  $F_t$  is the fluorescence at time (t) across the induction curve.  $F_x$  is replaced with either  $F_J$  or  $F_K$  for  $W_{0J}$  or  $W_{ok}$  respectively.

Relative variable fluorescence (Vt) was calculated in accordance with Oukarroum et al. (2009):

$$V_t = \frac{F_t - F_{\hat{0}}}{F_m - F_{\hat{0}}}$$

Equation 3.2 Calculation of relative variable fluorescence V<sub>t</sub>

 $\Delta Vt \times 10$  was calculated to aid interpretation of Vt as:

$$\Delta V_t = V_t(treated) - V_t(control) \times 10$$

Equation 3.3 Calculation of relative variable fluorescence V<sub>t</sub>

In the whole tree drought trial, measurements on 18<sup>th</sup> July 2016 (-216 hours) and on 4<sup>th</sup> August (192 hours) were performed using a Pocket PEA device (Hansatech instruments Ltd., Norfolk). Measurements made on 9<sup>th</sup> August (310 hours) utilised the Handy PEA device (Hansatech instruments Itd., Norfolk). The use of the Handy PEA facilitated measurement of V0(B0).

In vitro measurements were made using the Handy PEA device. Measurements were made at 0, 23, 47, 71, 143 and 191 hours following detachment. Hour zero was the first time consistent desiccation could occur following the removal of leaves from the sampling bags (at ca. -20 hours).

CF measurements made using the handy PEA device were corrected for optical and measurement gain discrepancies between Handy and Pocket PEA, by multiplication of foundational parameter ( $F_{0}$ ,  $F_{J}$ ,  $F_{I}$ ,  $F_{M}$ ) by 16 and 0.679 (Hansatech Instruments personal communication). Pl<sub>ABS</sub> values were corrected for a similar discrepancy in Handy PEA measurements using a linear regression calculated using 10 identical leaves measured with both devices (y = 3.7569x+0.0355, where Y= Handy PEA, x = Pocket PEA) ( $R^2$ =0.972).

#### 3.2.7 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GenStat 17. Data was pooled per tree prior to analysis. Following tests for normality, a residual maximum likelihood (REML) model was used to analyse data in time series. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used when data was not in time series. Duncan's multiple range test was used to identify differences between genotypes. Additional interpretations were performed using Microsoft Excel 2013.

#### 3.3 Results

Percent volumetric water content (VWC) was confirmed to be significantly different between watered and droughted trees (p = <.001). Results are displayed per cultivar in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2 Percent volumetric water content for droughted and control cultivars, 192 hours and 310 hours following irrigation removal. Error bars shows standard error, letters denote significant differences within cultivars (n = 5). -216 hours prior to drought initiation includes both droughted and watered groups it is included for comparison but omitted from statistical analysis (n = 2).

A strong rank correlation was observed between, time for visual index to decline to 2 on the 5 to 1 scale and Fo/Fm, Fv/Fm, Pl<sub>ABS</sub>, V0(Bo) and Vj for drought (at 310 hours) and desiccation (71 hours) (Table 3.2). This data strongly suggests that these parameters are capable of identifying the differing deleterious effect of drought stress within the genotypes tested. The parameters Vi and 1-Vi did not correlate with the visually determined rank; additionally, t for Fm, Sm, and M0 were inconsistent, identifying drought but not desiccation, or desiccation but not drought.

A strong agreement ( $R^2 = 0.63$  and Rs = 0.62) was observed between drought and desiccation when assessed using Fv/Fm (Figure 3.3). Average reductions in this parameter ranged between -92.8% (*A. platanoides* 'Drummondii') and -33.0% (*A. platanoides* 'Princeton Gold') in response to desiccation and drought respectively (Figure 3.3). A significant influence of cultivar was observed with all parameters tested following desiccation: 1-Vi, Vj, Fo/Fm, Fv/Fm, PI abs, Sm, t for Fm, V0(Bo) (p=<0.001) and M0 (p=0.002). Following drought however, only the parameters Fo/Fm, Fv/Fm, PI<sub>ABS</sub>, t for fm (p = <0.001) and Sm (p = 0.011) identified a significant influence of cultivar. The parameters 1-Vi, Vj, M0 and V0(B0) were unable to identify significant differences at a cultivar level. Cultivars were therefore assessed individually following 71 and 310 hours of desiccation and drought respectively. These time points were selected as a response to drought was observed both visually and by observation of florescence transients. Utilization of earlier timepoints gave unclear results as little similarity to visual index had developed particularly in drought tolerant genotypes and slow-reacting parameters which had not responded until 71 hours (See Figure 3.4 A. *platanoides* 'Drummondii' parameters Fv/Fm and t for Fm).



Figure 3.3 Percentage change in Fv/Fm after 192 hours of drought or 71 hours of desiccation. Letters denote significant difference between cultivars at the 95% confidence interval. Error bars indicate standard error.

Table 3.2 Rank correlation (Rs) between time for visual index to decline to 2 and CF parameters following 310 and 71 hours of drought and desiccation respectively. Light grey cells indicate values  $\geq 0.5$  and  $\leq -0.6$ . Dark grey cells indicate values  $\geq 0.8$  and  $\leq -0.8$ .

	Drought	Desiccation	
	(310 hours)	(71 hours)	
1-VI	-0.476	-0.429	
Fo/Fm	-0.667	-0.571	
Fv/Fm	0.667	0.571	
M0	-0.381	0.738	
PI abs	0.548	0.524	
Sm	-0.667	0.167	
VO(Bo)	-0.690	-0.500	
Vi	0.476	0.429	
Vj	0.857	0.548	
t for Fm	0.571	0.333	

Based on this trial *A. platanoides* 'Drummondii' (relatively tolerant) and *A. campestre* 'Louisa Red Shine' (relatively sensitive) were used to demonstrate the fluorescence response to drought and desiccation at differing tolerance levels from within this study. In order to efficiently describe parameter response, parameters were normalised; percent change from the initial reading provides a unified point and gives parity to parameters on differing scales.



Figure 3.4 Percentage change in fluorescence parameters in response to desiccation. Results shown for A. platanoides 'Drummondii' (drought tolerant) and A. campestre 'Louisa Red Shine' (drought sensitive). Error bars removed for clarity.

Parameters were also displayed for *A. platanoides* 'Drummondii' (tolerant) and *A. campestre* 'Louisa Red Shine' (sensitive) at both 23 and 71 hours. This allowed the consistency of parameter response across time and between genotypes of differing sensitivity within this trial to be compared. Figure 3.5 highlights the consistency of  $PI_{ABS}$ ,  $F_0/F_M$  and V0(Bo) at differing time points and drought tolerances.



Figure 3.5 Parameter response (%) following 23 (A) and 71 (B) hours of desiccation, for A. platanoides 'Drummondii' (drought tolerant) and A. campestre 'Louisa Red Shine' (drought sensitive). (R2 = 0.74 at 23 hours. R2 = 0.54 at 71 hours).

Comparative OJIP transients and differential kinetics were also included for *A. platanoides* 'Drummondii' (drought tolerant) and *A. campestre* 'Louisa Red Shine' (drought sensitive) in order to aid understanding of parameter response to desiccation and dehydration. Figure 3.6 and Figure 3.7 clearly identify differences in both drought and desiccation tolerance between *A. p.* 'Drummondii' and *A. c.* 'Louisa Red Shine'. Genotypic differences in drought response can be observed in OJIP graphs, however, no observable difference is present between drought and desiccation in OJIP,  $\Delta W_{OJ}$  and  $\Delta W_{OK}$  response at the cultivar level.  $\Delta Vt$  does however identify a difference in the fluorescence response between drought and desiccation (Figure 3.7).





Figure 3.6 OJIP response (fluorescence intensity (a.u.)) and double-normalised differential kinetics (Vt,  $\Delta W_{OL}$ ,  $\Delta W_{OK}$ ) of A. platanoides 'Drummondii' in response to drought (left column) and desiccation (right) plotted for selected time points.



#### A. campestre 'Louisa Red Shine'

Figure 3.7 OJIP response (fluorescence intensity (a.u.)) and double-normalised differential kinetics (Vt,  $\Delta W_{OL}$ ,  $\Delta W_{OK}$ ) of A. campestre 'Louisa Red Shine' in response to drought (left column) and desiccation (right) plotted for selected time points.

#### 3.4 Discussion

Similarities between genotypic tolerance to whole tree drought and detached leaf dehydration under laboratory conditions strongly suggest that foliar dehydration can be used as a proxy for relative drought tolerance. However, parameter sensitivity to drought tolerance can differ between drought and desiccation (Table 3.2). Desiccation studies provide significant practical and efficiency advantages over whole tree drought studies in that they are faster and less resource-intensive to undertake. Additionally, greater response resolution and larger sample sizes are generally possible, in comparison to whole tree drought studies. However, the possibility of holistic tree responses (aquaporin mediated water uptake, hormone and signalling compounds such as abscisic acid, ethylene and salicylic acid (Aroca et al., 2012), and hydraulic lift (Wan et al., 2000)), must still be considered, especially if evaluating trees which significantly vary in their physiological drought tolerance responses.

Extracting the parameter response displayed in Figure 3.4 for both cultivars at 23 hours of desiccation allows rapidly responding parameters to be compared between genotypes (Figure 3.4). In this case M0 and PI<sub>ABS</sub> responded most significantly, in a positive and negative direction respectively. Tfm responded positively in *A. p.* 'Drummondii' but negatively in *A. c.* 'Louisa Red Shine', suggesting that impairment of the electron transport chain (ETC) occurred only in the more drought-sensitive (within this trial) *A. c.* 'Louisa Red Shine' (Strasser et al., 2000).

Following 71 hours of desiccation, the parameters Fo/Fm and Pl<sub>ABS</sub> respond most positively and negatively respectively. The slowest parameter to respond was Fv/Fm adding to the evidence that reliance on this parameter alone is not appropriate in drought studies (Force et al., 2003). Fv/Fm however, acts as a stable metric for measuring the impact of drought on the maximal quantum yield of PSII. Additionally, Fv/Fm only responds to stress negatively, allowing easy interpretation for practitioners. The data presented here does not, however, support the suggestion that Fv/Fm only responds in drought sensitive species (Ow et al., 2011); however, foliar desiccation is expected to represent severe drought. In mild to moderate dehydration events, more sensitive parameters are likely to be of putative benefit. Although Strasser et al. (2000) suggest Fv/Fm and Fo/Fm differ only in scaling, Kalaji et al., (2014) define Fo/Fm with reference only to heat dissipation of the PSII antenna; conversely Fv/Fm is widely defined as the maximum quantum yield (Kalaji et al., 2014; Pflug et al., 2018; Strasser et al., 2000). No study to our knowledge has utilised F<sub>0</sub>/F<sub>M</sub> in drought studies (Table 3.1) a clear response however can be observed in Figure 3.4.

The data presented here strongly suggests that the parameters PI<sub>ABS</sub>, Fo/Fm and VO(Bo) are valuable to practitioners because of their rapid and consistent response. The parameters Sm and 1-Vi responded stochastically and as such are not recommended to practitioners. Both parameters were

less sensitive in comparison to  $PI_{ABS}$  and are therefore also not recommended as a screening tool where further interpretation is required. As discussed by Banks (2017)  $PI_{ABS}$  is a complex multiparametric parameter which describes alterations within and between  $F_0$  and  $F_M$ .  $PI_{ABS}$  has previously been shown to respond rapidly to drought stress (Živčák et al., 2008). V0(Bo) describes the relative changes of  $Q_B$  non-reducing centres (Mehta et al., 2010) by measuring the change of  $F_V/F_M$  between two successive CF measurements in a double flash protocol. Previous research has currently only utilised this parameter for the identification of salt stress (Mehta et al., 2010). However, evidence suggests the accumulation of  $Q_B$ -non-reducing centres occurs in response to water stress (Lu and Zhang, 1999). V0(Bo) and  $F_0/F_M$  are currently underutilised therefore further work is recommended to describe their performance and uniformity between genotypes, stressors and stress intensities.

Observations of OJIP transients identifies deterioration only in the IP phase for *A. c.* 'Louisa Red Shine' in both desiccation and drought; whereas, *A. p.* 'Drummondii' deteriorates much more evenly across the entire OJIP transient. OJIP graphs do not however identify an observable difference between drought and desiccation. Differences between drought and desiccation are only observed in measurements of  $\Delta Vt$ . Drought stress resulted in a consistent bell-like shape between J and I peaks on the graph. However, the response following desiccation occurred in bimodal phases corresponding to the J and I time points, in this case the I peak had a higher intensity. Bussotti et al. (2011) observe a similar shape in Poplar response to ozone stress, and discussed that the J peak was caused by accumulation of the reduced Qa pool and that both peaks represented "a transient block at the acceptor side of PSI" (Bussotti et al., 2011). While Strasser et al. (1995) points to a reduction in heterogeneity between fast- and slow-reducing plastoquinone centres, this may however be negated by appropriate dark adaptation (Tomek et al., 2001). Few drought studies have used and displayed the characteristics of  $\Delta Vt$  transients, and to our knowledge no study has evaluated differences in  $\Delta Vt$  between drought and foliar desiccation. These differences require further study in order to evaluate their significance.

Severe drought and desiccation resulted in the presence of  $\Delta W_{OJ}$  (K-band) peaks; however, no  $\Delta W_{OK}$  (L-band) peaks were observed (Figure 3.6 and Figure 3.7). The absence of the L-band suggests no change in excitation energetic transfer took place, until significant photosynthetic deterioration had occurred. By this point, desiccation induced reduction in Fv/Fm had reached 29% and 73% for *A. p.* 'Drummondii' and *A. c.* 'Louisa Red Shine' respectively. This is contrary to the findings of Oukarroum et al. (2007) who observed both L and K bands in drought-sensitive genotypes but no L and K band in a drought tolerant genotype. Responses in L and K band expression have however been reported to vary in response to ozone stress as a result of light or age graduations in leaf material (Desotgiu et al.,
2012). The presence of a K-band in both species suggests disruption of the oxygen-evolving complex (Bussotti et al., 2011; Kalaji et al., 2016; Srivastava et al., 1997). L and K peaks appear to not be viable as early indicators of drought stress, as the response was less sensitive than a parameter approach to stress identification. L and K peaks are also not specific to drought stress as they have been found to occur in response to salt (Kalaji et al., 2017a), ozone (Bussotti et al., 2011), and nitrogen (Zhao et al., 2017) as well as drought (Kalaji et al., 2017a, 2016; Oukarroum et al., 2007). The absence of L and K peaks may however be useful indicators for viable recovery (Kalaji et al., 2016; Oukarroum et al., 2007). No differences in L and K bands are observed between drought and desiccation; however, excessive desiccation (>71 hours) resulted in a stochastic response for both species exposed to it. This has not been measured in droughted trees, possibly because leaf abscission occurred prior to this point.

#### 3.5 Conclusion

Similarities exist between drought and desiccation tolerance rankings, and the fluorescence response to these stressors. Data presented here adds to evidence against an over-reliance on the parameter Fv/Fm alone. In this study, significant advantages over Fv/Fm were achieved by the utilisation of the parameters  $PI_{ABS}$ , Fo/Fm and V0(Bo). Observations of double normalised differential kinetics identified similarities between drought and desiccation when observing  $\Delta W_{OJ}$  and  $\Delta W_{OK}$ . However, drought and desiccation differences were observed in  $\Delta Vt$  transients which require further study in order to elucidate their significance.

#### 3.6 Acknowledgements

The author thanks Martin Lukac, Glynn Percival, and Kerry Renshaw for helpful advice and discussions on the subject. Thanks are also due to Abdallah Oukarroum for helpful assistance on the interpretation of Vip, L and K band fluorescence. Additional thanks to Bartlett Tree Experts for supporting this research.

#### 3.7 Reference List

- Angelopoulos, K., Dichio, B., Xiloyannis, C., 1996. Inhibition of photosynthesis in olive trees (Olea europaea L.) during water stress and rewatering. J. Exp. Bot. 47, 1093–1100. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/47.8.1093
- Aroca, R., Porcel, R., Ruiz-Lozano, J.M., 2012. Regulation of root water uptake under abiotic stress conditions. J. Exp. Bot. 63, 43–57. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/err266
- Baker, N.R., Rosenqvist, E., 2004. Applications of chlorophyll fluorescence can improve crop production strategies: an examination of future possibilities. J. Exp. Bot. 55, 1607–1621. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erh196
- Banks, J.M., 2017. Continuous excitation chlorophyll fluorescence parameters: a review for practitioners. Tree Physiol. 37, 1128–1136. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpx059
- Bartlett, M.K., Scoffoni, C., Ardy, R., Zhang, Y., Sun, S., Cao, K., Sack, L., 2012. Rapid determination of comparative drought tolerance traits: using an osmometer to predict turgor loss point. Methods Ecol. Evol. 3, 880–888. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2012.00230.x
- Bray, E.A., 2001. Plant Response to Water-deficit Stress. Nat. Encycl. LIFE Sci. 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470015902.a0001298.pub2
- Bussotti, F., Desotgiu, R., Cascio, C., Pollastrini, M., Gravano, E., Gerosa, G., Marzuoli, R., Nali, C., Lorenzini, G., Salvatori, E., Manes, F., Schaub, M., Strasser, R.J., 2011. Ozone stress in woody plants assessed with chlorophyll a fluorescence. A critical reassessment of existing data. Environ. Exp. Bot. 73, 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2010.10.022
- Catala, R., Ouyang, J., Abreu, I.A., Hu, Y., Seo, H., Zhang, X., Chua, N.-H., 2007. The Arabidopsis E3 SUMO Ligase SIZ1 Regulates Plant Growth and Drought Responses. Plant Cell Online 19, 2952– 2966. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.106.049981
- Ceppi, M.G., Oukarroum, A., Cicek, N., Strasser, R.J., Schansker, G., 2012. The IP amplitude of the fluorescence rise OJIP is sensitive to changes in the photosystem I content of leaves: A study on plants exposed to magnesium and sulfate deficiencies, drought stress and salt stress. Physiol. Plant. 144, 277–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2011.01549.x
- Cornic, G., Fresneau, C., 2002. Photosynthetic carbon reduction and carbon oxidation cycles are the main electron sinks for photosystem II activity during a mild drought. Ann. Bot. 89, 887–894. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcf064
- DeEll, R.J., Toivonen, P.M.A., 2003. Use of chlorophyll fluorescence in postharvest quality assessments of fruits and vegetables., in: DeEll, R.J., Toivonen, P.M.A. (Eds.), Practical Applications of Chlorophyll Fluorescence in Plant Biology. pp. 203–242.
- Desotgiu, R., Pollastrini, M., Cascio, C., Gerosa, G., Marzuoli, R., Bussotti, F., 2012. Chlorophyll a fluorescence analysis along a vertical gradient of the crown in a poplar (Oxford clone) subjected to ozone and water stress. Tree Physiol. 32, 976–986. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tps062
- Doneva, D., Ahrar, M., Tsonev, T., Loreto, F., Varotto, C., Velikova, V., 2017. The role of isoprene in two arundineae species exposed to progressive drought. Comptes Rendus L'Academie Bulg. des Sci. 70, 203–212.
- Epron, D., Dreyer, E., 1992. Effects of severe dehydration on leaf photosynthesis in Quercus petraea (Matt.) Liebl.: photosystem II efficiency, photochemical and nonphotochemical fluorescence

quenching and electrolyte leakage. Tree Physiol. 10, 273–284.

- Faraloni, C., Cutino, I., Petruccelli, R., Leva, A.R., Lazzeri, S., Torzillo, G., 2011. Chlorophyll fluorescence technique as a rapid tool for in vitro screening of olive cultivars (Olea europaea L.) tolerant to drought stress. Environ. Exp. Bot. 73, 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2010.10.011
- Fini, A., Ferrini, F., Frangi, P., Amoroso, G., Piatti, R., 2009. Withholding irrigation during the establishment phase affected growth and physiology of norway maple (Acer platanoides) and linden (Tilla spp.). Arboric. Urban For. 35, 241–251.
- Flexas, J., Bota, J., Escalona, J.M., Sampol, B., Medrano, H., 2002. Effects of drought on photosynthesis in grapevines under field conditions: an evaluation of stomatal and mesophyll limitations. Funct. Plant Biol. 29, 461–471. https://doi.org/10.1071/PP01119
- Flexas, J., Gallé, A., Galmés, J., Ribas-Carbo, M., Medrano, H., 2012. The Response of Photosynthesis to Soil Water Stress, in: Aroca, R. (Ed.), Plant Responses to Drought Stress: From Morphological to Molecular Features. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 129–144. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-32653-0\_5
- Force, L., Critchley, C., Rensen, J.J.S. Van, 2003. New fuorescence parameters for monitoring photosynthesis in plants. Photosynth. Res. 78, 17–33. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026012116709
- García-Sánchez, F., Syvertsen, J.P., Gimeno, V., Botía, P., Perez-Perez, J.G., 2007. Responses to flooding and drought stress by two citrus rootstock seedlings with different water-use efficiency. Physiol. Plant. 130, 532–542. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2007.00925.x
- Goltsev, V., Zaharieva, I., Chernev, P., Kouzmanova, M., Kalaji, H.M., Yordanov, I., Krasteva, V., Alexandrov, V., Stefanov, D., Allakhverdiev, S.I., Strasser, R.J., 2012. Drought-induced modifications of photosynthetic electron transport in intact leaves: Analysis and use of neural networks as a tool for a rapid non-invasive estimation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Bioenerg. 1817, 1490–1498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2012.04.018
- Havaux, M., 1992. Stress Tolerance of Photosystem II in Vivo: Antagonistic Effects of Water, Heat, and Photoinhibition Stresses. Plant Physiol. 100, 424–432. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.100.1.424
- Jiang, H.-X., Chen, L.-S., Zheng, J.-G., Han, S., Tang, N., Smith, B.R., 2008. Aluminum-induced effects on Photosystem II photochemistry in citrus leaves assessed by the chlorophyll a fluorescence transient. Tree Physiol. 28, 1863–71. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/28.12.1863
- Kalaji, H.M., Jajoo, A., Oukarroum, A., Brestic, M., Zivcak, M., Samborska, I.A., Cetner, M.D., Łukasik, I., Goltsev, V., Ladle, R.J., 2016. Chlorophyll a fluorescence as a tool to monitor physiological status of plants under abiotic stress conditions. Acta Physiol. Plant. 38, 102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-016-2113-y
- Kalaji, H.M., Rac<sup>\*</sup>ková, L., Paganová, V., Swoczyna, T., Rusinowski, S., Sitko, K., 2017a. Can chlorophylla fluorescence parameters be used as bio-indicators to distinguish between drought and salinity stress in Tilia cordata Mill? Environ. Exp. Bot. 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2017.11.001
- Kalaji, H.M., Schansker, G., Brestic, M., Bussotti, F., Calatayud, A., Ferroni, L., Goltsev, V., Guidi, L., Jajoo, A., Li, P., Losciale, P., Mishra, V.K., Misra, A.N., Nebauer, S.G., Pancaldi, S., Penella, C., Pollastrini, M., Suresh, K., Tambussi, E., Yanniccari, M., Zivcak, M., Cetner, M.D., Samborska, I.A., Stirbet, A., Olsovska, K., Kunderlikova, K., Shelonzek, H., Rusinowski, S., Bąba, W., 2017b. Frequently asked questions about chlorophyll fluorescence, the sequel, Photosynthesis

Research. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11120-016-0318-y

- Kalaji, H.M., Schansker, G., Ladle, R.J., Goltsev, V., Bosa, K., Allakhverdiev, S.I., Brestic, M., Bussotti, F., Calatayud, A., Dąbrowski, P., Elsheery, N.I., Ferroni, L., Guidi, L., Hogewoning, S.W., Jajoo, A., Misra, A.N., Nebauer, S.G., Pancaldi, S., Penella, C., Poli, D., Pollastrini, M., Romanowska-Duda, Z.B., Rutkowska, B., Serôdio, J., Suresh, K., Szulc, W., Tambussi, E., Yanniccari, M., Zivcak, M., 2014. Frequently asked questions about in vivo chlorophyll fluorescence: Practical issues. Photosynth. Res. 122, 121–158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11120-014-0024-6
- Kodru, S., Malavath, T., Devadasu, E., Nellaepalli, S., Stirbet, A., Subramanyam, R., Govindjee, 2015. The slow S to M rise of chlorophyll a fluorescence reflects transition from state 2 to state 1 in the green alga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Photosynth. Res. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11120-015-0084-2
- Lu, C., Zhang, J., 1999. Effects of water stress on photosynthesis, chlorophyll fluorescence and photoinhibition in wheat plants. Funct. Plant Biol. 25, 883–892.
- Maxwell, K., Johnson, G.N., 2000. Chlorophyll fluorescence a practical guide. J. Exp. Bot. 51, 659–668.
- Mehta, P., Allakhverdiev, S.I., Jajoo, A., 2010. Characterization of photosystem II heterogeneity in response to high salt stress in wheat leaves (Triticum aestivum). Photosynth. Res. 105, 249–255. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11120-010-9588-y
- Menezes-Silva, P.E., Sanglard, L.M.V.P., Ávila, R.T., Morais, L.E., Martins, S.C.V., Nobres, P., Patreze, C.M., Ferreira, M.A., Araújo, W.L., Fernie, A.R., DaMatta, F.M., 2017. Photosynthetic and metabolic acclimation to repeated drought events play key roles in drought tolerance in coffee. J. Exp. Bot. 68, 4309–4322. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erx211
- Mishra, A., Heyer, A.G., Mishra, K.B., 2014. Chlorophyll fluorescence emission can screen cold tolerance of cold acclimated Arabidopsis thaliana accessions. Plant Methods 10, 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-4811-10-38
- Mohammed, G.H., Zarco-Tejada, P., Miller, J.R., 2003. Applications of chlorophyll fluorescence in forestry and ecophysiology, Chapter 3, in: Practical Applications of Chlorophyll Fluorescence in Plant Biology. pp. 79–124. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-0415-3\_3
- Nakamura, S., Izumi, M., 2018. Regulation of Chlorophagy during Photoinhibition and Senescence: Lessons from Mitophagy. Plant Physiol In Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pcy096/4996222
- Niinemets, Ü.L.O., Bilger, W., Kull, O., Tenhunen, J.D., 1999. Responses of foliar photosynthetic electron transport, pigment stoichiometry, and stomatal conductance to interacting environmental factors in a mixed species forest canopy.
- Ögren, E., 1990. Evaluation of chlorophyll fluorescence as a probe for drought stress in willow leaves. Plant Physiol. 93, 1280–1285. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.93.4.1280
- Osinga, R., Iglesias-Prieto, R., Enrquez, S., 2012. Measuring Photosynthesis in Symbiotic Invertebrates: A Review of Methodologies, Rates and Processes. Appl. Photosynth. https://doi.org/10.5772/29339
- Oukarroum, A., El Gharous, M., Goltsev, V., Strasser, R.J., 2018. Desiccation-induced changes of photosynthetic transport in Parmelina tiliacea (Hoffm.) Ach. analysed by simultaneous measurements of the kinetics of prompt fluorescence, delayed fluorescence and modulated 820 nm reflection. J. Lumin. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jlumin.2018.02.040

- Oukarroum, A., Madidi, S. El, Schansker, G., Strasser, R.J., 2007. Probing the responses of barley cultivars (Hordeum vulgare L.) by chlorophyll a fluorescence OLKJIP under drought stress and rewatering. Environ. Exp. Bot. 60, 438–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2007.01.002
- Oukarroum, A., Schansker, G., Strasser, R.J., 2009. Drought stress effects on photosystem i content and photosystem II thermotolerance analyzed using Chl a fluorescence kinetics in barley varieties differing in their drought tolerance. Physiol. Plant. 137, 188–189. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2009.01273.x
- Ow, L.F., Yeo, T.Y., Sim, E.K., 2011. Identification of drought-tolerant plants for roadside greening-An evaluation of chlorophyll fluorescence as an indicator to screen for drought tolerance. Urban For. Urban Green. 10, 177–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2011.03.001
- Percival, G.C., Keary, I.P., Al-Habsi, S., 2006. An assessment of the drought tolerance of Fraxinus genotypes for urban landscape plantings. Urban For. Urban Green. 5, 17–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2006.03.002
- Percival, G.C., Sheriffs, C.N., 2002. Identification of drought-tolerant woody perennials using chlorophyll fluorescence. J. Arboric. 28, 215–223.
- Pflug, E.E., Buchmann, N., Siegwolf, R.T.W., Schaub, M., Rigling, A., Arend, M., 2018. Resilient Leaf Physiological Response of European Beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) to Summer Drought and Drought Release. Front. Plant Sci. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00187
- Proctor, M.C., Smirnoff, N., 2000. Rapid recovery of photosystems on rewetting desiccation-tolerant mosses: chlorophyll fluorescence and inhibitor experiments. J. Exp. Bot. 51, 1695–704. https://doi.org/10.1093/jexbot/51.351.1695
- Rastogi, N.K., Raghavarao, K.S.M.S., Niranjan, K., Knorr, D., 2002. Recent developments in osmotic dehydration: Methods to enhance mass transfer. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 13, 48–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-2244(02)00032-8
- Rong- Hua, L., Guo, P.G., Michael, B., Stefania, G., Salvatore, C., 2006. Evaluation of chlorophyll content and fluorescence parameters as indicators of drought tolerance in Barley. Agric. Sci. China 5, 751–757. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1671-2927(06)60120-X
- Sjöman, H., Hirons, A.D., Bassuk, N.L., 2018. Magnolias as urban trees a preliminary evaluation of drought tolerance in seven magnolia species. Arboric. J. 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/03071375.2017.1415554
- Srivastava, A., Guissé, B., Greppin, H., Strasser, R.J., 1997. Regulation of antenna structure and electron transport in Photosystem II of Pisum sativum under elevated temperature probed by the fast polyphasic chlorophyll a fluorescence transient: OKJIP. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Bioenerg. 1320, 95–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-2728(97)00017-0
- Strasser, R.J., Srivastava, A., Govindjee, 1995. Polyphasic Chlorophyll a Fluorescence Transient in Plants and Cyanobacteria. Photochem. Photobiol. 61, 32–42. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-1097.1995.tb09240.x
- Strasser, R.J., Srivastava, A., Tsimilli-Michael, M., 2000. The fluorescence transient as a tool to characterize and screen photosynthetic samples, in: Yunus, M., Pather, U., Mohanty, P. (Eds.), Probing Photosynthesis: Mechanism, Regulation and Adaptation. Taylor and Francis Ltd., London, UK, pp. 445–480.

Strasser, R.J., Tsimilli-Michael, M., Srivastava, A., 2004. Analysis of the Chlorophyll a Fluorescence

Transient, in: Chlorophyll a Fluorescence. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 321–362. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-3218-9\_12

- Su, L., Dai, Z., Li, S., Xin, H., 2015. A novel system for evaluating drought-cold tolerance of grapevines using chlorophyll fluorescence. BMC Plant Biol. 15, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-015-0459-8
- Sui, X., Mao, S., Wang, L., Zhang, B., Zhang, Z., 2012. Effect of Low Light on the Characteristics of Photosynthesis and Chlorophyll a Fluorescence During Leaf Development of Sweet Pepper. J. Integr. Agric. 11, 1633–1643.
- Sun, Z.R., Zhu, N.N., Cheng, L.L., Yang, C.N., 2015. Comparison of photosynthesis and fluorescent parameters between dendrobium officinale and dendrobium loddigesii. Int. J. Clin. Exp. Med. 8, 13163–13170.
- Tang, A.C., Kawamitsu, Y., Kanechi, M., Boyer, J.S., 2002. Photosynthetic oxygen evolution at low water potential in leaf discs lacking an epidermis. Ann. Bot. 89, 861–870. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcf081
- Tardieu, F., Simonneau, T., 1998. Variability among species of stomatal control under fluctuating soil water status and evaporative demand: modelling isohydric and anisohydric behaviours. J. Exp. Bot. 49, 419–432. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/49.Special\_Issue.419
- Tomek, P., Lazar, D., Ilik, P., Naus, J., 2001. On the intermediate steps between the O and P steps in chlorophyll alpha fluorescence rise measured at different intensities of exciting light. Aust. J. Plant Physiol. 28, 1151–1160. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1071/Pp01065
- Vanlerberghe, G.C., Wang, J., Cvetkovska, M., Dahal, K., 2015. Modes of electron transport chain function during stress, in: Gupta, kapuganti J., Wang, J., Cvetkovska, M., Dahal, K. (Eds.), Alternative Respiratory Pathways in Higher Plants. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester, UK, pp. 157–183. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118789971.ch8
- Wan, C., Xu, W., Sosebee, R.E., Machado, S., Archer, T., 2000. Hydraulic lift in drought-tolerant and susceptible maize hybrids. Plant Soil 219, 117–126. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1004740511326
- Zhao, L., Li, K., Wang, Q., Song, X., Su, H., Xie, B., 2017. Nitrogen Starvation Impacts the Photosynthetic Performance of Porphyridium cruentum as Revealed by Chlorophyll a Fluorescence. Sci. Rep. 1– 11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-08428-6
- Živčák, M., Brestič, M., Olšovská, K., Slamka, P., 2008. Performance index as a sensitive indicator of water stress in Triticum aestivum L. Plant, Soil Environ. 54, 133–139.

# 4 Evaluating the Drought Tolerance of Cultivars Within Acer platanoides, campestre and pseudoplatanus.

Jonathan Michael Banks<sup>ab\*</sup>, Martin Lukac<sup>b</sup>, Glynn Clive Percival<sup>a</sup>, Gillian Rose<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Bartlett Tree Experts, Research Laboratory (UK) Reading, Berkshire RG2 9AF, UK. <sup>b</sup> School of Agriculture Policy and Development, The University of Reading, Reading, Berkshire RG6 6AR, UK.

**Abstract:** An investigation into the drought tolerance of pot-grown *Acer platanoides, campestre and pseudoplatanus* cultivars was carried out to compare visual and physiology-based indexes of the drought tolerance. The study identified significant drought tolerance differences between and within selected species. The relative order of species tolerance was found to be contrary to the findings of other researchers; *A. platanoides* was significantly more drought tolerant than *A. pseudoplatanus* and *A. campestre*. No significant differences were observed between cultivars belonging to *A. pseudoplatanus* and *A. campestre*. However, *A. platanoides* cultivars demonstrated significant variation in drought tolerance. These observations indicate that species level drought tolerance rankings cannot be used exclusively as an indicator of cultivar drought tolerance.

Keywords: drought, tolerance, chlorophyll fluorescence, soil water, visual index

#### 4.1 Introduction

Drought is a significant and common stress in trees, particularly in urban environments, where water infiltration and soil volumes are limited (Cattivelli et al. 2008). Despite the importance of drought stress, knowledge and ranking of cultivars according to drought tolerance are often inconsistent and of a poor quality (Niinemets and Valladares 2006, Sjöman et al. 2015). A number of studies appear to provide conflicting information regarding the drought tolerance of the same species (Sjöman et al. 2015). Drought is a complex plant stress factor, known to conflict and interact with other stressors. Polytolerance (simultaneous, multiple stress tolerance) is uncommon, owing to trade-offs inherent in differing tolerance strategies, particularly drought-shade, cold-waterlogging adaptations (Niinemets and Valladares 2006, Laanisto and Niinemets 2015). Therefore, stress specific tolerance rankings are necessary in order to appropriately select species or cultivars for urban sites.

Numerous studies use arbitrary scales to rank genotypic drought tolerance. Bassuk et al. (2009) rank soil moisture tolerance from 1: tolerance of "occasionally saturated or very wet soil", to 12: tolerant of "prolonged periods of dry soil". It is however not clear how these values were calculated. Niinemets & Valladares (2006) rate tolerance from 1: very intolerant to 5: very tolerant; this is one of the largest studies of genotypic tolerance to-date, including 806 species. The ranking is based upon site characteristics of species dispersal and physiological potentials from five main studies using primarily North American species (Niinemets and Valladares 2006). A high correlation was found between the sources utilised in the study ( $R^2$ =>0.80). Differing tolerance scales were cross-calibrated using species in common within the data sets and an average tolerance score used (Niinemets & Valladares 2006, Appendix B). These methods provide significant advantages for those in the field, in that they are uncomplicated and limited prior knowledge regarding the influence of drought on trees is required to understand and interpret the significance of differences within the ranking system. Disadvantages also exist, namely, it is difficult to compare and cross-validate rankings, this may be necessary in different geographical areas or with genotypes of differing provenance. Sjöman et al. (2015) discuss that 'drought tolerance' may be conferred by avoidance, tolerance or a combination of the two. Niinemets and Valladares (2006) system may therefore consider genotypes as highly tolerant if they avoid drought by dropping leaves or invest in deep roots. However, it is generally advisable to avoid these species in urban areas where such traits are undesirable (Sjöman et al. 2015). The value of such methods may also be reduced where rankings include species with extreme tolerances; species around the median of tolerance are likely to be compressed into similar or the same rank, reducing the sensitivity of tolerance identification. The sensitivity of tolerance rankings is therefore inherently dependent on the species and cultivars included within the rank.

Many studies utilise the chlorophyll *a* fluorescence (CF) response to drought as an indicator of the presence and degree of drought stress response in plants (Percival and Sheriffs 2002, Oukarroum et al. 2007, Fini et al. 2009). The fast CF rise exhibits a characteristic polyphasic shape, timepoints during the rise are labelled from minimum (F<sub>0</sub>) to peak (F<sub>P</sub> or F<sub>M</sub>) with intermediary (F<sub>J</sub>, F<sub>I</sub>) steps; the whole CF rise is widely known as OJIP (Strasser et al. 1995, Banks 2017, Stirbet et al. 2018). A range of CF measurement parameters are accepted methods of screening for stress tolerance (Hakam et al. 2000, Percival and Sheriffs 2002, Kalaji et al. 2016). A so-called drought factor index (DFI) has been devised using CF measurements made at multiple periods across a drought trial for both droughted and watered plants; this has been shown to be an indicator of species tolerance (Oukarroum et al. 2007). Additionally, a lesser utilised parameter describing the latter IP phase of the polyphasic OJIP rise has been discussed to respond to drought stress in barley and chickpea (Oukarroum et al. 2009). A more specific parameter may reduce "noise" from other stressors acting in the natural environment.

Despite potential advantages of CF, when communicating data to practitioners, visual index (VI) is recommended as it is a practically useful applied metric which is scientifically-defensible to determine drought tolerance (Vahdati et al. 2017). Therefore, in this study CF was compared with a VI based on overall tree vitality, crown dieback, foliar symptomology (wilting, necrosis, and chlorosis) and foliar crown cover. Independent quantification of vitality was achieved by measuring continuous excitation CF.

This study utilises an approach combining visual characteristic with measurements of CF (Clark et al. 2000) to provide a drought tolerance rank for several cultivars belonging to the *Acer* genus. The genus consists of 129 species of evergreen and deciduous trees and shrubs from Europe, North Africa, Asia and North and Central America (Shu 2008). Harris (1992), García et al. (2006) and Bell et al. (2005) refer to the need for urban trees that provide colour, form, texture and pattern in the landscape. Species found within the *Acer* genus provide all these benefits, possessing good autumn colour, interesting and often coloured bark and leaves.

The Acer genus was selected for experimental purposes for several reasons:

i.) Acers have a high economic value to the horticultural/landscape industry;

- ii.) They provide contrasting forms which are highly desirable to local authority tree officers;
- iii.) They present a broad range of cultivars among single species, thus facilitating comparison.

Previous studies have revealed that Acer species span a wide drought tolerance range, significant intraspecific (within species) tolerances also exist (Sjöman et al. 2015) making appropriate selection very difficult. Clarification is therefore needed as to what level of both intraspecific and species variation exists. Additionally, few studies have applied a range of drought tolerance identification methods, this is a major drawback as it is essential to have a reliable benchmark of drought tolerance. We hypothesise that tolerance can be determined by visual indexing however, greater sensitivity and accuracy could be achieved when using CF, particularly timepoint specific parameters such as the IP phase.

#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

#### 4.2.1 Experimental design and sampling

All *Acer* species represented within this trial are commonly utilised as urban street trees, a wide range of genotypes with contrasting intraspecific foliar and crown characteristics was selected. All tested cultivars were grafted onto their respective species-type rootstocks. Eighty, seven-year-old 4.2 m (± 0.3) tall trees with a DBH of 50.7mm (±7.9) growing in 45 litre Light Pots<sup>™</sup> (white, mypex woven grow

bags) were used for this experiment. The potting substrate consisted of a 50:50 green waste and pine bark compost mix, with a pH of 7.7. Throughout the experiment, all trees were kept outside at Barcham Trees nursery, Ely, Cambridgeshire (52.366923° N, 0.315864° W). The trees were arranged in a single row, bordered by two rows of nursery trees of an equal size on either side of the experimental row to eliminate possible edge effects. Experimental trees were arranged in 5 repeat blocks, each containing a drought and well-watered treatment, specimens were randomly placed representing all aforementioned *Acer* genotypes. All irrigated trees were drip irrigated with *ca*. 5 litres of water per day. The species and cultivars selected, characteristics and relevant tolerance information is included in Table 4.1.

Drought treatment was initiated by detaching irrigation lines from non-irrigated blocks. Drought was augmented by installing black plastic rain covers over each root ball to exclude rainfall and by raising all pots ca. 75mm off the ground to avoid water uptake from the ground (pea gravel). Drought was initiated on the 27<sup>th</sup> July 2016 and continued until the 9<sup>th</sup> of August. A range of measurements were performed on the 18<sup>th</sup> July (-216 hours prior to irrigation removal), 4<sup>th</sup> August (192 hours) and 9<sup>th</sup> August (310 hours).

Table 4.1 Available information on the species used within this study

Species 'Cultivar'	Common Name	Key Features	Ecology/Drought tolerance	
A. pseudoplatanus	Sycamore	Fast growing deciduous spreading tree Considered a British non-native, introduced to the UK in ca. 1250 (Southwood 1961).	Recommended for an exposed position (Brickell 1989). Drought sensitive in comparison to <i>F. sylvatica, F. excelsior, Q. petraea, T. platyphyllos</i> and <i>P. avium.</i> Scherrer et al. (2011). Tolerant of prolonged periods of dry (cat. 10) and very wet soil (cat. 3) (Bassuk et al. 2009). Very adaptable to soil types, preferably well drained (Dirr 1990). 2.75 ±0.16 (Niinemets and Valladares 2006).	
'Spaethii' ('Atropurpureum', 'Purpureum')		Leaves dark green above, rich purple below (Dirr 1990)	Thought to be less tolerant than the straight species to insect and disease factors, leaf scorch, sunscald and borer infestations (Bassuk et al. 2009).	
'Negenia'		Vigorous conical shaped tree with red-stalked, large dark green leaves (Hillier 1993).	Tolerant to poor soil conditions (van den Berk and van den Berk 2015).	
A. campestre	Field Maple	Low branching compact tree commonly found in field hedgerows and brownfield sites Native to the UK (Southwood 1961).	Tolerant of prolonged periods of dry (cat. 12), and consistently moist soil (cat. 4). (Bassuk et al. 2009). Cat. 2.93 $\pm$ 0.32 (Niinemets and Valladares 2006). Tolerant of any soil except dry infertile and sandy (van den Berk and van den Berk 2015). $\pi_{TLP}$ -3.00MPa (permanent wilting point) (Sjöman et al. 2015)	
'Louisa Red Shine'		Leaves have a slight red coloration in spring.	Tolerant to all soil types except dry infertile and sandy (van den Berk and van den Berk 2015).	
A. platanoides	Norway Maple	Vigorous deciduous spreading tree with clusters of yellow flowers in mid spring, before leaves appear. Considered an invasive plant in parts of the United states of America (Martin 1999). Considered a British non-native. Native to continental Europe (Webb and Kaunzinger 1993).	Tolerant of prolonged periods of dry (cat. 10) and very wet soil (cat. 3) (Bassuk et al. 2009). Cat. 2.73 $\pm$ 0.16 (Niinemets and Valladares 2006). $\pi_{TLP}$ -3.09MPa (permanent wilting point) (Sjöman et al. 2015)	
'Drummondii'		Variegated cultivar, leaves have creamy-white edges turning yellowish in autumn (Brickell 1989, Bassuk et al. 2009).	Supposedly the best of its class (Dirr 1990).	
'Emerald Queen'		Upright when young, leaves have a reddish tint in spring and are bright yellow in autumn (Hillier 1993)	Less tolerant than 'Summershade' similar to 'Deborah' (Fini et al. 2009). One of the best Norway Maples for urban plantings (Dirr 1990).	
'Royal Red'		Deep reddish-purple leaves (Brickell 1989) Underlying suspicion that 'Royal Red' and 'Crimson King' are the same tree (Dirr 1990)	Considered more susceptible to pest problems than the straight species, but more tolerant and slower growing than 'Crimson King' (Bassuk et al. 2009). Supposedly hardier than 'Crimson King' (Dirr 1990).	
'Princeton Gold'		Shows yellow spring and summer foliage and may fade to a darker yellow in autumn (Bassuk et al. 2009).	No source available	

#### 4.2.2 Soil moisture

Soil moisture content was recorded for all trees on each measurement day using a Delta-T devices SM150 soil moisture sensor kit (Delta-T Devices Ltd, Cambridge) generating volumetric soil moisture content (VMC) data with ±3% accuracy. The probe permits soil moisture readings to be taken with minimal root or soil disturbance by gently pushing the two 51x2.5mm probes through the Light Pots<sup>™</sup> 10-15cm from base of pot. Repeated measures were performed by utilising the same holes in the growing bags while ensuring sufficient soil:probe contact.

#### 4.2.3 Chlorophyll fluorescence

Measurements were made on three leaves per tree, on the 18<sup>th</sup> July 2016 (-216 hours prior to irrigation removal) and 4<sup>th</sup> August (192 hours) measurements were performed using a pocket Plant Efficiency Analyser (PEA) device (Hansatech instruments Ltd., Norfolk), while on the 9<sup>th</sup> August (310 hours) a handy PEA device was used (Hansatech instruments Ltd., Norfolk). A known inconsistency in measurement gain between devices was corrected by multiplication of foundational parameters (F<sub>0</sub>, F<sub>J</sub>, F<sub>I</sub>, F<sub>M</sub>) by 16 and 0.679 (Hansatech Instruments 2016, personal communication). Pl<sub>ABS</sub> values were corrected by applying a linear regression constructed from measurements on 10 leaves with both devices (HandyPEA = 3.7569PocketPEA+0.0355, R<sup>2</sup>=0.972).

Following dark adaptation (30 minutes), the fluorescence response was induced by a one second flash of light (650nm, 1500 $\mu$ mol/m<sup>2</sup>/s) provided by an array of three light-emitting diodes over a 4mm diameter of leaf surface. The ratio of variable (F<sub>V</sub>=F<sub>M</sub>-F<sub>0</sub>) to maximal fluorescence (F<sub>M</sub>) was calculated. The multi-parametric parameter known as performance index (PI<sub>ABS</sub>) was also calculated (Equation 4.1).

$$PI_{ABS} = \frac{F_V \times (F_V - F_J + F_0)}{3.3 \times (F_K - F_0) \times F_M \times F_0}$$

Equation 4.1 Calculation of performance index ( $PI_{ABS}$ )  $F_J$  = fluorescence intensity at 2ms,  $F_K$ = fluorescence intensity at 300 $\mu$ s (Banks 2017).

Time for the CF parameters Fv/Fm and PI<sub>ABS</sub> to decline by 50% was calculated per tree and results per tree were subsequently analysed (n=5).

#### 4.2.3.1 Drought Factor Index

Drought factor index (DFI) was calculated per tree. The DFI is based on the CF parameter performance index (PI) expressed as an absorption basis (ABS) (Oukarroum et al. 2007) Equation 4.2.

$$DFI = Log(PI_{ABS}^{1}) + 2Log(PI_{ABS}^{2})$$

Equation 4.2 Drought factor index (DFI) adapted from Oukarroum et al. (2007) where  $PI_{ABS}^{1}$  is the relative  $PI_{ABS}$  ( $PI_{ABS}^{treated}/PI_{ABS}^{control}$ ) following one week of drought and  $PI_{ABS}^{2}$  is the relative  $PI_{ABS}$  following two weeks of drought.

#### 4.2.3.2 IP-Phase

Drought stress has been shown to influence the latter stage of the OJIP polyphasic chlorophyll a fluorescence rise (Oukarroum et al. 2009). Characterisation of this phase may be beneficial for drought stress specific studies. This is possible by utilisation of the parameter known as the IP-phase (also known as 1-V<sub>i</sub>) (Desotgiu et al. 2012).

$$IP - phase = 1 - V_I = \frac{F_M - F_I}{F_M - F_C}$$

Equation 4.3 IP-phase calculation.  $F_1 = F_{30ms} = F5$  (Oukarroum et al. 2009, Desotgiu et al. 2012, Banks 2017)

Characterisation of the differential IP phase has also been discussed to provide tolerance categorisation information (Oukarroum et al. 2009).

$$\Delta IP = 1 - V_I(control) - 1 - V_I(droughted)$$

Equation 4.4 IP-phase calculation.  $F_1 = F_{30ms} = F5$  (Oukarroum et al. 2009)

#### 4.2.4 Visual Index (VI)

General tree health was visually assessed for each tree; crown structure, density and degree of dieback were assessed together with size, colour, density and necrosis of foliage. Visual indexing facilitates tree vitality, to be compared with other quantitative measures, and provides a rapid assessment of plant health useful to the tree selector. Trees were assessed in accordance with the following 1-5 scale:

1 66-100% of leaves affected, severe foliar discoloration and necrosis

2 36-65% of leaves affected, significant defoliation and/or leaf yellowing

3 5-35% of leaves affected with some yellowing but little or no defoliation

4 less than 5% of leaves affected and little aesthetic impact

5 No necrosis or aesthetic impact observed

On 9<sup>th</sup> August (310 hours) an additional surveyor was asked to rank the visual vitality of the trees independently to ascertain any bias present in the recording of visual indices.

#### 4.2.5 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GenStat 17. Time series fluorescence data (Fv/Fm, 1-V<sub>1</sub> and PI<sub>ABS</sub>) was analysed using a residual maximum likelihood (REML) model. Following this, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed on processed data (processed data included: time for VI to reduce to 2, Fv/Fm, PI<sub>ABS</sub>, and DFI<sup>PIABS</sup>) to assess for differences between eight *Acer* genotypes. Cultivar was

nested within species for overall analysis. Post-hoc analysis was performed using a Bonferroni multiple comparison test at the 95% level.

Additional data interpretation and regression analysis were performed using Microsoft Excel 2013.

Spearman's rank correlation coefficient ( $\rho$  [rho] or  $r_s$ ) was calculated to determine the similarity in ranking between each categorical variable on a per tree basis. The strength of rank correlations was interpreted using the following thresholds:

Rs	Interpretation
.0019	very weak
.2039	weak
.4059	moderate
.6079	strong
.80 – 1.0	very strong

### 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 Soil Moisture

Percent volumetric water content (VWC) was confirmed to be significantly different between watered and droughted trees (p = <0.001). Results are displayed per cultivar in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1 Percent volumetric water content for droughted and control cultivars, 192 hours and 310 hours following irrigation removal. Error bars show standard error, letters denote significant differences within cultivars (n = 5). -216 hours prior to drought initiation includes both droughted and watered groups it is included for comparison but omitted from statistical analysis (n = 2).

#### 4.3.2 Visual index (VI)

There was a significant impact of drought on VI (p = <0.001). Regression analysis was used to predict the time taken for a genotype to decline to a VI of 2. A linear regression was fitted to data from each droughted tree in the trial, returning an average R<sup>2</sup> of 0.82. A significant interaction between species and cultivar (p = 0.007) was discovered. Species sensitivity was in the order *pseudoplatanus* (243.5) < *campestre* (296.1) < *platanoides* (647.1) (values in parentheses show average calculated hours to reach a VI of 2). Cultivar sensitivities are displayed in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2 Mean time for visual index to reduce to 2 per tree. Error bars show standard error (n = 5). Letters denote significant differences between cultivars at the 95% confidence interval. Overall mean time = 458 hours. (Values including and above A. platanoides 'Royal Red' were calculated by extrapolation.)

#### 4.3.3 Chlorophyll Fluorescence

A quadratic (order two polynomial) and exponential regressions were used to calculate the time for  $PI_{ABS}$  ( $R^2 = 0.76$ ) and Fv/Fm ( $R^2 = 0.85$ ) respectively to drop, from their origin, by 50%, this was performed for each droughted tree; and confirmed visually against the time-course graph for each tree. For this, we assumed no difference between hour -216 and hour zero, as it was not possible to measure at hour zero. The polynomial regression facilitated the model to account for the over-compensation effect reported to occur in  $PI_{ABS}$  in response to stress (Yordanov et al. 2008).

Significant species:cultivar interactions were discovered when using DFI-PI<sub>ABS</sub> (p = 0.002) and time for Fv/Fm and PI<sub>ABS</sub> to decline to the 50% (p = <0.001 and p = 0.043 respectively). Significant interactions suggest adequate sensitivity suitable to evaluate closely related genotypes. An alternative DFI using Fv/Fm did not identify significant species:cultivar interactions (p = 0.485) (data not shown).



Figure 4.3 Time taken for Fv/Fm and PI to drop by 50%, calculated per tree. Error bars show standard error (n = 5). Letters denote significant difference between cultivars at the 95% confidence interval.



Figure 4.4 Drought Factor Index (DFI) calculated using  $PI_{ABS}$  per tree. Error bars show standard error (n = 5). Letters denote significant difference between cultivars at the 95% confidence interval.

#### 4.3.4 Summary of Rankings

Table 4.2 Spearman's rank correlation coefficient matrix comparing results per tree for visual measurements against fluorescence data. Cells marked with\* identify values >0.8, bold cells identify values >0.6, VI = visual index, T= time, DFI = drought factor index.

		1	2	3	4	5
T for VI to reduce to 2		1				
DFI		0.71	1			
ΔIP Phase		0.52	0.55	1		
T for Fv/Fm to drop by 50%	4	0.62	0.82*	0.65	1	
T for Pl <sub>ABS</sub> to drop by 50%	5	0.55	0.74	0.35	0.78	1

A poor rank correlation was achieved when using  $\Delta$ IP phase with all measurements other than time for Fv/Fm to drop by 50%. The highest rank correlation overall was achieved using time for 50% reduction in Fv/Fm. Therefore, this metric was compared with time for visual index to reduce to 2 in order to rank the genotypes tested. Based on these criteria, tolerance was ranked in the order: *A. platanoides* 'Drummondii' > *A. platanoides* 'Emerald Queen' > *A. platanoides* 'Royal Red' > *A. campestre*  $\approx$  *A. campestre* 'Louisa Red Shine'  $\approx$  *A. platanoides* 'Princeton Gold'  $\approx$  *A. pseudoplatanus* 'Spaethii'  $\approx$  *A. pseudoplatanus* 'Negenia'.



Figure 4.5 Average position of cultivars, relative to visual and chlorophyll fluorescence drought tolerance rankings. ( $y = 0.2953x + 198.5 R^2 = 0.8492$ ). Species are: pla. = A. platanoides, cam = A. campestre, pse. = A. pseudoplatanus.

#### 4.4 Discussion

According to the literature, *A. campestre* is considered the most drought tolerant species tested in this study (Niinemets and Valladares 2006, Bassuk et al. 2009). However, little information exists on the relative tolerance of cultivars present within this genus, with the exception of *A. pseudoplatanus* 'Spaethii' which is considered less tolerant than the straight species (Bassuk et al. 2009) and A. *platanoides* 'Royal Red' thought to be more tolerant than *A. platanoides* 'Crimson King' (Dirr 1990, Bassuk et al. 2009). Owing to the scarcity of information available, tree selectors are thought to use species as the tolerance determining factor and select cultivars thereafter based on aesthetic value (Vaz Monteiro et al. 2017) and other selection criteria relevant to the intended planting site. Results from this trial however, indicate significant drought tolerance variability within the species *platanoides*. Conversely, cultivars of *A. campestre* and *A. pseudoplatanus* exhibited limited intraspecific variation. Cultivars can be pooled to provide a species ranking of A. *pseudoplatanus* and *A. campestre* as drought sensitive and *A. platanoides* as drought tolerant based on this trial. However,

when pooling cultivars to estimate species tolerance it is important to clarify that this ranking is relative to the genotypes tested within this study.

Photosystem II is considered highly resistant to water shortage (Cornic and Fresneau 2002, Desotgiu et al. 2012). Despite this, chlorophyll fluorescence was shown to be more sensitive than visual indexing; a 50% reduction in Pl<sub>ABS</sub> took ca. 150 hours (Figure 4.3) whereas the same reduction in visual indexing took ca. 450 hours (Figure 4.2). The chlorophyll fluorescence parameter  $F_V/F_M$  has been used extensively to measure drought stress in: Fraxinus spp. (Percival et al. 2006), Salix (Ögren 1990), Quercus petraea (Epron and Dreyer 1992), and Hordeum vulgare (Barley) (Rong- Hua et al. 2006). The performance index has similarly been shown to provide a viable indication of drought and drought tolerance in: transgenic Oryza sativa (rice) (Redillas et al. 2011) Hordeum vulgare (barley) (Oukarroum et al. 2007) and Triticum aestivum (winter wheat) (Živčák et al. 2008). In outdoor experimental trials, parameters attempting to encompass the whole, or the extremes of the fluorescence transient, such as Pl<sub>ABS</sub> and Fv/Fm respectively, are likely to provide benefits where additional response intricacies and potential stressors may also be involved. Owing to the significant impact of genotype on nontreated values, data must be normalised, in this case, percent change was used to facilitate interpretation between genotypes. A strong ( $R_s$  0.78) corroboration was achieved between ranks attained using Fv/Fm and Pl<sub>ABS</sub> (Table 4.2). The IP phase of the polyphasic chlorophyll fluorescence OJIP rise has been shown to respond more acutely than earlier phases in response to drought stress (Oukarroum et al. 2009). However, the parameter IP-phase and ΔIP-phase, discussed to identify drought tolerant varieties of barley and chickpea (Oukarroum et al. 2009), identified no correlation or similarity in ranking with all other ranking methods (Table 4.2). Additionally, no advantage in sensitivity, in comparison to other fluorescence methods, was observed when using IP-phase as a parameter alone (data not shown).

The DFI is based on the parameter PI<sub>ABS</sub> and has been used to rank barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) cultivars tolerance following a controlled drought (Oukarroum et al. 2007). The origin of the DFI is the chill factor index described by Strauss et al. (2006). It is based on the assumption that tolerant genotypes are capable of maintaining a higher PI<sub>ABS</sub> for longer than a sensitive genotype, therefore the relative importance of the response variable is increased later in the experiment. The time points chosen for inclusion in the DFI are dictated by the rate of decline in the given experiment. Values are therefore only relative to the specific trial; however, relative differences are comparable. DFI had a very strong and strong corroboration with time for Fv/Fm and PI<sup>ABS</sup> to decline by 50% respectively, as discussed by Oukarroum et al., (2007) it is an efficient method of screening for drought tolerance in controlled trials. Comparing Figure 4.3 and Figure 4.4 however a lower sensitivity can be observed when using DFI in comparison to metrics using time to decline by 50%.

The speed of decline in this study was more severe than expected; in a study by Munns et al. (2010) in wheat and barley, Fv/Fm began to be impacted by drought at 25 days (600 hours), similarly Auge et al. (1998) identified lethal soil drying took between 26 and 87 days (624 - 2088 hours). Data is therefore representative of severe drought stress. Because of the speed and severity of drought, measurements of stomatal conductance were unsuitable for inclusion in this study; because of equipment limitations it was also not possible to measure water potential during this trial; however, these metrics are strongly recommended for monitoring future studies (Auge et al. 1998). From an urban tree selector perspective however, the aesthetic and survival implication of severe drought imposition is of primary importance, these characterises can be identified using visual indexing and chlorophyll fluorescence (Percival 2002). Under severe drought stress both avoidance and tolerance mechanisms are highly important. Tolerance mechanisms tend to maintain cellular turgor which is essential in maintaining metabolic processes (Touchette et al. 2007). Some drought avoidance strategies such as reductions in stomatal conductance and adaptations to foliage orientation will also lengthen the range of foliar function (Farooq et al. 2012). However, as previously mentioned, some avoidance strategies (leaf abscission and extensive rooting systems) are undesirable or ineffective in the urban environment.

#### 4.5 Conclusion

The results of this study indicate the drought tolerance of the genotypes tested were in the order: *A. platanoides* 'Drummondii' > *A. platanoides* 'Emerald Queen' > *A. platanoides* 'Royal Red' > *A. campestre*  $\approx$  *A. campestre* 'Louisa Red Shine'  $\approx$  *A. platanoides* 'Princeton Gold'  $\approx$  *A. pseudoplatanus* 'Spaethii'  $\approx$  *A. pseudoplatanus* 'Negenia' (Figure 4.5). Significant cultivar variation was discovered in the species *A. platanoides*. These results strongly suggest that tree selectors should utilise empirical tolerance evaluations of cultivars before selecting cultivars for sites which are likely to experience drought stress. Fv/Fm and Pl<sub>ABS</sub> proved useful in the measurements of drought stress in this study, IP-phase did not provide any additional sensitivity during this study.

#### 4.6 Acknowledgements

The author thanks Kerry Renshaw for helpful advice and discussions on the manuscript. Additional thanks are due to Barcham Trees and Bartlett Tree Experts for supporting this research.

#### 4.7 Reference List

- Auge RM, Duan X, Croker JL, Witte WT, Green CD (1998) Foliar dehydration tolerance of twelve deciduous tree species. J Exp Bot 49:753–759.
- Banks JM (2017) Continuous excitation chlorophyll fluorescence parameters: a review for practitioners. Tree Physiol 37:1128–1136.
- Bassuk N, Curtis D, Marranca B, Neal B (2009) Recommended Urban Trees: Site Assessment and Tree Selection for Stress Tolerance. Urban Horticulture Institute, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY.
- Bell S, Blom D, Rautamäki M, Castel-Branco C, Simson A, Olsen IA (2005) Design of Urban Forests. In: Konijnendijk C, Nilsson K, Randrup T, Schipperijn J (eds) Urban Forests and Trees. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 149–186.
- van den Berk J, van den Berk P (2015) Van den Berk on Trees Houtman R (ed), Second Edi. Van den Berk Nurseries, Netherlands.
- Brickell C (1989) The Royal Horticultural Society Gardeners' Encyclopedia of Plants and Flowers. Dorling Kindersley, London.
- Cattivelli L, Rizza F, Badeck F-W, Mazzucotelli E, Mastrangelo AM, Francia E, Marè C, Tondelli A, Stanca AM (2008) Drought tolerance improvement in crop plants: An integrated view from breeding to genomics. F Crop Res 105:1–14.
- Clark AJ, Landolt W, Bucher JB, Strasser RJ (2000) Beech (Fagus sylvatica) response to ozone exposure assessed with a chlorophyll a fluorescence performance index. Environ Pollut 109:501–507.
- Cornic G, Fresneau C (2002) Photosynthetic carbon reduction and carbon oxidation cycles are the main electron sinks for photosystem II activity during a mild drought. Ann Bot 89:887–894.
- Desotgiu R, Pollastrini M, Cascio C, Gerosa G, Marzuoli R, Bussotti F (2012) Chlorophyll a fluorescence analysis along a vertical gradient of the crown in a poplar (Oxford clone) subjected to ozone and water stress. Tree Physiol 32:976–986.
- Dirr MA (1990) Manual of woody landscape plants. Stipes Publishing Company, Illinois.
- Epron D, Dreyer E (1992) Effects of severe dehydration on leaf photosynthesis in Quercus petraea (Matt.) Liebl.: photosystem II efficiency, photochemical and nonphotochemical fluorescence quenching and electrolyte leakage. Tree Physiol 10:273–284.
- Farooq M, Hussain M, Wahid A, Siddique KHM (2012) Drought stress in plants: An overview. In: Plant Responses to Drought Stress: From Morphological to Molecular Features. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 1–33.
- Fini A, Ferrini F, Frangi P, Amoroso G, Piatti R (2009) Withholding irrigation during the establishment phase affected growth and physiology of norway maple (Acer platanoides) and linden (Tilla spp.). Arboric Urban For 35:241–251.
- García L, Hernández J, Ayuga F (2006) Analysis of the materials and exterior texture of agro-industrial buildings: A photo-analytical approach to landscape integration. Landsc Urban Plan 74:110–124.
- Hakam N, Khanizadeh S, DeEll JR, Richer C (2000) Assessing chilling tolerance in roses using chlorophyll fluorescence. HortScience 35:184–186.
- Harris RW (1992) Arboriculture: integrated management of landscape trees, shrubs, and vines., Second Edi. Prentice-Hall International, Engelwood Cliffs, New Jersey, USA.
- Hillier N (1993) Hillier Manual of Trees and Shrubs. David & Charles plc.

- Kalaji HM, Jajoo A, Oukarroum A, Brestic M, Zivcak M, Samborska IA, Cetner MD, Łukasik I, Goltsev V, Ladle RJ (2016) Chlorophyll a fluorescence as a tool to monitor physiological status of plants under abiotic stress conditions. Acta Physiol Plant 38:102.
- Laanisto L, Niinemets Ü (2015) Polytolerance to abiotic stresses: How universal is the shade-drought tolerance trade-off in woody species? Glob Ecol Biogeogr 24:571–580.
- Martin PH (1999) Norway maple (Acer platanoides) invasion of a natural forest stand: understory consequence and regeneration pattern. Biol Invasions 1:215–222.
- Munns R, James RA, Sirault XRR, Furbank RT, Jones HG (2010) New phenotyping methods for screening wheat and barley for beneficial responses to water deficit. J Exp Bot 61:3499–3507.
- Niinemets Ü, Valladares F (2006) Tolerance to shade, drought, and waterlogging of temperate northern hemisphere trees and shrubs. Ecol Monogr 76:521–547.
- Ögren E (1990) Evaluation of chlorophyll fluorescence as a probe for drought stress in willow leaves. Plant Physiol 93:1280–1285.
- Oukarroum A, Madidi S El, Schansker G, Strasser RJ (2007) Probing the responses of barley cultivars (Hordeum vulgare L.) by chlorophyll a fluorescence OLKJIP under drought stress and re-watering. Environ Exp Bot 60:438–446.
- Oukarroum A, Schansker G, Strasser RJ (2009) Drought stress effects on photosystem i content and photosystem II thermotolerance analyzed using Chl a fluorescence kinetics in barley varieties differing in their drought tolerance. Physiol Plant 137:188–189.
- Percival GC (2002) Evaluation of Physiological Tests as Predictors of Young Tree Establishment and Growth. J Arboric 30:80–91.
- Percival GC, Keary IP, Al-Habsi S (2006) An assessment of the drought tolerance of Fraxinus genotypes for urban landscape plantings. Urban For Urban Green 5:17–27.
- Percival GC, Sheriffs CN (2002) Identification of drought-tolerant woody perennials using chlorophyll fluorescence. J Arboric 28:215–223.
- Redillas MCFR, Strasser RJ, Jeong JS, Kim YS, Kim JK (2011) The use of JIP test to evaluate droughttolerance of transgenic rice overexpressing OsNAC10. Plant Biotechnol Rep 5:169–175.
- Rong- Hua L, Guo PG, Michael B, Stefania G, Salvatore C (2006) Evaluation of chlorophyll content and fluorescence parameters as indicators of drought tolerance in Barley. Agric Sci China 5:751–757.
- Scherrer D, Bader MK-F, Körner C (2011) Drought-sensitivity ranking of deciduous tree species based on thermal imaging of forest canopies. Agric For Meteorol 151:1632–1640.
- Shu F (2008) ACER Linnaeus, Sp. Pl. 2: 1054. 1753. Flora of China 11:516–553.
- Sjöman H, Hirons AD, Bassuk NL (2015) Urban forest resilience through tree selection-Variation in drought tolerance in Acer. Urban For Urban Green 14:858–865.
- Southwood TRE (1961) The Number of Species of Insect Associated with Various Trees. 30:1-8.
- Stirbet A, Lazár D, Kromdijk J, Govindjee (2018) Chlorophyll a fluorescence induction: Can just a onesecond measurement be used to quantify abiotic stress responses? Photosynthetica 56:1–19.
- Strasser RJ, Srivastava A, Govindjee (1995) Polyphasic Chlorophyll a Fluorescence Transient in Plants and Cyanobacteria. Photochem Photobiol 61:32–42.
- Strauss AJ, Krüger GHJ, Strasser RJ, Heerden PDR Van (2006) Ranking of dark chilling tolerance in

soybean genotypes probed by the chlorophyll a fluorescence transient O-J-I-P. Environ Exp Bot 56:147–157.

- Touchette BW, Iannacone LR, Turner GE, Frank AR (2007) Drought tolerance versus drought avoidance: A comparison of plant-water relations in herbaceous wetland plants subjected to water withdrawal and repletion. Wetlands 27:656–667.
- Vahdati N, Tehranifar A, Kazemi F (2017) Assessing chilling and drought tolerance of different plant genera on extensive green roofs in an arid climate region in Iran. J Environ Manage 192:215–223.
- Vaz Monteiro M, Doick KJ, Lawrence V, Albertini A, Handley P (2017) Investigation into the drought tolerance of broadleaf street trees using chlorophyll fluorescence. Acta Hortic 1189
- Webb SL, Kaunzinger CK (1993) Biological Invasion of the Drew-University (New-Jersey) Forest Preserve by Norway Maple (Acer-Platanoides L). Bull Torrey Bot Club
- Yordanov I, Goltsev V, Stefanov D, Chernev P, Zaharieva I, Kirova M, Gecheva V, Jo R (2008) Preservation of photosynthetic electron transport from senescence-induced inactivation in primary leaves after decapitation and defoliation of bean plants. J Plant Physiol 165:1954–1963.
- Živčák M, Brestič M, Olšovská K, Slamka P (2008) Performance index as a sensitive indicator of water stress in Triticum aestivum L. Plant, Soil Environ 54:133–139.

## 5 Alternative Methods of Estimating the Water Potential at the Turgor Loss Point:

Evaluating closely related *Acer* genotypes using pressure-volume curves in comparison to vapour-pressure osmometer and dewpoint hygrometer measurements.

Jonathan M. Banks<sup>A,B\*</sup>, Andrew D. Hirons<sup>C</sup>

<sup>A</sup>School of Agriculture Policy and Development, The University of Reading, Reading, Berkshire RG6 6AR, UK; <sup>B</sup> Bartlett Tree Experts, Research Laboratory (UK) Reading, Berkshire RG2 9AF, UK; <sup>C</sup> University Centre Myerscough, Bilsborrow, Preston, Lancashire PR3 0RY, UK. \*correspondence author. E-mail:

Abstract: Selecting for drought tolerance in urban tree species can have a significant influence on survival rates, aftercare requirements and performance. The water potential at turgor loss point ( $\pi_{tip}$ ) is gaining popularity as a trait to help determine drought tolerance to aid tree selection. Therefore, it is important to understand if differing methods used to measure or calculate  $\pi_{tlp}$  deliver consistent results. The sensitivity of three methods used to determine this valuable selection parameter were evaluated. A classical pressure chamber, pressurevolume (P-V) curve method was compared with vapour-pressure osmometer (Vapro®) and dewpoint hygrometer (WP4C) methods. These methods were evaluated using closely related cultivars of Acer platanoides and A. pseudoplatanus 'Negenia'. Both the osmometer and hygrometer methods ranked genotypes with a very high similarity ( $R_s = 1$ ,  $R^2 = 0.96$ ) and were able to identify significant differences between cultivars. This is the first study to demonstrate suitability of the dewpoint hygrometer in comparison to the vapour-pressure osmometer to measure  $\pi_{tip}$ . The P-V method was unable to identify differences between the cultivars tested. The Vapro and WP4C provide greater applicability than the conventional P-V method to studies requiring both high throughput and high sensitivity. Consistency of measurement type is however highly recommended in future studies as some differences were observed between Vapro and WP4C.

**Key-words:** turgor loss point, pressure-volume curve, drought tolerance, pressure-bomb, osmometer, hygrometer

#### 5.1 Introduction

Trees within the urban environment often experience abiotic stresses (Gibbs and Palmer 1994, Jim 1998, Scharenbroch et al. 2017); that in-turn, can increase susceptibility to pest and diseases (Cregg and Dix 2001). Selecting for drought tolerance in urban tree species can have a significant influence on survival rates, aftercare requirements and future aesthetic and environmental benefits (Bassuk et

al. 2009, Roman et al. 2014, Sjöman et al. 2015). Tree selection is often focused on aesthetic characteristics (Vaz Monteiro et al. 2017), however, when tolerance is considered it is often based on personal experience and observation. Data from plant-use literature and scientific studies is frequently inconsistent between sources and often lacks specificity (Sjöman et al. 2015, 2018a). Increases in the frequency and severity of drought events are expected as a result of climate change (IPCC 2007, Bartlett et al. 2014, Pflug et al. 2018). Informed tree selection based on physiological or genetic drought tolerance traits is therefore increasingly desirable, facilitating selection for current and future environmental demands (Cattivelli et al. 2008). Foliar physiological traits are gaining popularity as they can determine physiological drought tolerance as opposed to drought avoidance strategies (Sjöman et al. 2015). Genotypes which avoid drought may shed leaves in response to drought stress or rely on extensive root systems to gather water (Mauseth 2011, Hirons and Thomas 2018), these strategies are not desirable for urban sites. Urban tree selection is clearly more nuanced than simply consideration of functional traits; however, improvements to current tolerance information is essential to aid and encourage appropriate selection (Desclaux et al. 2000). One physiological trait capable of identifying drought tolerance is the measurement of leaf water potential at permanent wilting or turgor loss ( $\pi_{tb}$ ) (Sack et al. 2003, Bartlett, Scoffoni, and Sack 2012). This trait is capable of characterising intraspecific drought tolerance (Sjöman et al. 2015). Techniques are now available to increase the speed of this measurement (Bartlett, Scoffoni, Ardy, et al. 2012) facilitating ecological scale studies (Maréchaux et al. 2015) and studies to aid appropriate tree selection between and within genera (Sjöman et al. 2015, 2018a, 2018b). Therefore, a range of approaches are currently being used to determine  $\pi_{tlp}$ . However, no study has evaluated the sensitivity of these alternative methods among closely related cultivars. In this study, the so-called direct measurements, using a vapour-pressure osmometer and dewpoint hygrometer to measure water potential are compared with a classical pressure-volume (P-V) curve method, measured on adjacent leaves. In this study, closely related genotypes are used to allow the sensitivity of measurement method to be evaluated.

P-V curves are the classical method of inferring a range of plant-water relation parameters (Tyree and Hammel 1972) and can provide information on genotypic drought tolerance using the parameter  $\pi_{tip}$  (Jane and Green 1983, Baltzer et al. 2008, Bartlett, Scoffoni, and Sack 2012). A more negative  $\pi_{tip}$  lengthens the functional range of foliar water potential (Lenz et al. 2006) and is thought to be achieved by a combination of osmotic adjustment (solute accumulation to increase cell hydration) and elastic adjustment (decreasing the point at which turgor loss occurs) (Dreyer et al. 1990, Sanders and Arndt 2012).  $\pi_{tip}$  is now considered the dominant determining factor of drought tolerance (Dreyer et al. 1990, Bartlett, Scoffoni, and Sack 2012). The production of P-V curves has one significant disadvantage; they are time-consuming to produce, meaning adequately large scale studies and

83

genetic screening are impractical (Corcuera et al. 2002, Callister et al. 2006, Sanders and Arndt 2012). Additionally, despite P-V curves being widely regarded as the classical method for determining water relation parameters, the comparative accuracy between methods has been frequently criticised (Parker and Pallardy 1988, Parker and Colombo 1995). This warrants further studies investigating alternative methods of measuring water potential ( $\Psi$ ) in plant tissue (Richter 1978, Callister et al. 2006, Martínez et al. 2013).

Direct measurements (vapour-pressure osmometer and dewpoint hygrometer), are rapid methods used to determine water potential (Callister et al. 2006). The dewpoint hygrometer (such as the WP4C, decagon devices Inc. München, Germany) uses the chilled-mirror dewpoint technique (Campbell et al. 1973) measuring water potential from zero to -300 MPa on ca. 35 mm diameter leaf discs (Decagon Devices 2007, Nardini et al. 2008). The dewpoint hygrometer measures the sum of osmotic and matric potential; it has been used successfully on leaves of tobacco and ivy (Nardini et al. 2008) and flowers of slipper orchid (Zhang et al. 2017). Relative difference between dewpoint hygrometer and pressure chamber measurements of water potential have been shown to be very similar ( $R^2$ =0.84) (Martínez et al. 2013). The vapour-pressure osmometer (Vapro®, Wescor, Logan UT, USA) measures solute concentration (osmolality) which can be converted to water potential using the Van 't Hoff equation; it can measure leaf discs of ca. 8 mm diameter (Callister et al. 2006, Maréchaux et al. 2015) or expressed sap (Turner 1981, Callister et al. 2006). Callister et al. (Callister et al. 2006) show osmometer osmotic potential ( $\pi$ ) measurements of expressed sap are comparable with those of parallel  $\pi$ pressure chamber readings. Bartlett et al. (Bartlett, Scoffoni, Ardy, et al. 2012) show that measurements of  $\pi$  on rehydrated freeze-thawed leaf discs can rapidly determine the osmotic potential at full rehydration or full turgor ( $\pi_0$ ). Bartlett et al. (Bartlett, Scoffoni, Ardy, et al. 2012) also demonstrated that  $\pi_0$  correlates to the  $\pi_{tlp}$ . They used vapour-pressure osmometer measurements taken from plants which had pressure chamber derived P-V curves, determined within four weeks of each other, for sixteen species. However, for fourteen additional species, the P-V curves had been calculated within the previous two years (Bartlett, Scoffoni, Ardy, et al. 2012). Significant adjustment of  $\pi_{tlp}$  is known to occur across a single season (Sjöman et al. 2015); however, additional meta-analysis has also shown a good correlation between  $\pi_0$  and  $\pi_{tlp}$  (Bartlett, Scoffoni, and Sack 2012), adding further validity to the measurement despite potential issue with the timing of the initial data collection. Sufficient evidence now exists to warrant large scale evaluations of  $\pi_{tlp}$ , calculated from  $\pi_0$ , using a vapour-pressure osmometer (Maréchaux et al. 2015, Sjöman et al. 2015, 2018a, 2018b). However, it is not yet clear if a dewpoint hygrometer can be used to evaluate  $\pi_{tip}$ . Therefore, this study aims to evaluate the accuracy of osmometer and hygrometer measurements in direct parallel to P-V curves using very closely related Acer genotypes.

#### 5.2 Materials and Method

#### 5.2.1 Plant material

Thirty-two seven-year-old, 4 m tall trees were used for this experiment arranged across three completely randomized linear rows. The following *Acer* genotypes were measured during this trial: *A. platanoides* 'Drummondii', *A. p.* 'Emerald Queen', *A. p.* 'Royal Red', *A. p.* 'Princeton Gold' and *A. pseudoplatanus* 'Negenia'. All measured cultivars were grafted onto their respective species-type rootstocks. Trees were potted during the winter of 2013/14 and grown at Barcham Trees nursery, Ely, Cambridgeshire, UK (52.366923° N, 0.315864° W) prior to being planted outside in March 2017 at the Bartlett Tree Research laboratory, Shinfield, Reading, Berkshire, UK (51.412393°N, -0.937909°W). Encircling roots were cut on all trees to aid establishment during the planting process. Trees were arranged across three rows, each measured cultivar was randomized within each row.

#### 5.2.2 Sample preparation

Two visually healthy leaves were removed *ca*. 30 cm below a terminal bud on the lower limb (ca. 2 m high) of each tree; opposite leaves were selected to ensure the closest similarity in physiological age. Leaves were collected between 16:00 and 17:00 on the 24<sup>th</sup> July to the 9<sup>th</sup> of August 2017. Leaves were removed from the tree by snapping at the axil union and immediately returned to the laboratory (within <2 minutes). In the laboratory, leaves were immediately weighed and petioles re-cut underwater (ca. 1 cm away from the petiole base), petioles and cut petiole portions were left in water to fully hydrate in the dark for ca. 12 hours. Hydrating leaves were left in an insulated container during this time kept near 100% relative humidity (average vapour-pressure deficit (Allen et al. 1998) equalled 0.01 (±0.03)). Individual, fully hydrated leaves were removed from the container, patted dry and immediately weighted and processed using either the pressure chamber P-V curve method or direct methods.

#### 5.2.3 Pressure-Volume Curves

Pressure-volume curves were calculated in accordance with the sap expression method; the method was similar to that used by Parker and Pallardy (Parker and Pallardy 1988). Whole undamaged leaves were sealed inside a pressure chamber (model 600D, PMS instruments Co., Albany, USA) with a piece of damp filter paper to reduce water loss. The average initial balance pressure was -0.13 MPa ( $\pm$  0.007). Leaves which did not hydrate to an initial  $\Psi$  of >-0.2 MPa were discarded (Lenz et al. 2006). Incremental pressures of 0.2 MPa were applied to the leaf, beginning at 0.2 MPa. P-V curves were halted at -2.4 MPa or when greater than three data points were in the linear portion of the graph. Total expressed sap at each pressure was absorbed in pre-weighed 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes filled with dry low-lint absorbent tissue paper (Kimtech Science, Kent, UK). Tubes were handled and opened for

the minimum possible time during sap collection to prevent evaporation. Leaves were weighed immediately following the final measurement, facilitating determination of the average uncollected water (4.7%). Leaves were then dried for >48 hours at 60°C. P-V curves were plotted as 100-RWC (relative water content) (D) on the x axis, against -1/MPa (y axis). RWC was calculated following the method of Lansac et al. (1994). Overhydration, or plateau effects were corrected where appropriate in accordance with the method described by (Dichio et al. 2003). Water potential at the turgor loss point ( $\pi_{ttp}$ ) was calculated based on a method developed by Schulte and Hickley (Schulte and Hinckley 1985), obtained from: landflux.org/resources/PV\_Curve\_Fitting\_5.6.xls. This method has also been used by (Bucci et al. 2004, Mitchell et al. 2013, Arndt et al. 2015).



Figure 5.1 Representative Pressure-Volume curve. The square indicates the turgor loss point.

#### 5.2.4 Direct Measurements

Two leaf discs, 35 mm and 8 mm diameter, (dewpoint hygrometer and vapor pressure osmometer respectively) were taken between the mid-rib and margin on the lower quartile of the opposing leaf used in the P-V curve. Leaf discs were foil wrapped and submerged in liquid nitrogen. Prior to the measurement, leaf discs were punctured 10-15 times with sharp-tipped forceps to improve equilibration times (Maréchaux et al. 2015).

Dewpoint hygrometer (WP4C, decagon devices Inc. München, Germany) measurements were taken with the device in its continuous mode, connected to the AquaLink data logging software (decagon devices) on a laptop computer. One measurement per leaf was recorded when values became stable (ca. 15-20 min.). Stability was assessed graphically for each leaf disc. The WP4C measures total water potential which is the sum total of gravitational, matric, osmotic and pressure potentials. In freeze

thawed leaf discs it is putatively assumed that gravitational, matric and pressure potentials are all zero or negligible, therefore, in this study, osmotic potential is the considered component.

Osmometer measurements were taken with a vapour pressure osmometer (Vapro 5600, Wescor, Logan UT, USA) using the standard 10µl chamber. Measurements were made in accordance with the method detailed by Sjöman et al. (Sjöman et al. 2018a).

For measurements made using the Osmometer, solute concentration (mmol kg<sup>-1</sup>) was converted to water potential using Van 't Hoff's equation:

$$\pi_0 = -CRT$$

Equation 5.1 Van 't Hoff Equation, where C is the molar solute concentration (mmol  $kg^{-1}$ ), R is the universal gas constant (8.3144598E-0.6) in  $m^3$  MPa  $K^{-1}$  mol<sup>-1</sup>, T is the temperature (K) (Khare 2015).

Dewpoint hygrometer and vapor pressure osmometer are hereafter referred to as WP4C and Vapro for simplicity.

Both direct measurements were converted into  $\hat{\pi}_{pv}$  using the equation determined by Bartlett et al. (Bartlett, Scoffoni, Ardy, et al. 2012).

$$\hat{\pi}_{pv} = 0.587\pi - 0.546$$

Equation 5.2 conversion from osmometer measurement ( $\pi$ ) to predicted P-V ( $\pi_{pv}$ ) measurement (Bartlett, Scoffoni, Ardy, et al. 2012).

 $\pi_{tlp}$  was calculated from  $\pi_0$  using the regression equation adapted for temperate species by Sjöman et al. (Sjöman et al. 2015) originally calculated from the supplementary data published by (Bartlett, Scoffoni, and Sack 2012):

$$\pi_{\text{TLP}} = -0.2554 + 1.1243 \times \pi_0$$

Equation 5.3 Adapted equation facilitating prediction of  $\pi_{TLP}$  ( $\Psi_{PO}$ ) from  $\pi_0$  ( $\Psi_{\pi 100}$ ) (R2=0.91) (notation in parentheses is the notation used by Sjöman et al. (Sjöman et al. 2015). The notation used here correspond to Bartlett et al. (Bartlett, Scoffoni, and Sack 2012).

#### 5.2.5 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GenStat 17<sup>th</sup> edition. Following tests for normality, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to test for differences between means. Linear regression ( $R^2$ ) and Spearman's rank correlation coefficient ( $r_s$ ) was also calculated in order to describe the relationship between readings. Post-hoc analysis was performed using a Tukey's 95% confidence interval.

#### 5.3 Results

A significant effect of both genotype and measurement method (p = <0.001 for both) was observed. However, a significant interaction between genotype (cultivar) and method was observed following a two-way ANOVA (p = <0.001). Data was therefore compared overall with cultivars nested within measurement method.



Figure 5.2 Showing  $\pi$ tlp for each method. Error bars show standard error. Letters denote significant differences (Duncan multiple range test) between cultivars nested in method at the 95% confidence interval. A. platanoides 'Drummondii', A. p. 'Emerald Queen', A. p. 'Royal Red', A. p. 'Princeton Gold' and A. pseudoplatanus 'Negenia'. Between species analysis for each measurement method P = <0.001 for Vapro and WP4C, P = 0.938 for P-V  $\pi$ tlp.

Similarities between measurements was determined using a correlation coefficient ( $R^2$ ) and Spearman's rank correlation coefficient ( $R_s$ ). P-V measurements were excluded from correlation comparisons as no significant differences were discovered between cultivars. The Vapro and WP4C provided the same rank ( $R_s = 1$ ) and highly similar correlation coefficient ( $R^2 = 0.96$ ). Values of  $\pi_0$ provided the same comparative ranking as  $\pi_{TLP}$ .

Correcting measurements using Equation 5.2 is highly important, especially if values are to be compared against P-V curve data. Equation 5.2 improved similarity to P-V curves by an average of ca. 5% for both Vapro and WP4C. However, in this study significant and species-specific differences occurred with both devices when compared to the P-V method (Figure 5.2).

#### 5.4 Discussion

In this study, the pressure chamber pressure-volume (P-V) curve method was unable to identify significant differences between the closely related cultivars tested (p = 0.938). However, both direct measurements tested (WP4C and Vapro), identified highly significant differences between cultivars (p = <0.001). This is the first study to our knowledge to demonstrate the suitability of the dewpoint hygrometer (WP4C) in comparison to the P-V curve and vapour-pressure osmometer (Vapro) methods

when measuring  $\pi_{tlp}$ . Significant differences between measurement methods were present for all cultivars except *A. pseudoplatanus* 'Negenia' (p = 0.092) and *A. platanoides* 'Princeton Gold' (p = 0.112) despite the use of the correction factor described by Bartlett et al. (Bartlett, Scoffoni, Ardy, et al. 2012) (Equation 5.3). No difference in rank however was observed between the WP4C and Vapro (R<sub>s</sub> = 1). The Vapro returned results comparably closer to those from P-V curves. The Vapro and WP4C differed from P-V values at an average 0.04 MPa (±0.055) and 0.20 MPa (±0.057) respectively, these differences are not however thought to be practically significant for species selection. Therefore, either device can be utilised for tolerance studies.

As suggested by Zhang et al. (Zhang et al. 2017) and Martínez et al. (Martínez et al. 2013) more negative values (average -26.5%, without correction, Equation 5.3) were observed using both devices in comparison to the pressure chamber. Many theories exist to explain why thermocouple and hygrometer devices measure more negatively than pressure chambers, including water loss during leaf excision as well as active accumulation of solutes by neighbouring undamaged tissue (Barrs and Kramer 1969, Martínez et al. 2013). Zhang et al. (Zhang et al. 2017) however, also discuss simply that the measurement is of the air above the sample, thus a more negative  $\Psi$  is returned. It is however imperative that the air above the sample is in equilibration with the sample, consequently we assume Zhang et al. (Zhang et al. 2017) discussion is based on the assumption that losses in water potential may occur in locations where sample water potential is more negative than ambient humidity. Therefore, a decrease in sample water potential would occur in order to reach equilibration. If this was the case, more negative values would be expected from the WP4C owing to the greater leaf to chamber volume (0.27 mm<sup>3</sup> ml<sup>-1</sup> vs 2.3 mm<sup>3</sup> ml<sup>-1</sup> for WP4C and Vapro respectively); in this trial this did not occur.

In some circumstances, utilisation of the Vapro device can be recommended; the larger leaf disc size required by the WP4C, reduces the ability to evaluate plants with smaller or more complex leaf areas without adaptation of the method. Previous studies have also utilised the Vapro to evaluate relatively large genotypic selection (Sjöman et al. 2015, 2018a, 2018b). In future studies, we recommend a process of cross calibration with previous studies using species in common in order to place genotypes within the drought tolerance continuum.

#### 5.5 Conclusion

The Vapro and WP4C provide greater applicability than the conventional P-V method to studies requiring high throughput and high sensitivity. Data presented here reveals the sensitivity of the vapour-pressure osmometer and dewpoint hygrometer methods to measure  $\pi_{tlp}$  characterising the drought tolerance of closely related genotypes. Data identifies no difference in rank between results

from both WP4C and Vapro. Some significant differences were however observed between Vapro and WP4C (Figure 5.2) therefore consistency of measurement type is recommended in future studies. Poor sensitivity was observed when using the P-V method, therefore, future studies should utilise either the vapour-pressure osmometer or dewpoint hygrometer in order to provide rapid and sensitive genotypic drought tolerance quantifications.

#### 5.6 Acknowledgements

The authors thank Glynn Percival, Luke Hailey and Kerry Renshaw for helpful advice and discussions on the manuscript. We also thank Lawren Sack for helpful comments and advice on the manuscript and Kevin Tu for assistance using his PV curve fitting tool. Additional thanks are due to Bartlett Tree Experts for supporting this research.

#### 5.7 Reference List

- Allen RG, Pereira LS, Raes D, Smith M (1998) Crop evapotranspiration- guidelines fo computing crop water requirements. FAO Irrig Drain Pap 56:1–15.
- Arndt SK, Irawan A, Sanders GJ (2015) Apoplastic water fraction and rehydration techniques introduce significant errors in measurements of relative water content and osmotic potential in plant leaves. Physiol Plant 155:355–368.
- Baltzer JL, Davies SJ, Bunyavejchewin S, Noor NSM (2008) The role of desiccation tolerance in determining tree species distributions along the Malay-Thai Peninsula. Funct Ecol 22:221–231.
- Barrs HD, Kramer PJ (1969) Water potential increase in sliced leaf tissue as a cause of error in vapor phase determinations of water potential. Plant Physiol 44:959–964.
- Bartlett MK, Scoffoni C, Ardy R, Zhang Y, Sun S, Cao K, Sack L (2012) Rapid determination of comparative drought tolerance traits: using an osmometer to predict turgor loss point. Methods Ecol Evol 3:880–888.
- Bartlett MK, Scoffoni C, Sack L (2012) The determinants of leaf turgor loss point and prediction of drought tolerance of species and biomes: A global meta-analysis. Ecol Lett 15:393–405.
- Bartlett MK, Zhang Y, Kreidler N, Sun S, Ardy R, Cao K, Sack L (2014) Global analysis of plasticity in turgor loss point, a key drought tolerance trait. Ecol Lett 17:1580–1590.
- Bassuk N, Curtis D, Marranca B, Neal B (2009) Recommended Urban Trees: Site Assessment and Tree Selection for Stress Tolerance. Urban Horticulture Institute, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY.
- Bucci SJ, Goldstein G, Meinzer FC, Scholz FG, Franco AC, Bustamante M (2004) Bucci et al. Functional convergence in hydraulic architecture and water relations of tropical savanna trees from leaf to whole plant. :891–899.
- Callister AN, Arndt SK, Adams MA (2006) Comparison of four methods for measuring osmotic potential of tree leaves. Physiol Plant 127:383–392.
- Campbell EC, Campbell GS, Barlow WK (1973) A dewpoint hygrometer for water potential measurement. Agric Meteorol 12:113–121.
- Cattivelli L, Rizza F, Badeck F-W, Mazzucotelli E, Mastrangelo AM, Francia E, Marè C, Tondelli A, Stanca AM (2008) Drought tolerance improvement in crop plants: An integrated view from breeding to genomics. F Crop Res 105:1–14.
- Corcuera L, Camarero JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E (2002) Functional groups in Quercus species derived from the analysis of pressure-volume curves. Trees Struct Funct 16:465–472.
- Cregg B, Dix ME (2001) Tree moisure stress and insect damage in urban areas in relation to heat island effects. J Arboric 27:8–17.
- Decagon Devices I (2007) Dewpoint PotentiaMeter. WP4C PotenciaMeter Oper Manual, Version 2:66.
- Desclaux D, Huynh TT, Roumet P (2000) Identification of soybean plant characteristics that indicate the timing of drought stress. Crop Sci 40:716–722.
- Dichio B, Xiloyannis C, Angelopoulos K, Nuzzo V, Bufo SA, Celano G (2003) Drought-induced variations of water relations parameters in Olea europaea. Plant Soil 381:381–389.
- Dreyer E, Bousquet F, Ducrey M (1990) Use of pressure volume curves in water relation analysis on woody shoots: influence of rehydration and comparison of four European oak species. Ann For Sci 47:285–297.

- Gibbs JN, Palmer CA (1994) A survey of damage to roadside trees in london caused by the application of de-icing salt during the 1990/91 winter. Arboric J 18:321–343.
- Hirons AD, Thomas PA (2018) Environmental Challenges for Trees. In: Applied Tree Biology. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester, UK, pp 351–389.
- IPCC (2007) Climate change 2007 : impacts, adaptation and vulnerability : Working Group II contribution to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Work Gr II Contrib to Intergov Panel Clim Chang Fourth Assess Rep 1:976.
- Jane GT, Green TGA (1983) Utilisation of pressure-volume techniques and non-linear least squares analysis to investigate site induced stresses in evergreen trees. Oecologia 57:380–390.
- Jim CY (1998) Physical and chemical properties of a Hong Kong roadside soil in relation to urban tree growth. Urban Ecosyst 2:171–181.
- Khare R (2015) A new approach to derivation of Van 't Hoff equation for osmotic pressure of a dilute solution. :172–174.
- Lansac AR, Zaballos JP, Martin A (1994) Seasonal water potential changes and proline accumulation in mediterranean shrubland species. Vegetatio 113:141–154.
- Lenz TI, Wright IJ, Westoby M (2006) Interrelations among pressure-volume curve traits across species and water availability gradients. Physiol Plant 127:423–433.
- Maréchaux I, Bartlett MK, Sack L, Baraloto C, Engel J, Joetzjer E, Chave J (2015) Drought tolerance as predicted by leaf water potential at turgor loss point varies strongly across species within an Amazonian forest. Funct Ecol 29:1268–1277.
- Martínez EM, Rey BJ, Fandiño M, Cancela JJ (2013) Comparison of two techniques for measuring leaf water potential in Vitis vinifera var. Albariño. J Vitic Enol 28:29–41.
- Mauseth JD (2011) Botany: An Introduction to Plant Biology, 4th Editio. Jones & Bartlett.
- Mitchell PJ, O'Grady AP, Tissue DT, White DA, Ottenschlaeger ML, Pinkard EA (2013) Drought response strategies define the relative contributions of hydraulic dysfunction and carbohydrate depletion during tree mortality. New Phytol 197:862–872.
- Nardini A, Gortan E, Ramani M, Salleo S (2008) Heterogeneity of gas exchange rates over the leaf surface in tobacco : an effect of hydraulic architecture ? :804–812.
- Parker WC, Colombo and SJ (1995) A critical re-examination of pressure-volume analysis of conifer shoots: comparison of three procedures for generating *PV* curves on shoots of *Pinus resinosa* Ait. seedlings. J Exp Bot 46:1701–1709.
- Parker WC, Pallardy SG (1988) Pressure–volume analysis of leaves of *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. with the sap expression and free transpiration methods. Can J For Res 18:1211–1213.
- Pflug EE, Buchmann N, Siegwolf RTW, Schaub M, Rigling A, Arend M (2018) Resilient Leaf Physiological Response of European Beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) to Summer Drought and Drought Release. Front Plant Sci 9
- Richter H (1978) Water relations of single drying leaves: Evaluation with a dewpoint hygrometer. J Exp Bot 29:277–280.
- Roman LA, Battles JJ, McBride JR (2014) Determinants of establishment survival for residential trees in Sacramento County, CA. Landsc Urban Plan 129:22–31.
- Sack L, Cowan PD, Jaikumar N, Holbrook NM (2003) The 'hydrology' of leaves: co ordination of

structure and function in temperate woody species. Plant, Cell Environ 26:1343–1356.

- Sanders GJ, Arndt SK (2012) Osmotic adjustment under drought conditions. In: Aroca R (ed) Plant Responses to Drought Stress: From Morphological to Molecular Features. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp 199–229.
- Scharenbroch BC, Carter D, Bialecki M, Fahey R, Scheberl L, Catania M, Roman LA, Bassuk N, Harper RW, Werner L, Siewert A, Miller S, Hutyra L, Raciti S (2017) A rapid urban site index for assessing the quality of street tree planting sites. Urban For Urban Green 27:279–286.
- Schulte PJ, Hinckley TM (1985) A Comparison of Pressure-Volume Curve Data Analysis Techniques. J Exp Bot 36:1590–1602.
- Sjöman H, Hirons AD, Bassuk NL (2015) Urban forest resilience through tree selection-Variation in drought tolerance in Acer. Urban For Urban Green 14:858–865.
- Sjöman H, Hirons AD, Bassuk NL (2018a) Magnolias as urban trees a preliminary evaluation of drought tolerance in seven magnolia species. Arboric J:1–10.
- Sjöman H, Hirons AD, Bassuk NL (2018b) Improving confidence in tree species selection for challenging urban sites: a role for leaf turgor loss. Urban Ecosyst 21:1171–1188.
- Turner NC (1981) Techniques and experimental approaches for the measurement of plant water status. Plant Soil 58:339–366.
- Tyree MT, Hammel HT (1972) The Measurement of the Turgor Pressure and the Water Relations of Plants by the Pressure-bomb Technique. J Exp Bot 23:267–282.
- Vaz Monteiro M, Doick KJ, Lawrence V, Albertini A, Handley P (2017) Investigation into the drought tolerance of broadleaf street trees using chlorophyll fluorescence. Acta Hortic 1189
- Zhang F-P, Yang Y-J, Yang Q-Y, Zhang W, Brodribb TJ, Hao G-Y, Hu H, Zhang S-B (2017) Floral Mass per Area and Water Maintenance Traits Are Correlated with Floral Longevity in Paphiopedilum (Orchidaceae). Front Plant Sci 08:1–9.

## 6 Variations in Seasonal Drought

### **Tolerance Rankings**

Jonathan M. Banks<sup>1,2</sup>, Glynn C. Percival<sup>1</sup>, Gillian Rose<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Bartlett Tree Experts, Research Laboratory (UK) Reading, Berkshire RG2 9AF, UK.

<sup>2</sup> School of Agriculture Policy and Development, The University of Reading, Reading, Berkshire RG6 6AR, UK.

**Abstract**: Drought is one of the most common and significant disorders affecting tree establishment and growth, in the urban environment. Consequently, improving tree selection by the provision of quantifiable tolerance data by which to evaluate genotypes is an important area of scientific research. A number of in vitro studies address drought tolerance in isolation, at a single time point during the growing season. Using an invitro foliar dehydration method to evaluate closely related cultivars of *Acer platanoides, A. pseudoplatanus* and *A. campestre* drought tolerance rankings were not found to be consistent throughout the growing season (spring, summer and autumn). i.e. A. *pseudoplatanus* 'Negenia' was found to be comparatively drought tolerance in summer and autumn; as measured using in vitro foliar dehydration as a proxy for drought tolerance. Drought conditions are most severe and common in summer; however, this study discusses the need to consider spring tolerance in addition to summer or autumn, particularly when selecting trees for tough urban sites, prone to drought stress across all three seasons.

Keywords: drought, drought tolerance, foliar dehydration, turgor loss point, Acer

#### 6.1 Introduction

Drought is one of the most common and significant disorders affecting tree establishment and growth (Aranda et al. 2012). The frequency and intensity of drought events is likely to increase with climate change (IPCC 2007, Bartlett et al. 2014, Pflug et al. 2018); this is particularly true within urban areas, where root zone limitations (Kopinga 1991, Volder et al. 2009) and the urban heat island effect (Cregg and Dix 2001) decrease water availability and increase vapour pressure deficit and evapotranspiration respectively. Species selection can significantly affect survival prospects (Roman et al. 2014). Low-value and short-lived plants can be rapidly replaced with plant material that exhibits more appropriate tolerance characteristics. However, for longer-lived and higher-value plants, such as urban trees, replacement is undesirable. Appropriate tree selection for future climatic conditions is therefore of

increasing importance to prevent losses due to inappropriate selection (Roman et al. 2014). Tree selectors however, have been criticised for selecting trees based on aesthetic criteria, rather than tolerance traits (Vaz Monteiro et al. 2017). Additionally, the information available to tree selectors is often ambiguous, conflicting and lacking in appropriate specificity (Sjöman et al. 2015). A number of in vitro empirical methods are currently available which can address some of the problems associated with the current paradigm of tree selection. However, the seasonal specificity of such tolerance evaluation methods requires further study. It is clear that drought tolerance is a trait which develops (Sjöman et al. 2015) as environmentally imposed drought risk increases. However, it is not yet clear if, or at what point, tolerance rankings maintain consistency throughout the course of a growing season.

Large scale drought trials are important (Ryan 2011) but not generally practical to undertake on a wide range of trees owing to cost and time needed to reach maturity in comparison to most crop plants. In vitro experimentation is therefore essential to evaluate whole tree genotypic drought tolerance without undertaking whole tree drought trials. Percival & Sheriffs (2002) and Faraloni et al. (2011) show dehydration of excised foliage can act as a viable proxy for whole-plant drought experiments. Plant root detachment and dehydration has also been used to represent drought stress in Arabidopsis rosettes (Catala et al. 2007). Leaf dehydration studies account for foliar anatomical and morphological adaptations such as trichomes, sunken stomata, thick cuticles and reduced leaf size. Another method currently gaining traction is the measurement or estimation of water potential at the turgor loss point  $(\pi_{tlp})$  (Maréchaux et al. 2015, Sjöman et al. 2015, 2018); this measure is indicative of the permanent wilting point (Bartlett, Scoffoni, and Sack 2012). The  $\pi_{tlp}$  is known also to reflect the point below which a plant cannot take up sufficient soil water, and is therefore considered a 'higher-level' drought tolerance trait (Bartlett et al. 2014). Foliar-focused measurements are unlikely to account for whole plant adaptations, such as foliage shedding, stem water storage mechanisms or structures (e.g. succulents or cacti) and deep rooting strategies, further discussed by Bartlett et al. (2012). Experimentation has however revealed the validity of foliar-focused measurement's when compared against whole plant studies, either directly or via meta-analysis (Percival and Sheriffs 2002, Bartlett, Scoffoni, and Sack 2012, Bartlett et al. 2014). Additionally, many drought avoidance mechanisms (foliage shedding) are undesirable for trees planted in the urban environment (Sjöman et al. 2015). Measurements which exclude these avoidance factors, such as measurements of  $\pi_{tip}$  and foliar dehydration studies, are therefore of potential benefit to those involved in the selection of urban trees.

A tree's ability to adapt to drought stress events throughout a season facilitates a balance between the costs and benefits of maintaining tolerance traits (Postma and Jaramillo 2008, Bigler 2016). Most water is lost from the leaves of woody plants (Pallardy 2007); therefore, adaptations are primarily
located in the foliage. Stomatal closure is the primary means of reducing water loss, maintaining turgor and extending the range of foliar function under minor to moderate drought (Arndt et al. 2001). However, this reduces the rate of photosynthesis while increasing the risk of photoinhibition (Takahashi and Murata 2008). Under more severe drought, developmental water deficit tolerance mechanisms involve the maintenance, and extension of cellular tolerance to reduced relative water content (RWC). Plants can alter their drought tolerance by reallocation of root/shoot dry matter and other molecular changes (Kozlowski and Pallardy 2002). True tolerance mechanisms however, involve the maintenance of cellular turgidity through cellular osmotic potential (osmoregulation) and tissue elasticity (Kozlowski and Pallardy 2002), both mechanisms and are capable of fluctuating throughout the course of a season.

Osmoregulation involves the local synthesis of osmotically active metabolites, resulting in osmotic adjustment (Arndt et al. 2001, Burg and Ferraris 2008), increasing osmotic gradients and maintaining cellular turgidity (Farooq et al. 2012). Turgor maintenance is required in order for growth to continue during drought events (Clifford 1998). Increases in inorganic ion concentrations (sodium, calcium and potassium) for this purpose however, can perturb protein function (Burg and Ferraris 2008). Therefore organic osmolytes are also used, such as proline and glycine betaine (Bohnert 1995). Significant growth period, seasonal, environmental and species-specific fluctuations in osmolytes are known to occur (Bohnert and Jensen 1996, Murakeözy et al. 2003, Regier et al. 2010, Ryan 2011). Current evidence suggests osmolyte levels in foliage are highest in spring and lowest in the summer months (Lansac et al. 1994, Murakeözy et al. 2003, Bandurska et al. 2009). Conversely, inorganic ions and carbohydrates tend to accumulate across the seasons (Murakeözy et al. 2003); however, significant seasonal and intraspecific variations in stored and utilised carbohydrates in response to drought are known to occur (Regier et al. 2010, McDowell 2011, Ryan 2011, Brunner et al. 2015). Osmoregulation is not however a universal strategy (Pallardy 2007); Acer saccharum (Bahari et al. 1985), Fagus sylvatica and Quercus petraea (Backes and Leuschner 2000), for example, were reported to exhibit little or no osmotic adjustment.

Tissue elasticity or elastic modulus ( $\epsilon$ ) can also influence drought tolerance variation throughout a season. Elastic modulus is defined as the pressure required to cause a unit change in cell volume (Verslues et al. 2006). It is well documented that (other variables being equal) a more elastic tissue, low  $\epsilon$ , is more capable of maintaining turgor under relatively large water losses (Kozlowski and Pallardy 2002, Verslues et al. 2006, Pallardy 2007). However, highly elastic cells which exhibit significant osmotic adjustment may be at risk of damage upon rehydration (Clifford 1998). Decreased elasticity (greater rigidity, high  $\epsilon$ ) tends to maintain RWC as water potential and cell volume decrease (Clifford 1998, Pallardy 2007). This is observed in scleromorphic and coriaceous (texture of leather) leaves

which are often considered drought resistant (Ogaya and Peñuelas 2006, De Micco and Aronne 2012). Both increases and decreases in elasticity therefore have been associated with tolerance to drought (Clifford 1998, Pallardy 2007). *Acer saccharum* trees have been shown to display seasonal variations in  $\varepsilon$  from ca. 5 MPa in mid-May to 18 MPa in July, lowering again to 7 MPa in October (Tyree et al. 1978). However, differences in elastic response to drought have been noted to diverge even in closelyrelated species of the same genus (Pallardy 2007). Divergence may in some cases however, be as a result of other ecological strategies such as resistance to herbivory (Powell et al. 2017).

Acer saccharum has been shown to exhibit little osmoregulation through the seasons (Bahari et al. 1985). However, significant variation in elasticity is recorded by Tyree et al. (1978). They also noted seasonal variations in  $\pi_{tlp}$  (incipient plasmolysis), identifying values ca. 1 MPa in May rising rapidly to ca. 1.8 MPa by June before gradually rising to ca. 2 MPa by October (Tyree et al. 1978). Sjöman et al. (2015, 2018) also identify seasonal change in  $\pi_{tlp}$  within a range of *Acer* and *Magnolia* species and cultivars. They identify that spring tolerance is lower and the species tested rank differently in comparison to summer tolerance (Sjöman et al. 2015, 2018). Little information is however available to suggest if tolerance levels are maintained or decline following summer tolerance acquisition. Additional data regarding seasonal variation is not available for other species and cultivars within the *Acer* genus. A range of information is important as differences in both osmoregulation and elastic adjustment have been noted in closely-related species (Pallardy 2007). This study uses species and cultivars from the *Acer* genus as a model for the drought tolerance of very closely related deciduous tree species. The seasonal consistency of foliar desiccation is determined and compared to summer measurements of  $\pi_{tlp}$  and whole tree drought tolerance.

#### 6.2 Materials and Methods

#### 6.2.1 Plant Material

All *Acer* species represented within this trial are commonly utilised as urban street trees. A range of genotypes with contrasting intraspecific foliar and crown characteristics were selected. All cultivars used were grafted onto their respective species-type rootstocks. Eighty, seven-year-old 4.2 m ( $\pm$  0.3) tall trees with a DBH of 50.7mm ( $\pm$ 7.9) growing in 45 litre Light Pots<sup>TM</sup> (white, mypex woven grow bags) grafted onto their respective species-type rootstocks were used for this experiment. The potting substrate consisted of a 50:50 green waste and pine bark compost mix, with a pH of 7.7. Eighty trees from the following genotypes were used: *A. campestre, A. campestre* 'Louisa Red Shine', *A. platanoides* 'Drummondii', *A. platanoides* 'Emerald Queen', *A. platanoides* 'Princeton Gold', *A. platanoides* 'Royal Red', *A. pseudoplatanus* 'Negenia', and *A. pseudoplatanus* 'Spaethii'. For the duration of this experiment, all trees were kept outside, at Barcham Trees nursery, Ely,

Cambridgeshire (52.366923° N, 0.315864° W). All experimental trees were arranged in a single row, either side of which was bordered by two rows of nursery trees of equal size to minimise edge effects. Experimental trees were arranged in 5 repeat blocks, each containing 8 randomly placed specimens representing all aforementioned *Acer* genotypes.

#### 6.2.2 Whole Tree Drought Treatment

A watering treatment (irrigated or non-irrigated) was alternated between blocks, and all trees allocated to the irrigated treatment were drip-irrigated with ca. 5 litres of water per day. Drought treatment was initiated by detaching irrigation lines from non-irrigated trees. Drought was augmented by installing black plastic rain covers over all root balls (irrigated and non-irrigated) to exclude rainfall and by raising all pots ca. 75mm off the ground to avoid water uptake from the ground, which was covered in pea gravel.

Drought was initiated on the 27<sup>th</sup> July 2016 and continued until the 9<sup>th</sup> of August. Measurements were made on three leaves per tree on the 18<sup>th</sup> July (-216 hours prior to irrigation removal), 4<sup>th</sup> August (192 hours) and 9<sup>th</sup> August (310 hours).

#### 6.2.3 In Vitro Dehydration Treatment

Three leaves from each of the 80 experimental trees were collected. Leaves were collected from the second and third node region as these displayed appropriate maturity and would putatively provide greater consistency. Spring foliage collection commenced once foliage was deemed to have reached maturity following leaf flush i.e. developed mature colouration and structure. This occurred on the 11<sup>th</sup> May 2016 (hereafter referred to as spring). Summer foliage collection took place on 20<sup>th</sup> June 2016 (summer). Autumn collection occurred immediately as the first signs of senescence (leaf colour change (Ougham et al. 2005)) were visible in nearby healthy early indicator species (Prunus spp.), this occurred on the 23<sup>rd</sup> September 2015 (autumn). Initial measurements for each season were confirmed to demonstrate a "normal" polyphasic OJIP fluorescence rise to ensure immaturity or senescence would not influence results (data not shown) (Holland et al. 2014). Immediately after removal, all leaves were sealed in Ziploc plastic bags and kept in the dark while being transferred to the laboratory. Chlorophyll fluorescence (CF) was measured on these leaves between 11<sup>th</sup> and 16<sup>th</sup> May 2016 (spring), 21st and 29th June 2016 (summer), 23<sup>rd</sup> and 26<sup>th</sup> September 2015 (autumn). Measurements were initiated immediately upon arrival at the laboratory. Immediately after the first measurements, leaves were laid out across the laboratory bench and left to dehydrate. Leaves were arranged in a completely randomised block design ensuring each leaf had >1cm peripheral zone to reduce effects on nearby leaves. Laboratory conditions were measured using Tinytag plus TGP-4500 (Gemini Data Loggers Ltd.

Chichester, West Sussex, UK). Vapour pressure deficit (VPD) was calculated as the saturation vapour pressure ( $e_s$ ) multiplied by the inverse of relative humidity (%) divided by 100:

$$e_s = 6.1078 \times e\left[\frac{a(T-273.16)}{T-b}\right]$$

Equation 6.1 Calculation of the saturation vapor pressure where T = temperature in °C, a = 17.2693882, b = 35.86, e is the mathematical constant  $\approx 2.71828$ . (Kirkham 2014, Shamshiri et al. 2017)

The laboratory was kept at an average VPD of: 0.34 (±0.13) spring, 0.57 (±0.14) summer, 0.34 (±0.15) autumn. The windowless laboratory was kept in darkness at all times apart from when measurements were taking place (<3 hours per day). Measurements of CF were taken each day at: 8, 22, 30, 46, 72 and 120 hours after removal from the trees (Spring); 20, 43, 67, 91, 163 and 211 hours (summer); 5, 25, 29, 46 and 79 hours (Autumn).

#### 6.2.4 Pressure-Volume Curves

Pressure-volume curves were calculated between the 12<sup>th</sup> and 22<sup>nd</sup> of July 2016 in accordance with the sap expression method; similar to that used by Parker and Pallardy (1988). Six healthy, representative leaves were collected from each cultivar at random from the 80 experimental trees throughout the measurement period. Leaves were collected and remove to the laboratory in sealed plastic bags within 15 minutes. Petioles were re-cut underwater and left to rehydrate overnight (>15 hours). Leaves were then sealed inside a pressure chamber (model 1505D EXP, PMS instruments Co., Albany, USA). The average initial balance pressure was -0.07MPa (±0.017). Leaves which did not hydrate to an initial water potential of <-0.2MPa were discarded (Lenz et al. 2006). Incremental pressures of 0.2MPa were applied to the leaf, beginning at 0.2MPa. P-V curves were halted at 2.2MPa if at least three data points were in the linear portion of the graph. Total expressed sap at each pressure was absorbed in pre-weighed 1.5ml Eppendorf tubes filled with dry low-lint absorbent tissue paper (Kimtech Science, Kent, UK). Tubes were handled and opened for the minimum possible time during sap collection to prevent evaporation. P-V curves were plotted as accumulated expressed sap on the x axis, against -1/applied pressure (MPa) (y axis). Osmotic potential at full turgor ( $\pi_0$ ) was determined by extrapolation of the linear portion of the graph to zero expressed sap (Tyree and Hammel 1972). Water potential at the turgor loss point ( $\pi_{tip}$ ) was calculated as the Y axis value at the intersection point of the linear and exponential models (i.e. Y = when  $\Delta$  x-axis lin. & exp. = 0) (Jane and Green 1983).

#### 6.2.5 Chlorophyll Fluorescence

Chlorophyll fluorescence has been shown to be a viable quantitative indicator of drought stress and survival (Woo et al. 2008, Jedmowski et al. 2015, Kalaji et al. 2017). Measurements were performed

on leaf material from both the whole tree drought and foliar dehydration. Following dark adaptation (30 minutes) measurements were performed using a Pocket Plant Efficiency Analyser (PEA) device (Hansatech instruments ltd., Norfolk). Dark adaptation was still necessary despite the laboratory being kept in near-complete darkness as light was necessary when working in the laboratory. Chlorophyll fluorescence was induced by a one second flash of light (650nm, 1500µmol/m<sup>2</sup>/s) provided by an array of three light-emitting diodes over a 4mm diameter of leaf surface. The ratio of variable ( $F_V=F_M-F_0$ ) to maximal fluorescence ( $F_M$ ) was calculated.  $F_0$  at  $T_{\widehat{0}}$  was used during this study (Banks 2017).

Time for the chlorophyll fluorescence parameter Fv/Fm to decline by 50% was calculated per tree, using a linear regression and results per tree were subsequently analysed (Drought n = 5  $R^2$  = 0.85 ± 0.21, Dehydrated n = 10 average  $R^2$  = 0.79 ± 0.11).

#### 6.2.6 Relative water content

Because of the size of the trial it was not possible to measure relative water content for each leaf. Time was therefore used as a substitute for relative water content (RWC). In order to confirm this was an appropriate assumption in a subset of this trial (n = 15) RWC was plotted against time and a strong correlation was observed, this was in agreement with data displayed by Rastogi et al. (2002) and Faraloni et al. (2011). This data confirms time can be used as a proxy in this experiment, it is important to note however that RWC should not be predicted usig this data.



Figure 6.1 Relative water content (RWC) (%) plotted against time (days) for four selected species. n = 15. Error bars show standard error. Linear regression expressed for all four species was  $y = -8.0701x + 86.733 R^2 = 0.808$ .

#### 6.2.7 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GenStat 17. Time series data was analysed using a residual maximum likelihood (REML) model. Following this, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed on transformed data (time for 50% reduction in Fv/Fm) to assess for differences between *Acer* genotypes

for each measurement season individually. Post-hoc analysis was performed using a Tukey's multiple comparison test at the 95% level.

Spearman's rank correlation coefficient ( $\rho$  [rho] or  $r_s$ ) was calculated to determine the similarity in ranking between each categorical variable on a per tree basis. The strength of rank correlations was interpreted using the following thresholds:

Table 6.1 Spearman's rank correlation coefficient interpretations (Weir 2018).

rs	Interpretation
.0019	Very weak
.2039	Weak
.4059	Moderate
.6079	Strong
80 – 1.0	Very strong

#### 6.3 Results

Significant differences (p = <0.05) were observed within whole tree drought,  $\pi_{ttp}$ , and dehydration for all seasons between the *Acer* cultivars evaluated. Table 6.2 identifies the time taken for *Acer* genotypes to decline by 50%, with  $\pi_{ttp}$  included for comparison. It was not possible to achieve consistent environmental conditions between seasons, resulting in dehydration occurring more rapidly in summer owing to a higher VPD (ca. +4°C in comparison to autumn and spring), this difference prevents direct comparison of raw values. However, ranking genotypes, relative to the rank-position within the other seasons facilitates comparison between seasons. In order to provide this, a Spearman's rank correlation coefficient (r<sub>s</sub>) was performed (Table 6.3) on the data displayed in Table 6.2. This allows the relative rank of each season to be compared. Results identify a progression in conformity towards the drought tolerance ranking; a negative weak (r<sub>s</sub> -0.21), strong (0.62) to moderate (0.52) rank correlation to the rank observed in the summer whole tree drought.

	In vitro							Whole Tree		
Sp. Cultivar	Sp Dehyd (ho	ring Summer Autumn Iration Dehydration urs) (hours) (hours)		π <sub>tip</sub> (MPa)		Drought (hours)				
pseudoplatanus 'Spaethii'	146.7	а	94.0	а	71.6	ab	-1.45	ab	269.7	а
campestre 'Louisa Red Shine'	85.8	а	96.9	а	49.5	а	-1.33	ab	259.3	а
campestre	177.4	ab	106.0	ab	56.9	ab	-1.28	а	260.4	а
pseudoplatanus 'Negenia'	301.4	bc	112.4	b	84.5	ab	-1.44	ab	265.8	а
platanoides 'Drummondii'	94.3	а	121.4	bc	64.9	ab	-1.49	ab	449.7	с
platanoides 'Royal Red'	113.1	а	127.9	cd	103.0	b	-1.39	ab	382.7	bc
platanoides 'Emerald Queen'	134.4	а	130.7	cd	96.7	ab	-1.55	ab	342.9	abc
platanoides 'Princeton Gold'	346.7	С	140.5	d	219.9	С	-1.67	b	286.7	ab
P =		< 0.001	<	<0.001		< 0.001		0.031		< 0.001

Table 6.2 Sumary of means including, time (hours) for 50% reduction in Fv/Fm and mean  $\pi_{tlp}$  (MPa) for the Acer cultivars tested. Letters denote significant differences between cultivars at the 95% confidence interval.

Note that comparison between measurment methods should not be attempted using raw data, rather, comparing relative cultivar positions facilitates assessment between seasons and methods.

Table 6.3 Spearman's rank correlation coefficient matrix comparing the time for 50% Reduction in Fv/Fm between dehydration seasons,  $\pi_{tip}$  and a controlled drought event. All trials conducted during the 2016 season with the exception of the autumn dehydration conducted in 2015.

		1	2	3	4	5
Leaf dehydration (spring)	1	1				
Leaf dehydration(summer)	2	0.17	1			
Leaf dehydration (autumn)	3	0.45	0.81	1		
π <sub>tip</sub>	4	-0.19	-0.64	-0.74	1	
Whole tree drought	5	-0.21	0.62	0.52	-0.60	1

A more negative  $\pi_{tlp}$  infers greater drought tolerance, therefore the corresponding r<sub>s</sub> values are negative. In this study the  $\pi_{tlp}$  conforms strongly to the rankings achieved for summer and autumn foliar dehydration (-0.64 and -0.74 r<sub>s</sub> respectively) and summer drought (-0.6 r<sub>s</sub>) (Table 6.3).

This data suggest that spring foliage dehydration cannot be used to evaluate summer drought tolerance in the Acer genus. However, very strong similarity does exist between summer and autumn ( $r_s$  0.81) suggesting that tolerance is maintained from summer into autumn.

#### 6.4 Discussion

Spring drought tolerance is lower in both annual plants (Farooq et al. 2012) and deciduous trees (Sjöman et al. 2015, 2018) when compared to summer tolerance. Sjöman et al. (2015) identifies, however, that *Acer* species which are most drought tolerant in spring are not necessarily the most tolerant in summer. It is therefore important to clarify if tolerance ranks are maintained throughout the season. This will determine the applicable seasonal range for this type of categorical data.

Data presented here adds further evidence that foliar dehydration and  $\pi_{tlp}$  can identity whole-plant drought tolerance (Jane and Green 1983, Percival and Sheriffs 2002, Baltzer et al. 2008, Faraloni et al. 2011, Bartlett, Scoffoni, Ardy, et al. 2012, Sjöman et al. 2015, 2018). However, the timing of dehydration studies is highly important. Spring dehydration tolerance is not concurrent with summer  $\pi_{tip}$ , drought or summer dehydration tolerance (Table 6.3). Tolerance ranks approach parity with whole-tree summer drought tolerance and  $\pi_{tlp}$  after the spring season. A very strong correspondence exists between autumn and summer dehydration ranks, suggesting tolerance levels are maintained into the autumn. The autumn dehydration experiment however, occurred during the previous year, and therefore this data suggests that consistency of rank is present in successive years. The timing of drought events in perennial plants is clearly an important factor determining species tolerance or survival. Sjöman et al. (2015) rank tolerance based on summer estimates of  $\pi_{tlp}$  while also reporting spring values. Water deficit is most severe in summer (Lansac et al. 1994) therefore species with a greater summer tolerance are likely more desirable. However, a combined high spring and summer tolerance is also desirable if a risk of spring drought is present. Drought stress is more likely to occur in all seasons in urban areas where limited rooting volumes and increased root injury are likely (Clark and Kjelgren 1990, Savi et al. 2015). Data presented by Sjöman et al. (2015) identifies Acer *monspessulanum* as the most summer drought tolerant ( $\pi_{tlp}$  ca. -4.2MPa) species in comparison to the twenty seven other Acer genotypes evaluated. However, Acer rubrum 'Northwood' would be significantly more tolerant in a spring drought event,  $\pi_{tlp}$  ca. -2.6MPa vs -1.7MPa for A. monspessulanum while also maintaining a relatively low summer  $\pi_{tlp}$  of ca. -3.5MPa (Sjöman et al. 2015). In urban areas therefore, A. rubrum 'Northwood' may be recommended over the more summer drought tolerant A. monspessulanum. In this study, A. platanoides 'Princeton Gold' was consistently the most dehydration tolerant (Table 6.2). However, in the whole tree drought study the variegated A. platanoides 'Drummondii' was significantly more drought tolerant (Table 6.2). Soluble carbohydrates in white non-photosynthetic tissue have been shown to not respond to drought to the

same degree as green tissue (Pattanagul and Madore 1999). Additionally white foliage has a lower stomatal conductance (Aphalo and Sánchez 1986) and higher reflectance (Smith 1986) than its green counterpart, irrespective of drought treatments. This putatively suggests that the variegation in this genotype facilitates an avoidance mechanism which was not identified in detached leaves or when using  $\pi_{tlp}$ . Variegation may have reduced total photoinhibition because of the lack of photosynthetic activity and reduced water loss because of the lower stomatal aperture and higher reflectance in the white portions of these leaves. Ecological evidence supports this assumption; Smith (1986) identifies an advantage of increased variegation in clearings with higher drought risks but additionally high availability of photosynthetically active radiation.

The progression in conformity to the summer drought rank observed here suggests that drought tolerance is required to develop, in order to provide an accurate summer ranking. However, some evidence from well-watered experiments suggests tolerance acclimation may be genetically "programmed" (Bahari et al. 1985, Kozlowski and Pallardy 2002) and not necessarily as a result of the plant's water deficit history. It is clear from this data, however, that there is a seasonal or developmental element for tolerance acclimation. Later season evaluations may provide more opportunity for drought exposure or tolerance development; however, an undesirable, slight reduction in conformity to a summer drought rank would be expected to be observed later in the season. Seasonal tolerance patterns within evergreen plants is an area requiring further study.

# 6.5 Conclusion

This study adds to evidence suggesting that foliar dehydration tolerance can act as a proxy for whole tree drought tolerance, evaluated in this study using deciduous genotypes from the genus *Acer*. We suggest species which exhibit both high spring and summer drought tolerances are more suitable for planting in urban areas than species which only exhibit summer tolerance. Caution is however recommended as other factors are associated with drought tolerance and tree selection more generally. However, the increase in measurements detailing drought tolerance selection metrics is essential in order to progress from the current paradigm of tree selection.

#### 6.6 Acknowledgements

The author thanks Kerry Renshaw for helpful advice and discussions on the manuscript. Additional thanks are due to Barcham Trees and Bartlett Tree Experts for supporting this research.

### 6.7 References

- Aphalo PJ, Sánchez R a (1986) Stomatal Responses to Light and Drought Stress in Variegated Leaves of Hedera helix. Plant Physiol 81:768–73.
- Aranda I, Gil-Pelegrín E, Gascó A, Guevara M a., Cano JF, De Miguel M, Ramírez-Valiente J a., Peguero-Pina JJ, Perdiguero P, Soto A, Cervera MT, Collada C (2012) Drought Response in Forest Trees: From the Species to the Gene Aroca R (ed). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Arndt SK, Clifford SC, Wanek W, Jones HG, Popp M (2001) Physiological and morphological adaptations of the fruit tree Ziziphus rotundifolia in response to progresif drought stress. Tree physiol 21:705–715.
- Backes K, Leuschner C (2000) Leaf water relations of competitive *Fagus sylvatica* and *Quercus petraea* trees during 4 years differing in soil drought. Can J For Res 30:335–346.
- Bahari ZA, Pallardy SG, Parker WC (1985) Photosynthesis, Water Relations, and Drought Adaptation in Six Woody Species of Oak-Hickory Forests in. For Sci 31:557–569.
- Baltzer JL, Davies SJ, Bunyavejchewin S, Noor NSM (2008) The role of desiccation tolerance in determining tree species distributions along the Malay-Thai Peninsula. Funct Ecol 22:221–231.
- Bandurska H, Płachta M, Woszczyk M (2009) Seasonal patterns of free proline and carbohydrate levels in cherry laurel (Prunus laurocerasus) and ivy (Hederea helix) leaves and resistance to freezing and water deficit. Dendrobiology 62:3–9.
- Banks JM (2017) Continuous excitation chlorophyll fluorescence parameters: a review for practitioners. Tree Physiol 37:1128–1136.
- Bartlett MK, Scoffoni C, Ardy R, Zhang Y, Sun S, Cao K, Sack L (2012) Rapid determination of comparative drought tolerance traits: using an osmometer to predict turgor loss point. Methods Ecol Evol 3:880–888.
- Bartlett MK, Scoffoni C, Sack L (2012) The determinants of leaf turgor loss point and prediction of drought tolerance of species and biomes: A global meta-analysis. Ecol Lett 15:393–405.
- Bartlett MK, Zhang Y, Kreidler N, Sun S, Ardy R, Cao K, Sack L (2014) Global analysis of plasticity in turgor loss point, a key drought tolerance trait. Ecol Lett 17:1580–1590.
- Bigler C (2016) Trade-Offs between growth rate, tree size and lifespan of mountain pine (Pinus Montana) in the swiss national park. PLoS One 11:1–18.
- Bohnert HJ (1995) Adaptations to Environmental Stresses. Plant Cell Online 7:1099–1111.
- Bohnert HJ, Jensen RG (1996) Strategies for engineering water-stress tolerance in plants. Trends Biotechnol 14:89–97.
- Brunner I, Herzog C, Dawes MA, Arend M, Sperisen C (2015) How tree roots respond to drought. Front Plant Sci 6
- Burg MB, Ferraris JD (2008) Intracellular organic osmolytes: Function and regulation. J Biol Chem 283:7309–7313.
- Catala R, Ouyang J, Abreu IA, Hu Y, Seo H, Zhang X, Chua N-H (2007) The Arabidopsis E3 SUMO Ligase SIZ1 Regulates Plant Growth and Drought Responses. Plant Cell Online 19:2952–2966.
- Clark J, Kjelgren R (1990) Water as a Limiting Factor in the Development of Urban Trees. J Arboric 16:203–208.

- Clifford S (1998) The role of solute accumulation, osmotic adjustment and changes in cell wall elasticity in drought tolerance in Ziziphus mauritiana (Lamk.). J Exp Bot 49:967–977.
- Cregg B, Dix ME (2001) Tree moisure stress and insect damage in urban areas in relation to heat island effects. J Arboric 27:8–17.
- Faraloni C, Cutino I, Petruccelli R, Leva AR, Lazzeri S, Torzillo G (2011) Chlorophyll fluorescence technique as a rapid tool for in vitro screening of olive cultivars (Olea europaea L.) tolerant to drought stress. Environ Exp Bot 73:49–56.
- Farooq M, Hussain M, Wahid A, Siddique KHM (2012) Drought stress in plants: An overview. In: Plant Responses to Drought Stress: From Morphological to Molecular Features. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 1–33.
- Holland V, Koller S, Brüggemann W (2014) Insight into the photosynthetic apparatus in evergreen and deciduous European oaks during autumn senescence using OJIP fluorescence transient analysis. Plant Biol 16:801–808.
- IPCC (2007) Climate change 2007 : impacts, adaptation and vulnerability : Working Group II contribution to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Work Gr II Contrib to Intergov Panel Clim Chang Fourth Assess Rep 1:976.
- Jane GT, Green TGA (1983) Utilisation of pressure-volume techniques and non-linear least squares analysis to investigate site induced stresses in evergreen trees. Oecologia 57:380–390.
- Jedmowski C, Ashoub A, Momtaz O, Brüggemann W (2015) Impact of Drought, Heat, and Their Combination on Chlorophyll Fluorescence and Yield of Wild Barley (Hordeum spontaneum). J Bot 2015
- Kalaji HM, Rac<sup>\*</sup>ková L, Paganová V, Swoczyna T, Rusinowski S, Sitko K (2017) Can chlorophyll-a fluorescence parameters be used as bio-indicators to distinguish between drought and salinity stress in Tilia cordata Mill? Environ Exp Bot:1–9.
- Kirkham MB (2014) Principles of Soil and Plant Water Relations, Second Edi. Elsevier.
- Kopinga J (1991) The Effects of Restricted Volumes of Soil on the Growth and Development of Street Trees. J Arboric 17:57–63.
- Kozlowski ATT, Pallardy SG (2002) Acclimation and Adaptive Responses of Woody Plants to Environmental Stresses. Bot Rev 68:270–334.
- Lansac AR, Zaballos JP, Martin A (1994) Seasonal water potential changes and proline accumulation in mediterranean shrubland species. Vegetatio 113:141–154.
- Lenz TI, Wright IJ, Westoby M (2006) Interrelations among pressure-volume curve traits across species and water availability gradients. Physiol Plant 127:423–433.
- Maréchaux I, Bartlett MK, Sack L, Baraloto C, Engel J, Joetzjer E, Chave J (2015) Drought tolerance as predicted by leaf water potential at turgor loss point varies strongly across species within an Amazonian forest. Funct Ecol 29:1268–1277.
- McDowell NG (2011) Mechanisms Linking Drought, Hydraulics, Carbon Metabolism, and Vegetation Mortality. Plant Physiol 155:1051–1059.
- De Micco V, Aronne G (2012) Morpho-anatomical traits for plant adaptation to drought. In: Plant Responses to Drought Stress: From Morphological to Molecular Features.pp 37–61.
- Murakeözy ÉP, Nagy Z, Duhazé C, Bouchereau A, Tuba Z (2003) Seasonal changes in the levels of

compatible osmolytes in three halophytic species of inland saline vegetation in Hungary. J Plant Physiol 160:395–401.

- Ogaya R, Peñuelas J (2006) Contrasting foliar responses to drought in Quercus ilex and Phillyrea latifolia. Biol Plant 50:373–382.
- Ougham HJ, Morris P, Thomas H (2005) The Colors of Autumn Leaves as Symptoms of Cellular Recycling and Defenses Against Environmental Stresses. Curr Top Dev Biol 66:135–160.
- Pallardy SG (2007) Transpiration and Plant Water Balance. In: Physiology of Woody Plants, Third Edit.pp 325–366.
- Parker WC, Pallardy SG (1988) Pressure–volume analysis of leaves of *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. with the sap expression and free transpiration methods. Can J For Res 18:1211–1213.
- Pattanagul W, Madore MA (1999) Water Deficit Effects on Raffinose Family Oligosaccharide Metabolism in Coleus. Plant Physiol 121:987–993.
- Percival GC, Sheriffs CN (2002) Identification of drought-tolerant woody perennials using chlorophyll fluorescence. J Arboric 28:215–223.
- Pflug EE, Buchmann N, Siegwolf RTW, Schaub M, Rigling A, Arend M (2018) Resilient Leaf Physiological Response of European Beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) to Summer Drought and Drought Release. Front Plant Sci 9
- Postma J, Jaramillo R (2008) Towards modeling the function of Root Traits for Enhancing water acquisition by crops Ahuja LR, Reddy VR, Saseendran SA, Yu Q (eds). American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, Soil Science Society of America.
- Powell TL, Wheeler JK, de Oliveira AAR, da Costa ACL, Saleska SR, Meir P, Moorcroft PR (2017) Differences in xylem and leaf hydraulic traits explain differences in drought tolerance among mature Amazon rainforest trees. Glob Chang Biol 23:4280–4293.
- Rastogi NK, Raghavarao KSMS, Niranjan K, Knorr D (2002) Recent developments in osmotic dehydration: Methods to enhance mass transfer. Trends Food Sci Technol 13:48–59.
- Regier N, Streb S, Zeeman SC, Frey B (2010) Seasonal changes in starch and sugar content of poplar (Populus deltoides × nigra cv. Dorskamp) and the impact of stem girdling on carbohydrate allocation to roots. Tree Physiol 30:979–987.
- Roman LA, Battles JJ, McBride JR (2014) Determinants of establishment survival for residential trees in Sacramento County, CA. Landsc Urban Plan 129:22–31.
- Ryan MG (2011) Tree responses to drought. Tree Physiol 31:237–239.
- Savi T, Bertuzzi S, Branca S, Tretiach M, Nardini A (2015) Drought-induced xylem cavitation and hydraulic deterioration: Risk factors for urban trees under climate change? New Phytol 205:1106–1116.
- Shamshiri R, Che Man H, Zakaria AJ, Beveren P V., Wan Ismail WI, Ahmad D (2017) Membership function model for defining optimality of vapor pressure deficit in closed-field cultivation of tomato. Acta Hortic 1152:281–290.
- Sjöman H, Hirons AD, Bassuk NL (2015) Urban forest resilience through tree selection-Variation in drought tolerance in Acer. Urban For Urban Green 14:858–865.
- Sjöman H, Hirons AD, Bassuk NL (2018) Magnolias as urban trees a preliminary evaluation of drought tolerance in seven magnolia species. Arboric J:1–10.

- Smith AP (1986) Ecology of a leaf color polymorphism in a tropical forest species: habitat segregation and herbivory. Oecologia 69:283–287.
- Takahashi S, Murata N (2008) How do environmental stresses accelerate photoinhibition? Trends Plant Sci 13:178–182.
- Tyree MT, Cheung YNS, MacGregor ME, Talbot AJB (1978) The characteristics of seasonal and ontogenetic changes in the tissue water relations of *Acer, Populus, Tsuga*, and *Picea*. Can J Bot 56:635–647.
- Tyree MT, Hammel HT (1972) The Measurement of the Turgor Pressure and the Water Relations of Plants by the Pressure-bomb Technique. J Exp Bot 23:267–282.
- Vaz Monteiro M, Doick KJ, Lawrence V, Albertini A, Handley P (2017) Investigation into the drought tolerance of broadleaf street trees using chlorophyll fluorescence. Acta Hortic 1189
- Verslues PE, Agarwal M, Katiyar-Agarwal S, Zhu J, Zhu JK (2006) Methods and concepts in quantifying resistance to drought, salt and freezing, abiotic stresses that affect plant water status. Plant J 45:523–539.
- Volder A, Watson T, Viswanathan B (2009) Potential use of pervious concrete for maintaining existing mature trees during and after urban development. Urban For Urban Green 8:249–256.
- Weir I (2018) Spearman's correlation. Statstutor:1–7. http://www.statstutor.ac.uk/resources/uploaded/spearmans.pdf (5 January 2018, date last accessed ).
- Woo NS, Badger MR, Pogson BJ (2008) A rapid, non-invasive procedure for quantitative assessment of drought survival using chlorophyll fluorescence. Plant Methods 4:1–14.

# 7 Extraction and Quantification of Compounds with Potential to Characterise Drought Tolerance

Jonathan Michael Banks<sup>1, 2, 3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The University of Reading, School of Agriculture Policy and Development, Reading, Berkshire, RG6 6AR UK; <sup>2</sup> Bartlett Tree Experts, Research Laboratory (UK) Reading, Berkshire, RG2 9AF, UK; <sup>3</sup> Corresponding author:

Subject specific supervisor: Dr John Mckendrick

Abstract: Extraction and quantification of  $\beta$ -carotene was attempted in order to test the impact of a range of foliar compounds relevant to drought stress tolerance within foliage of highly pigmented Acer (Maple) species and cultivars. B-carotene was selected as a target initially, in order to develop a reliable analytical protocol which had potential to be expanded to include a range of other compounds of interest. Compatible osmolytes are of significant interest, and as such are introduced in this paper. However, the identification of such analytes requires a good working knowledge of the HPLC technique. During this study, the time taken for the development of an appropriate extraction and chromatography protocol was significant, preventing further investigation. Further development of the protocols and high-performance liquid chromatography methods used in this study is required in order to provide viable quantifiable data for  $\beta$ -carotene. For the identification of β-carotene spectrophotometric methods are putatively more suitable for the analysis of chlorophylls and carotenoids in foliar tissue, however, spectrophotometers and HPLC techniques alone currently lack the potential to conduct simultaneous identification of compounds such as proline, and glycine betaine.

The influence of a plant's molecular physiology on drought stress adaptation and tolerance is significant. Some compounds show potential to elucidate, monitor and categorise genotypic drought tolerance (Cicevan et al. 2016). The potential for genotypic characterisation based upon a range of relevant molecules may provide valuable information to those involved in plant selection. However, first, characterisation of compounds and development of an extraction and measurement technique is necessary to facilitate compound evaluation at a scale that is practical for plant evaluations.

Compounds of interest include glycine betaine (GB) and proline. These are two amino acids known to act as osmolytes, which accumulate in response to environmental stresses such as drought, salinity,

extreme temperatures, UV radiation and heavy metals (Ashraf and Foolad 2007, Szabados and Savouré 2010). Osmolytes are thought to act also as 'compatible solutes' replacing water in biochemical reactions (Bohnert and Jensen 1996), but also involved in protection from the effects of reactive oxygen species (Farooq et al. 2012). Glycine betaine is most abundant in chloroplasts where it is involved in thylakoid membrane protection and adjustment (Tian et al. 2017). Glycine betaine is known to accumulate in response to stress in a range of plant species however, a small number of other species (rice, mustard, Arabidopsis and tobacco) do not produce GB (Ashraf and Foolad 2007). Cruz et al. (2013) identified that foliar applications of GB significantly increases the antioxidant enzymes ascorbate peroxidase and catalase, thus reducing oxidative stress. Proline is involved in stabilising sub-cellular structures, scavenging free radicles and buffering cell redox potential under stress conditions (Ashraf and Foolad 2007, Szabados and Savouré 2010, Rejeb et al. 2014). Proline levels also increase dramatically in response to drought stress and have been identified as a reliable marker for stress (Cicevan et al. 2016). Genetically engineered overproduction has been shown to increase tolerance to osmotic stress in transgenic plants, proline production has also been further enhanced through applications of nitrogen fertiliser (Kishor et al. 1995). Proline and GB are therefore of significant interest for monitoring drought stress and may have potential as markers for evaluating genotypic drought tolerance (Bayoumi et al. 2008). It is possible to measure proline and GB individually using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) equipment (Rutledge and Rudy 1987, Airs and Archer 2010).

Anthocyanins and carotenoids are also known to be involved in drought tolerance; both essential for photosynthesis and photoprotection (Zhao et al. 2014). Anthocyanins are commonly discussed as solar screens because of their UV absorbing properties (Alexieva et al. 2001). Anthocyanins have also been shown to decrease leaf osmotic potential, resulting in increased water uptake and reduced transpiration losses (Chalker-Scott 2002). The carotenoid β-carotene is of interest in drought studies because of its photoprotective and antioxidant properties but also because it is associated with zeaxanthin production, a precursor of abscisic acid (luchi et al. 2001, Du et al. 2010, Wright et al. 2011, Bauer et al. 2013). A rise in ABA triggers stomatal closure and in-turn reduces transpiration rates (luchi et al. 2001). B-carotene hydroxylase has been shown to induce over-production of zeaxanthin, which improves the drought tolerance of tobacco plants (Zhao et al. 2014). Stomatal closure has been identified as a cavitation avoidance strategy in *Quercus petraea* (Cochard et al. 1996) and *Zea mays* (Cochard 2002); therefore, ABA induced stomatal closure may further reduce long term drought stress.

These compounds are known to influence a plants ability to tolerate drought stress (Bayoumi et al. 2008). However, no study to our knowledge has quantified or evaluated these compounds in *Acer* 

trees or assessed if these compounds can be used to determine genotypic drought tolerance in trees. It is for this reason that the extraction and quantification of these compounds was investigated.

#### 7.1 Method

This study initially targeted the extraction and quantification of  $\beta$ -carotene using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) in order to act as a future "launch pad" for the analysis of differing compounds using similar methods.  $\beta$ -carotene was selected because of its stability (Craft and Soares 1992) and the availability and low cost of high quality standards. The HPLC method was investigated as it has potential to provide simultaneous measurement of a wide range of compounds from a single extraction and analytical process. A simultaneous measurement method is desirable as it required less solvent, minimizes waste, is less labour intensive and inexpensive in comparison to individual extraction and analysis methods (Kalsoom et al. 2016). This study was used to gain familiarity with the HPLC technique, in addition to extracting 31 compounds simultaneously, including: chlorophylls *a*,*b*,*c*,*d*, as well as  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  carotene (Hegazi et al. 1998).

#### 7.1.1 Plant Material

Five-year-old trees growing in 45 litre Light Pots<sup>™</sup> (white, mypex woven grow bags) were used for this experiment. All trees were grafted to their respective species-type rootstocks. The tree species evaluated were from the following seven genotypes (ten trees per genotype): *A. campestre*, *A. campestre* 'Louisa Red Shine', *A. platanoides* 'Emerald Queen', *A. platanoides* 'Princeton Gold', *A. platanoides* 'Royal Red', *A. pseudoplatanus* 'Negenia', and *A. pseudoplatanus* 'Spaethii'. The potting substrate consisted of a 50:50 green waste and pine bark compost mix, with a pH of 7.7. The trees were arranged in a single row, bordered by two rows of nursery trees of an equal size on either side of the experimental row to eliminate possible edge effects. Experimental trees were arranged in 5 repeat blocks, each containing a drought and well-watered treatment, specimens were randomly placed representing all aforementioned *Acer* genotypes. A watering regime was designed to impose a contrasting drought stress environment (irrigated or non-irrigated) and was alternated between randomised blocks. All irrigated trees were drip irrigated with *ca*. 5 litres of water per day. Irrigation was removed from half of the trees on the 18<sup>th</sup> of July 2014. Following visual symptoms of drought (foliar necrosis, abscission and wilting) two representative leaves per tree were collected on the 7<sup>th</sup> August 2014 from both droughted and irrigated trees.

#### 7.1.2 Chlorophyll Fluorescence

In order to monitor the progression of drought, chlorophyll florescence measurements were made on three leaves per tree, on the 18<sup>th</sup>, 24<sup>th</sup>, 30<sup>th</sup>, of July, 7<sup>th</sup>, 13<sup>th</sup>, 20<sup>th</sup>, of August and 4<sup>th</sup> September 2014.

Following dark adaptation (30 minutes), the florescence response was induced by a one second flash of light (650nm, 1500 $\mu$ mol/m<sup>2</sup>/s) provided by an array of three light-emitting diodes over a 4mm diameter of leaf surface. The ratio of variable (F<sub>V</sub>=F<sub>M</sub>-F<sub>0</sub>) to maximal (F<sub>M</sub>) fluorescence was calculated as Fv/Fm (F<sub>0</sub> at time base-zero was used). The multi-parametric parameter known as performance index (PI<sub>ABS</sub>) was also calculated.

$$PI_{ABS} = \frac{F_V \times (F_V - F_J + F_0)}{3.3 \times (F_K - F_0) \times F_M \times F_0}$$

Equation 7.1 Calculation of performance index ( $PI_{ABS}$ )  $F_J$  = fluorescence intensity at 2ms,  $F_K$ = fluorescence intensity at 300 $\mu$ s,  $F_O$ = fluorescence intensity at time base 0, calculated using least squared regression (Banks 2017).

#### 7.1.3 Extraction

For pigment extraction a method was adapted from Ahamad et al. (2007). Leaf samples were ground in a pestle and mortar using liquid nitrogen before being suspended in 30mL acetone with 0.1% butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT), as an antioxidant. Anhydrous sodium sulphate (20 g) was added to these extracts for five minutes before the solid material was removed by filtration into vials. The solvent was removed from these vials using a sample concentrator (Techne, Staffordshire, UK) until complete solvent removal was evident. Vials were weighed and acetone (100% HPLC grade) plus BHT was added to bring the final concentration to 0.1g/ml (+/-0.005g). 1 ml of supernatant was aliquoted into HPLC vials via a 0.20µl syringe filter (Minisart<sup>®</sup>) for immediate analysis.

#### 7.1.4 HPLC method

Two HPLC methods were evaluated using a HP Agilent 1100 series HPLC system. The isocratic mobile phase described by Ahamad et al. (2007) of acetonitrile, dichloromethane and methanol in the ratio of 70:20:10, respectively was evaluated. The method of Hegazi et al. (1998) was also evaluated using a gradient method. Ammonium acetate was removed from the method described by Hegazi et al. (1998) owing to its risk of precipitation in an analytical HPLC system as opposed to the semi-preparative HPLC system it was originally developed for. The gradient was therefore adapted to an initial 90:10 for ten minutes, rising to 70:30 methanol acetone respectively after 35 minutes with a stop time at 43 minutes.

The flow rate was set to 0.7 ml/min. Detection wavelength was fixed at 452 nm. A Brownlee analytical  $5\mu$ m 150x4.6 mm C18 HPLC column was used for both methods. Three 5  $\mu$ l injections were performed per sample with one blank (acetone) injection every ca. 5 samples.

#### 7.1.5 Quantification

Quantification was attempted via inclusion of  $\beta$ -carotene (Sigma—Aldrich, Germany, purity  $\geq$ 97.0% [UV]) as a 'spike' in tandem with a sample run, and as a calibration curve using dilutions of 1:3, 1:4,

1:8, 1:10, 1:16, using a stock solution of 1mg and 5mg  $\beta$ -carotene to 1ml, 10ml and 30ml 100% Acetone.  $\beta$ -carotene precipitation was discovered in all stock solutions and in all dilutions (Figure 7.1), therefore it was necessary for quantification to be disregarded.



Figure 7.1 6-carotene mixed with acetone, showing precipitation of 6-carotene at all concentrations; concentrations increase from left to right.

# 7.1.6 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GenStat 17. Following tests for normality, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to test for differences between groups. Tukey's multiple comparison was used to identify differences between genotypes.

# 7.2 Method Development

The gradient method described by Hegazi et al. (1998) provided superior separation and resolution in comparison to the isocratic method described by Ahamad et al. (2007). The gradient method was therefore used for this experiment. Example chromatograms for both methods are shown in Figure 7.2 and Figure 7.3.



Figure 7.2 Example of typical chromatogram from the isocratic HPLC method described by Ahamad et al. (2007). Poor separation of compounds prevented identification of peaks.



Figure 7.3 Example of a typical chromatograms from the gradient method described by Hegazi et al. (1998). Superior compound separation was consistently observed using this method. The Peak at 24.9 minutes was found to be  $\beta$ - carotene, the peak at 22.8 minutes is putatively  $\alpha$ -carotene, peak at 8.7 minutes is putatively chlorophyll a. Further peak identification is not possible as retention times differ from that described by Hegazi et al. (1998).

Samples were "spiked" with BHT to assess if inclusion of this antioxidant affected the chromatogram. No change in peaks were observed when measured at 452nm. Butylated hydroxytoluene was observed to eluted at 2.9 minutes when measuring at 220nm only (Figure 7.4).



Figure 7.4 Butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) spiked samples measured 452nm (left) and 220nm (right). (note differing Y axis scales max 5500mAU left vs 0.7mAU right).

The leaf extraction protocol was adapted owing to precipitation which became evident in the samples visually (Figure 7.5). Precipitation was observed before and after filtration and resulted in blockages in the HPLC column causing pressures >10MPa (100bar). Additions of Hexane, methanol and dichloromethane at varying concentrations was evaluated, however, this did not prevent precipitation. Sample purification by evaporation or centrifugation prior to filtration was also investigated. The solvent evaporation stage was discovered to cause precipitation; therefore, this stage was removed from the sample extraction. Centrifugation reduced the size and number of peaks in comparison to non-centrifugation, therefore syringe filtration alone was deemed suitable (Figure 7.6). Sample quantification was performed by carefully measuring ground samples. This technique may however result in unwanted variability owing to the leaves having variable moisture contents throughout the course of the drought trial.



Figure 7.5 Sample precipitation observed in samples during analysis. Found to be caused by the sample concentration process.



Figure 7.6 Example chromatograms showing results of sample purification and concentration methods. Samples were: A: centrifuged, B: unprocessed, C: evaporated and rehydrated, prior to analysis.

β-carotene was confirmed using samples spiked with ≥97.0% β-carotene (Sigma—Aldrich, Germany) (Figure 7.7). A retention time (rt) of *ca*.23 minutes was observed using the method of Hegazi et al. (1998).



Figure 7.7 Example chromatograms showing: A: β-carotene spiked sample, B: non-spiked sample, C: pure β-carotene. β-carotene was eluted from the column at ca.23 minutes.

# 7.3 Results

Because quantification was not possible analysis on the peak area was conducted.

Significant differences occurred between genotypes and between droughted and watered groups (p= <0.001). For ease of interpretation data presented is the difference between the droughted (D) individual and the mean of the species-type watered (W) trees ( $\Delta$ Area = D- $\bar{x}$ W).

The impact of watering regime (droughted vs watered) measured by chlorophyll fluorescence were not significantly different from the watered controls p = 0.11 Fv/Fm and p = 0.32 Pl<sub>ABS</sub>.



Figure 7.8 Variation in  $\Delta D$ -W relative absorbance (452nm) between cultivars. Letters indicate significant differences at the 95% confidence interval. Error bars show the least significant difference. (n = 3).

## 7.4 Discussion

Data in this study identifies significant genotypic variation in  $\beta$ -carotene response to drought stress (Figure 7.8). A varied but universal decrease in  $\beta$ -carotene concentration in response to water stress was observed by Mibei et al. (2017), Cicevan et al. (2016) and Al Hassan et al. (2015). Cicevan et al. (2016) show between -69% and -6% decrease in total carotenoids. However, no record of carotenoid increase in response to drought stress has been reported. Despite significant symptoms of drought stress chlorophyll fluorescence did not identify a significant impact of the drought treatment (p= 0.11 and 0.32, Fv/Fm & Pl<sub>ABS</sub> respectively). It was therefore not possible to ascertain if genotypic drought tolerance was proportional to the decrease in  $\beta$ -carotene in this trial.

Owing to precipitation within foliar extracts and  $\beta$ -carotene standards during the extraction protocol and technical issues with the HPLC systems used for this experiment, the time taken to further develop an acceptable broad scale analytical protocol was considered too high to warrant further investigation. The HPLC method used in this study may, with some development, be suitable to identify a wide range of chlorophyll and carotenoids. However, it is suggested that spectrophotometer methods using relatively crude leaf extracts are less time consuming and more accurate for these pigments (Lichtenthaler and Buschmann 2005). A spectrophotometer method has been utilised to identify proline (Sleimi et al. 2015) following an extensive extraction procedure. However, no such method is capable of identifying glycine betaine. Kalsoom et al. (2016) evaluated simultaneous methods of studying osmoregulants in plants including proline and GB. Simultaneous extraction and quantification of osmolytes is challenging (Kalsoom et al. 2016) and might not be possible using HPLC alone. Indeed the only successful simultaneous extraction and quantification was conducted using mass spectrometer coupled high-performance ligand-exchange liquid chromatography (MS-HPLEC) (Oufir et al. 2009). Therefore, further investment in HPLC methods were deemed inappropriate.

# 7.5 Reference List

- Ahamad MN, Saleemullah M, Shah HU, Khalil I a., Saljoqi a. UR (2007) Determination of beta carotene content in fresh vegetables using high performance liquid chromatography. Sarhad J Agric 23:767–770.
- Airs RL, Archer SD (2010) Analysis of glycine betaine and choline in seawater particulates by liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization/mass spectrometry. Limnol Oceanogr Methods 8:499–506.
- Alexieva V, Sergiev I, Mapelli S, Karanov E (2001) The effect of drought and ultraviolet radiation on growth and stress markers in pea and wheat. Plant, Cell Environ 24:1337–1344.
- Ashraf M, Foolad MR (2007) Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. Environ Exp Bot 59:206–216.
- Banks JM (2017) Continuous excitation chlorophyll fluorescence parameters: a review for practitioners. Tree Physiol 37:1128–1136.
- Bauer H, Ache P, Lautner S, Fromm J, Hartung W, Al-Rasheid KAS, Sonnewald S, Sonnewald U, Kneitz S, Lachmann N, Mendel RR, Bittner F, Hetherington AM, Hedrich R (2013) The stomatal response to reduced relative humidity requires guard cell-autonomous ABA synthesis. Curr Biol 23:53–57.
- Bayoumi TY, Eid MH, Metwali EM (2008) Application of physiological and biochemical indices as a screening technique for drought tolerance in wheat genotypes. J Biotechnol 7:2341–2352.
- Bohnert HJ, Jensen RG (1996) Strategies for engineering water-stress tolerance in plants. Trends Biotechnol 14:89–97.
- Chalker-Scott L (2002) Do anthocyanins function as osmoregulators in leaf tissues? :103–127.
- Cicevan R, Al Hassan M, Sestras AF, Prohens J, Vicente O, Sestras RE, Boscaiu M (2016) Screening for drought tolerance in cultivars of the ornamental genus Tagetes (Asteraceae). PeerJ 4:e2133.
- Cochard H (2002) Xylem embolism and drought-induced stomatal closure in maize. Planta 215:466–471.
- Cochard H, Bréda N, Granier A (1996) Whole tree hydraulic conductance and water loss regulation in Quercus during drought: evidence for stomatal control of embolism? Ann For Sci 53:197–206.
- Craft NE, Soares JH (1992) Relative Solubility, Stability, and Absorptivity of Lutein and β-Carotene In Organic Solvents. J Agric Food Chem 40:431–434.
- Cruz FJR, Castro GLS, Silva Júnior DD, Festucci-Buselli R a., Pinheiro H a. (2013) Exogenous glycine betaine modulates ascorbate peroxidase and catalase activities and prevent lipid peroxidation in mild water-stressed Carapa guianensis plants. Photosynthetica 51:102–108.
- Du H, Wang N, Cui F, Li X, Xiao J, Xiong L (2010) Characterization of the β-Carotene Hydroxylase Gene DSM2 Conferring Drought and Oxidative Stress Resistance by Increasing Xanthophylls and Abscisic Acid Synthesis in Rice. Plant Physiol 154:1304–1318.
- Farooq M, Hussain M, Wahid A, Siddique KHM (2012) Drought stress in plants: An overview. In: Plant Responses to Drought Stress: From Morphological to Molecular Features. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 1–33.
- Al Hassan M, Martínez Fuertes M, Ramos Sánchez FJ, Vicente O, Boscaiu M (2015) Effects of salt and water stress on plant growth and on accumulation of osmolytes and antioxidant compounds in cherry tomato. Not Bot Horti Agrobot Cluj-Napoca 43

- Hegazi MM, Pérez-Ruzafa A, Almela L (1998) Separation and identification of chlorophylls and carotenoids from *Caulerpa prolifera, Jania rubens* and *Padina pavonica* by reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography. J Chromatogr A 829:153–159.
- Iuchi S, Kobayashi M, Taji T, Naramoto M, Seki M, Kato T, Tabata S, Kakubari Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (2001) Regulation of drought tolerance by gene manipulation of 9-cisepoxycarotenoid dioxygenase, a key enzyme in abscisic acid biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. Plant J 27:325–333.
- Kalsoom U, Bennett IJ, Boyce MC (2016) A Review of Extraction and Analysis: Methods for Studying Osmoregulants in Plants. J Chromatogr Sep Tech 7:1–11.
- Kishor PBK, Hong ZL, Miao GH, Hu CAA, Verma DPS (1995) Overexpression of Delta-Pyrroline-5-Carboxylate Synthetase Increases Proline Production and Confers Osmotolerance in Transgenic Plants. Plant Physiol 108:1387–1394.
- Lichtenthaler HK, Buschmann C (2005) Chlorophylls and Carotenoids: Measurement And Characterization by UV-VIS Spectroscopy. Handb Food Anal Chem 2–2:171–178.
- Mibei EK, Ambuko J, Giovannoni JJ, Onyango AN, Owino WO (2017) Carotenoid profiling of the leaves of selected African eggplant accessions subjected to drought stress. Food Sci Nutr 5:113–122.
- Oufir M, Schulz N, Sha Vallikhan PS, Wilhelm E, Burg K, Hausman JF, Hoffmann L, Guignard C (2009) Simultaneous measurement of proline and related compounds in oak leaves by highperformance ligand-exchange chromatography and electrospray ionization mass spectrometry for environmental stress studies. J Chromatogr A 1216:1094–1099.
- Rejeb KB, Abdelly C, Savoure A (2014) How reactive oxygen species and proline face stress together. Plant Physiol Biochem 80:278–284.
- Rutledge JOEC, Rudy J (1987) HPLC Qualitative Amino Acid Analysis in the Clinical Laboratories. :614–618.
- Sleimi N, Guerfali S, Bankaji I (2015) Biochemical indicators of salt stress in Plantago maritima: Implications for environmental stress assessment. Ecol Indic 48:570–577.
- Szabados L, Savouré A (2010) Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. Trends Plant Sci 15:89–97.
- Tian F, Wang W, Liang C, Wang X, Wang G, Wang W (2017) Overaccumulation of glycine betaine makes the function of the thylakoid membrane better in wheat under salt stress.pdf. Crop J 5:73–82.
- Wright AH, Delong JM, Gunawardena AHLAN, Prange RK (2011) The interrelationship between the lower oxygen limit, chlorophyll fluorescence and the xanthophyll cycle in plants. Photosynth Res 107:223–235.
- Zhao Q, Wang G, Ji J, Jin C, Wu W, Zhao J (2014) Over-expression of Arabidopsis thaliana β-carotene hydroxylase (chyB) gene enhances drought tolerance in transgenic tobacco. J Plant Biochem Biotechnol 23:190–198.
- Ahamad MN, Saleemullah M, Shah HU, Khalil I a., Saljoqi a. UR (2007) Determination of beta carotene content in fresh vegetables using high performance liquid chromatography. Sarhad J Agric 23:767–770.
- Airs RL, Archer SD (2010) Analysis of glycine betaine and choline in seawater particulates by liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization/mass spectrometry. Limnol Oceanogr Methods 8:499–506.
- Alexieva V, Sergiev I, Mapelli S, Karanov E (2001) The effect of drought and ultraviolet radiation on

growth and stress markers in pea and wheat. Plant, Cell Environ 24:1337–1344.

- Ashraf M, Foolad MR (2007) Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. Environ Exp Bot 59:206–216.
- Banks JM (2017) Continuous excitation chlorophyll fluorescence parameters: a review for practitioners. Tree Physiol 37:1128–1136.
- Bauer H, Ache P, Lautner S, Fromm J, Hartung W, Al-Rasheid KAS, Sonnewald S, Sonnewald U, Kneitz S, Lachmann N, Mendel RR, Bittner F, Hetherington AM, Hedrich R (2013) The stomatal response to reduced relative humidity requires guard cell-autonomous ABA synthesis. Curr Biol 23:53–57.
- Bayoumi TY, Eid MH, Metwali EM (2008) Application of physiological and biochemical indices as a screening technique for drought tolerance in wheat genotypes. J Biotechnol 7:2341–2352.
- Bohnert HJ, Jensen RG (1996) Strategies for engineering water-stress tolerance in plants. Trends Biotechnol 14:89–97.
- Chalker-Scott L (2002) Do anthocyanins function as osmoregulators in leaf tissues? :103–127.
- Cicevan R, Al Hassan M, Sestras AF, Prohens J, Vicente O, Sestras RE, Boscaiu M (2016) Screening for drought tolerance in cultivars of the ornamental genus Tagetes (Asteraceae). PeerJ 4:e2133.
- Cochard H (2002) Xylem embolism and drought-induced stomatal closure in maize. Planta 215:466–471.
- Cochard H, Bréda N, Granier A (1996) Whole tree hydraulic conductance and water loss regulation in Quercus during drought: evidence for stomatal control of embolism? Ann For Sci 53:197–206.
- Craft NE, Soares JH (1992) Relative Solubility, Stability, and Absorptivity of Lutein and β-Carotene In Organic Solvents. J Agric Food Chem 40:431–434.
- Cruz FJR, Castro GLS, Silva Júnior DD, Festucci-Buselli R a., Pinheiro H a. (2013) Exogenous glycine betaine modulates ascorbate peroxidase and catalase activities and prevent lipid peroxidation in mild water-stressed Carapa guianensis plants. Photosynthetica 51:102–108.
- Du H, Wang N, Cui F, Li X, Xiao J, Xiong L (2010) Characterization of the β-Carotene Hydroxylase Gene DSM2 Conferring Drought and Oxidative Stress Resistance by Increasing Xanthophylls and Abscisic Acid Synthesis in Rice. Plant Physiol 154:1304–1318.
- Farooq M, Hussain M, Wahid A, Siddique KHM (2012) Drought stress in plants: An overview. In: Plant Responses to Drought Stress: From Morphological to Molecular Features. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 1–33.
- Al Hassan M, Martínez Fuertes M, Ramos Sánchez FJ, Vicente O, Boscaiu M (2015) Effects of salt and water stress on plant growth and on accumulation of osmolytes and antioxidant compounds in cherry tomato. Not Bot Horti Agrobot Cluj-Napoca 43
- Hegazi MM, Pérez-Ruzafa A, Almela L (1998) Separation and identification of chlorophylls and carotenoids from *Caulerpa prolifera, Jania rubens* and *Padina pavonica* by reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography. J Chromatogr A 829:153–159.
- Iuchi S, Kobayashi M, Taji T, Naramoto M, Seki M, Kato T, Tabata S, Kakubari Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (2001) Regulation of drought tolerance by gene manipulation of 9-cisepoxycarotenoid dioxygenase, a key enzyme in abscisic acid biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. Plant J 27:325–333.

Kalsoom U, Bennett IJ, Boyce MC (2016) A Review of Extraction and Analysis: Methods for Studying

Osmoregulants in Plants. J Chromatogr Sep Tech 7:1–11.

- Kishor PBK, Hong ZL, Miao GH, Hu CAA, Verma DPS (1995) Overexpression of Delta-Pyrroline-5-Carboxylate Synthetase Increases Proline Production and Confers Osmotolerance in Transgenic Plants. Plant Physiol 108:1387–1394.
- Lichtenthaler HK, Buschmann C (2005) Chlorophylls and Carotenoids: Measurement And Characterization by UV-VIS Spectroscopy. Handb Food Anal Chem 2–2:171–178.
- Mibei EK, Ambuko J, Giovannoni JJ, Onyango AN, Owino WO (2017) Carotenoid profiling of the leaves of selected African eggplant accessions subjected to drought stress. Food Sci Nutr 5:113–122.
- Oufir M, Schulz N, Sha Vallikhan PS, Wilhelm E, Burg K, Hausman JF, Hoffmann L, Guignard C (2009) Simultaneous measurement of proline and related compounds in oak leaves by highperformance ligand-exchange chromatography and electrospray ionization mass spectrometry for environmental stress studies. J Chromatogr A 1216:1094–1099.
- Rejeb KB, Abdelly C, Savoure A (2014) How reactive oxygen species and proline face stress together. Plant Physiol Biochem 80:278–284.
- Rutledge JOEC, Rudy J (1987) HPLC Qualitative Amino Acid Analysis in the Clinical Laboratories. :614–618.
- Sleimi N, Guerfali S, Bankaji I (2015) Biochemical indicators of salt stress in Plantago maritima: Implications for environmental stress assessment. Ecol Indic 48:570–577.
- Szabados L, Savouré A (2010) Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. Trends Plant Sci 15:89–97.
- Tian F, Wang W, Liang C, Wang X, Wang G, Wang W (2017) Overaccumulation of glycine betaine makes the function of the thylakoid membrane better in wheat under salt stress.pdf. Crop J 5:73–82.
- Wright AH, Delong JM, Gunawardena AHLAN, Prange RK (2011) The interrelationship between the lower oxygen limit, chlorophyll fluorescence and the xanthophyll cycle in plants. Photosynth Res 107:223–235.
- Zhao Q, Wang G, Ji J, Jin C, Wu W, Zhao J (2014) Over-expression of Arabidopsis thaliana β-carotene hydroxylase (chyB) gene enhances drought tolerance in transgenic tobacco. J Plant Biochem Biotechnol 23:190–198.

# 8 Technical Challenges

Several technical challenges were encountered during this project. For many of these challenges it was possible to adjust or adapt in response and still maintain the integrity of the data (see optical and measurement gain discrepancies, p50). Additional challenges have, however, prevented the extraction of viable data, as previously discussed for HPLC Quantification (p112). Another challenge was encountered during 2014. A drought trial set up in a very similar way to that described in Plant material (p48) and using the same *Acer* genotypes was unsuccessful in imposing a significant, drought-induced difference from control values, as measured by the chlorophyll fluorescence (CF) parameters Fv/Fm (P= 0.114) and Pl<sup>ABS</sup> (P = 0.317) (Figure 8.1). Significantly different visible impacts between droughted and control trees were, however, observed (p=<.001). At the cessation of the study it was discovered that the visual indexing data did not provide sufficient statistical power to characterise differences between genotypes, as not enough datapoints were available.



Figure 8.1 Example time series graphs, Fv/Fm and Pl<sup>ABS</sup>, from 2014 whole tree drought showing stochastic response to the imposed drought (day zero) in droughted (D) vs control (W) trees.

Water uptake from the ground (pea-gravel) and rain intercepted by the growbag was thought to be preventing consistent water stress; this may have contributed to the lack of significant differences between CF readings. All trees were therefore returned to the irrigated system and left to recover for two full growing seasons. Following this period of recovery, no significant difference between the previous drought and control treatment groups was recorded when measuring: Fv/Fm (p=0.661), Pl<sup>ABS</sup> (p=0.42) and visual index (p=0.562). Further drought treatments were therefore imposed starting on 27<sup>th</sup> July 2016. Trees were raised from the ground and rain covers were installed over all root balls (Figure 8.2) to ensure that it was only the irrigation drippers which were providing irrigation to the trees. Additional measurements were collected during the 2016 drought including: stomatal conductance, soil moisture, visual index (increased sample size), precipitation and temperature data. Additional CF measurement protocols (such as: 1-Vi, Vj, V0(Bo), Vt,  $\Delta Vt$ ,  $\Delta W_{OJ}$  and  $\Delta W_{OK}$ ) were also conducted to facilitate an evaluation of novel parameters.



Figure 8.2 Left: schematic diagram of plastic rain cover (black shaded area), bricks (brown squares) raising the pot off the ground and irrigation arrangement (blue lines) installed on all trees for 2016 drought. Right: photograph of the rain cover in situ.

## 8.1 Foliar Water Potential

Measurements of foliar water potential were also attempted during the 2016 drought in order to determine drought impacts at the genotypic level. No suitable device was available within Reading University. Consequently, Bartlett Tree Experts purchased a Sky Instruments PMS device (Sky Instruments Ltd., Llandrindod Wells, Wales). However, difficulties achieving a sufficient seal between the petioles and the device were encountered during the 2016 season. Therefore, a Plant Moisture Stress (PMS Instrument Co., Albany, Oregon) device was borrowed and later purchased. This was

unfortunately after the 2016 drought trial had been completed. The device was later utilised in the study investigating differences between pressure chamber-derived and psychrometric-derived measurements of water potential at the turgor loss point.

# 9 Conclusion

Studies undertaken in this thesis defined chlorophyll fluorescence (CF) parameters and evaluated CF parameter selection for monitoring, evaluating and quantifying drought and dehydration stress in the genotypes, *Acer campestre, A. platanoides* and *A. pseudoplatanus*. CF was then combined with other physiological measurements in order to evaluate these genotypes in vivo and in vitro under differing imposed drought and dehydration events. Additionally, methods of calculating the water potential at the turgor loss point ( $\pi_{tip}$ ) from leaf material were also assessed, including evaluations of the sensitivity of these methods. Finally, the implications of seasonality on relative drought tolerance rankings was evaluated.

Two in vitro methods proved viable for determining genotypic drought tolerance. One method utilised a technique measuring CF to determine the rate of decline after foliage was detached and allowed to desiccate over time. The P-V method used foliar water potential at the turgor loss or wilting point ( $\pi_{tip}$ ). This was determined by applications of incremental mechanical pressure on a leaf, or predicted from osmotic potential at full turgor ( $\pi_0$ ) by using a regression approach based on a previously published meta-analysis. A potential advantage of the CF method is that it is rapid and inclusive of foliar architecture. Data presented in this thesis, however, identified a high similarity between CF and the pressure-volume (P-V) method in terms of tolerance rankings ( $R_s = -0.64$ ). Seasonality, however, proved to be a significant factor; whole tree drought tolerance rankings showed a strong similarity to rates of detached foliar dehydration when assessed during the summer ( $R_s = 0.62$ ). However, such strong correlations were not observed when compared with in vitro measurements conducted in autumn ( $R_s = 0.52$ ) and a weak correlation was observed in spring ( $R_s = -0.21$ ).

A comparison of multiple in vitro methods reveals that significant drought tolerance differences exist between cultivars of the same species. It is therefore strongly recommended that tree selectors understand the implications of cultivar selection. More information on drought tolerance has the potential to influence genotypic diversity, especially within urban areas. In the current tree selection paradigm, tree selectors use past planting experiences to determine the environmental tolerance of genotypes (D. Lofthouse 2014, personal communication, 28<sup>th</sup> May). Reliable information on genotypic drought tolerance can be combined with tree selectors' experience, presenting them with a range of similarly tolerant genotypes from which to choose, facilitating greater potential genetic diversity, as tolerance similarities between known and unknown plants can be rapidly assessed. Increased diversity can also facilitate reductions in pest and disease risk, commonly associated with monocultures (Kendal et al. 2014). A recent publication from the industry group Trees and Design Action Group (TDAG)

(Hirons and Sjöman 2018) has attempted to meet the above aims using scientifically grounded selection criteria to broaden the range of species used in urban plantings, thereby facilitating more appropriate urban tree selection. This information may well prove to be an excellent resource for the industry as a whole; however, the full impact of this document remains to be seen.

In field trials *A. platanoides* 'Drummondii' provided an additional complexity when compared between studies. This genotype was determined to be the most drought-tolerant (Figure 4.5). However, in vitro trials consistently highlighted *A. platanoides* 'Emerald Queen' and *A. platanoides* 'Princeton Gold' as the most drought tolerant genotypes (Table 6.2). It was observed that *A. platanoides* 'Drummondii' had a lower initial CF reading relative to the other genotypes evaluated. Although still considered within the range associated with unimpaired functioning of the leaf photosynthetic system, this may have resulted in a slower rate of observed decline in comparison to the other cultivars. This was, however, corrected for by using the method of "time taken to decline by 50%". Superior tolerance was also observed when using both raw visual index data (Table 6.2) and "time for 50% reduction" in visual index data (Figure 4.5). White foliage is known to have a lower stomatal conductance (Aphalo and Sánchez 1986) and higher reflectance (Smith 1986) than its green counterpart, irrespective of drought treatments. The variegation in *A. platanoides* 'Drummondii' may therefore have facilitated an avoidance mechanism which was not identified in detached leaf dehydration or pressure chamber derived  $\pi_{ttp}$ . Further work, including additional in vivo experimentation is required to elucidate this discrepancy.

Quantified genotypic drought tolerance systems, such as those investigated within this thesis, can be used to match genotypes to sites with particular stress characteristics or requirements. For example, on sites with limited soil volume or free draining soil, tolerant genotypes can be planted; more sensitive genotypes can be used on sites with larger soil volumes or increased watering regimes. Rahman et al. (2015) highlight that knowledge of species-specific stress tolerance will allow planners to appropriately select species to maximise ecosystem services. It should however be stressed that a highly drought resistant tree is not a panacea for all the challenges of the urban environment. Selecting stress tolerant trees does not facilitate savings on soil and site preparation or aftercare. A planting strategy pairing genotypes of high tolerance with reduced aftercare is not advised. Practicable quantities of trees, planted and maintained appropriately, is the only viable method of achieving resilient trees which can bring wide-ranging benefits to the urban landscape.

#### 9.1 Further works

Urban trees are subjected to a multitude of stressors, while drought tolerance has been thought to infer some degree of cross-resistance (Bussotti 2008), also known as polytolerance. Polytolerance is

however rare, it is therefore worth considering drought tolerance within the context of other stressors. Future evaluations are therefore encouraged, categorising other stressors especially for promising genotypes tested in other tolerance studies. Stressors common within the urban environment such as: salt, pollution, waterlogging, high and low light and temperature are also worthy targets for further tolerance categorisation.

It is recommended that future studies include additional measurements to monitor and measure drought stress and water deficit. Increased frequency of measurement is also strongly recommended. Plant water potential and stomatal conductance measurements are known to provide a reliable and sensitive metric of water deficit (Mccutchan and Shackel 1992, Martínez-vilalta and Garcia-forner 2017). These measurements are expected to provide more reliable drought response data than that obtained from CF. It would also be valuable to include and compare pulse amplitude modulated (PAM) florescence measurements with the continuous excitation technique used throughout this thesis. The parameter V0(Bo) has some potential to compare favourably to parameters from the PAM technique. Improving soil moisture measurements, including probe burial and inclusion of soil water potential measurements in parallel to leaf or stem water potential is also highly valuable data for future drought studies.

During the investigations in this thesis, inconsistencies within the scientific literature have been highlighted. These are examined for CF parameters but are also present with plant-water relation parameters. Results also emphasise that it is vital to detail the time of year when plant-based studies are conducted. Clear and consistent calculation of parameters is essential for the fields of CF and plant water relations to progress efficiently (Nahlik et al. 2012).

# 9.2 Reference List

- Aphalo PJ, Sánchez R a (1986) Stomatal Responses to Light and Drought Stress in Variegated Leaves of Hedera helix. Plant Physiol 81:768–73.
- Bussotti F (2008) Functional leaf traits, plant communities and acclimation processes in relation to oxidative stress in trees: A critical overview. Glob Chang Biol 14:2727–2739.
- Hirons AD, Sjöman H (2018) Tree Species Selection for Green Infrastructure: A Guide for Specifiers. Trees Des Action Gr:1–374. https://www.myerscough.ac.uk/media/4052/hirons-and-sjoman-2018-tdag-tree-species-selection-1-1.pdf (20 December 2018, date last accessed ).
- Kendal D, Dobbs C, Lohr VI (2014) Global patterns of diversity in the urban forest: Is there evidence to support the 10/20/30 rule? Urban For Urban Green 13:411–417.
- Martínez-vilalta J, Garcia-forner N (2017) Water potential regulation , stomatal behaviour and hydraulic transport under drought : deconstructing the iso / anisohydric concept. :962–976.
- Mccutchan H, Shackel KA (1992) Stem-water Potential as a Sensitive Indicator of Water Stress in Prune Trees (Prunus domestica L . Am Soc Hortic Sci 117:607–611.
- Nahlik AM, Kentula ME, Fennessy MS, Landers DH (2012) Where is the consensus? A proposed foundation for moving ecosystem service concepts into practice. Ecol Econ 77:27–35.
- Rahman MA, Armson D, Ennos AR (2015) A comparison of the growth and cooling effectiveness of five commonly planted urban tree species. Urban Ecosyst 18:371–389.
- Smith AP (1986) Ecology of a leaf color polymorphism in a tropical forest species: habitat segregation and herbivory. Oecologia 69:283–287.